The	Inndon	School	of Fron	omics and	Political	Science
IIIC	LUHUUH	SCHOOL	OI LLUI	ivillics allu	PUILLICA	Julence

Politics As A Craft: The Equal Advancement and Consideration of Interests

Joseph Angolano

A thesis submitted to the Department of Government of the London School of Economics for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy, London, April 2012

### **Declaration**

I certify that the thesis I have presented for examination for the MPhil/PhD degree of the London School of Economics and Political Science is solely my own work other than where I have clearly indicated that it is the work of others (in which case the extent of any work carried out jointly by me and any other person is clearly identified in it).

The copyright of this thesis rests with the author. Quotation from it is permitted, provided that full acknowledgement is made. This thesis may not be reproduced without my prior written consent.

I warrant that this authorisation does not, to the best of my belief, infringe the rights of any third party.

I declare that my thesis consists of **74744** words.

[See Regulations for Research Degrees, paragraphs 25.5 or 27.3 on calculating the word count of your thesis]

# **Acknowledgements**

This work took most of my adult life to complete. There were several starts and stops in working on this thesis, and I had to request a couple of extensions on completing this dissertation.

So in some sense, the fact that this work stands completed and that I was awarded a PhD for it is a testament to the patience and understanding that I received over the past seven years.

I would like to thank my parents who gave me unconditional support throughout all this time. I was the first in my family to graduate from university and it was a special moment of pride for them to see their son receive his doctorate.

I also would like to thank Michele for her unconditional love. She was my personal Rock of Gibraltar through the past three years and I certainly would not have finished this dissertation without her support. Moreover, her mother Vicky did a wonderful job proofreading this dissertation, not only in terms of quality but finishing it in record time too!

Special thanks must go to my supervisor Keith Dowding who provided a great deal of helpful advice on it. Paul Mitchell assisted in the final stages of this dissertation, and Christian List gave useful insights in the initial steps of laying the groundwork for this project. I would also like to thank my examiners Paul Kelly and Jon Parkinson for their incisive comments and analysis of this work. Without their input, this work would be far more imperfect than it is.

Finally, I have to thank some of my professors from my undergraduate days at the University of Toronto for inspiring my initial love of political theory. In no particular order, Gad Horowitz, Alkis Kontos, Edward Andrew, Melissa Williams, Joe Fletcher and David R. Cameron taught me that that the questions that political theory wish to answer may never yield conclusive answers, but the pursuit of these answers is ultimately the only one that matters in order to understand what the just and good political life is. I also have to thank David, who as Head of the Department of Political Science at the University of Toronto, allowed me to be a Visiting Scholar thus giving me the time and space to finish this work.

### **Abstract**

This thesis aims to provide a frame work by which citizens in a democracy can become empowered and take ownership of their democratic institutions and the public sphere in which they discuss solving the problems that they face as a society. In short, this work will argue that politics is a craft, and that political actions are skills. If citizens learn to better practice this skill, then democracy will be better off. It will become better off since more citizens will feel more empowered to participate in the political process if they have their political skills well developed. As will be argued in the second chapter of this thesis, disempowerment can come about even in the face of an equal distribution of formal power and the absence of what Iris Marion Young has called internal exclusions, when citizens have a general feeling of inadequacy while participating. Another term for this psychological malaise that some participants feel is political mortification. Instituting politics as a craft entails creating school curriculums and adult education programs that have students develop their political skills, and that this can help create empowered citizens that want to engage in the political process.

Contents	
INTRODUCTION	7
CHAPTER 1: LIBERAL DEMOCRACY: WHAT IS IT?	17
Defining Liberal Democracy	19
The Essence of Democracy: Equal Consideration of Interests	29
CHAPTER 2: THE QUALITY OF POLITICAL PARTICIPATION	46
Political participation: A Necessity In Decline	48
Improving the Quality of Political Participation	53
Defining disempowerment	53
Tackling political mortification through development of political skill	64
CHAPTER 3: DELIBERATIVE DEMOCRACY: A SOLUTION TO DISEMPOWERMENT?	72
Deliberative Democracy Defined	75
What principles guide deliberation?	76
Deliberative forums as mini-publics	79
The act of deliberating	82
Deliberation as Skill Building	85
Can deliberative institutions fail to empower citizens or disempower?	94
CHAPTER 4: POLITICS AS A CRAFT: IMPROVING THE QUALITY OF POLITICAL PARTICIPATION	103
Defining Political Participation As A CraftThe Skill of Political Participation	106
Political Craft	108
John Stuart Mill, John Dewey, and democratic education	110
Developing Skills Through Political Participation	121
Defining Political Participation	
A Taxonomy of Political Participation	124
Situating the Aims-Based Approach within the Literature on Political Participation	128
Supportive Forms of Political Participation	133
Expressive and Policy Forms of Political Participation	136
The Three Forms of Political Participation As Crafts	142
Conclusion	
CHAPTER 5: EMPOWERED CITIZENS IN THE PUBLIC SPHERE	
Measuring Successful Experiential Learning: An Engaged Public Sphere	156

The Conceptual Issue of Political Equality	163
The Difference of Skill in a Democratic World with Politics As a Craft	. 163
Attaching a Commitment to Justice	166
Political Experiential Learning: Some Success Stories	170
CHAPTER 6: POLITICS AS A CRAFT IN THE WORLD: FROM HIGH SCHOOLS TO ADULT EDUCATION	182
Politics As A Craft and Democratic Values	185
The Current State of Affairs of Teaching Citizenship	188
Courses in Deliberative Democracy and Political Participation	192
Adult Education: The Federal Forum Project	209
Service Learning	222
Conclusion	229
CONCLUSION	231
Bibliography	237

#### INTRODUCTION

The noted Canadian political theorist C. B. Macpherson began the inaugural Massey Lecture with these words; "there is a good deal of muddle about democracy. I mean not that democracy itself consists of muddling through (though this could be argued), but that our thinking about democracy is muddled" (Macpherson 1965, 1). When Macpherson had uttered those words, liberal democracy was facing a serious institutional challenge from Soviet-style communism – a challenge that it eventually overcame. Indeed, in the 1930s, democracy was in very serious trouble. The major democracies in the world at the time were under tremendous strain thanks to the Great Depression. In those days, it seemed that no matter where one looked, one could find pamphleteers, protestors, and even revolutionaries calling for drastic institutional change in those democracies. There was an abundance of anarchists, communists, and fascists around – especially in the early part of the twentieth century, working to convince others that democracy was not working (Marshall 1992; Netlau 1996; Laqueur 1997; Lewy 1997; Moritz 2001).

Now things have changed. It seems that everyone wants to, at the very least, give the impression that they are democratic, and just about everyone agrees that democracy is the most preferred form of government, save for the rare examples out there such as some Middle East states, Al-Qaeda and various Neo-Nazi groups. China at times will pay lip service to democracy, and talk about increasing accountability, which is a vital part of democracy. Generally after a state becomes democratic, the citizens of that state recognize democracy as superior. After the demise of the Iron Curtain at the end of the Cold War, liberal democracy stands alone as the only viable form of government, at least normatively. After 1989, there was a proliferation of democracies, known as the "Third Wave" of democracy, and now the majority of the countries of the world

could be considered democratic in some way or another. According to Freedom House's *Freedom in the World 2006*, the amount of electoral democracies has almost doubled since the fall of the Berlin Wall, from 69 in 1989 to 122 in 2006 (Puddington 2006, 5). As of 2006, 147 of 192 countries around the world were deemed to be at least "Partly Free" or better by Freedom House (Puddington 2006, 3).

The march of democratization has caused for democracy to enter into the pantheon of sacred terms in politics. As stated earlier, politicians around the world want their systems of government to be considered democratic, and to take things one step further, even the various industries have been looking at democratizing their workplace by giving workers and unions more of a say, even experimenting with deliberative democratic practices allowing internal stakeholders to make decisions.

Any cursory glance at the history of democracy will reveal an evolution in terms of democratic institutions and practices. However, one principle that has remained constant in liberal democracies is that the citizens of a democracy must have some sort of decision-making power. Traditionally, this has meant giving the vote to all citizens in free, fair, and periodic elections. If democracy is only meant to mean that, then we are left with what the literature has called aggregative democracy, where the individual preferences of voters are then aggregated to determine which candidate or option the electorate prefers. Democracy does not have much meaning beyond the selection of candidates, proponents of this model argue. William Riker argued that the results of aggregative democracy, or the "liberal interpretation of voting" to use his terms, could not be interpreted as an expression of a popular will, but only yields the expression that Candidate A defeated all others in the election (Riker 1982). Before him,

Schumpeter (1947) defined democracy as merely a system in which rulers are selected by competitive elections, and Popper perhaps gives the less spirited defense of aggregative democracy, saying that it alone can allow citizens to get rid of bloodshed (1962, 142, see also Przeworski 1999).

However, democracy is generally meant to mean a lot more than periodic elections, so much so that most theorists that work in democratic theory argue that democracy ought to mean a lot more than this. All the theorists cited above except for Przeworski are not contemporary theorists, and we have seen different models of democracy that have built and dramatically expanded on the aggregative model, such as the participatory democratic model espoused by C.B. Macpherson, Carole Pateman, and Benjamin Barber, to the deliberative democrats such as Jurgen Habermas, Joshua Cohen, and John Dryzek, to name a few.

So we know that democracy can evolve in theory and institutionally. Also, while democracy is — to borrow Linz and Stepan's famous phrase — the only game in town, this does not mean to say it is perfect. We know that voter turnout is much lower on nearly all democracies in the world, even though they will go up occasionally — depending on the election, and that there is a great decline in respect and appreciation for politicians and the democratic process in general (Nevitte 1996, Hibbing and Theiss-Morse 2002). Thus if democracy is continually evolving, then it makes sense for any of those concerned about democracy to try to steer that growth in a positive way that would be beneficial to all of its citizens.

This is what this thesis is about. It aims to provide a frame work by which citizens in a democracy can become empowered and take ownership of their democratic institutions and the public sphere in which they discuss solving the problems that they face as a society. In short, this work will argue that politics is a craft, and that political actions are skills. If citizens learn to better practice this skill, then democracy will be better off. It will become better off since more citizens will feel more empowered to participate in the political process if they have their political skills well developed. As will be argued in the second chapter of this thesis, disempowerment can come about even in the face of an equal distribution of formal power and the absence of what Iris Marion Young has called internal exclusions, when citizens have a general feeling of inadequacy while participating. Another term for this psychological malaise that some participants feel is political mortification. Instituting politics as a craft entails creating school curriculums and adult education programs that have students develop their political skills, and that this can help create empowered citizens that want to engage in the political process. This is important given the nature of deliberative theory, as will be explained in the third chapter.

As Joseph Schumpeter famously argued, the citizenry in a democracy is not capable of anything beyond a stampede. That is to say, he thought that citizens did not have the knowledge or the skill to make democracy work. If we look at deliberative theory, we will find that while deliberative democrats believe that deliberative practices can empower participants and develop their skills, they would prefer to have participants sufficiently empowered before entering into deliberation in order to ensure that the reasons generated by deliberative proceedings are not polluted by any communicative distortions or presence of hegemonic discourses and/or internal exclusions created by those who have more skills than others. This thesis will support the

institutionalisation of deliberative forums, and that instituting politics as a craft will allow for the improvement in the quality of political participation in both aggregative and deliberative forms of democracy.

This thesis will take the following path. The first chapter will examine the basis of liberal democracy and look at the kinds of arguments that are used to justify it. Thomas Christiano goes through the most common ones in his book The Rule of the Many before coming up with his own. The reason why this work begins on this path is because the guiding principles of liberal democracy will spell out the normative principles that liberal democratic institutions ought to aspire to. Moreover, it also helps to answer the question whether there is anything that makes liberal democracy unique, at least in the sense that democracy can offer citizens something that no other system of government can answer. Liberal democracy is here equated with Robert Dahl's seven conditions of polyarchy; 1) Control over governmental decisions about policy is constitutionally vested in elected officials, 2) elected officials are chosen and peacefully removed in relatively frequent, fair and free elections in which coercion is quite limited, 3) practically all adults have the right to vote in these elections, 4) most adults also have the right to run for the public offices for which candidates run in these elections, 5) citizens have an effectively enforced right to freedom of expression, particularly political expression, including criticism of the officials, the conduct of the government, the prevailing political, economic, and social system, and the dominant ideology, 6) they also have access to alternative sources of information that are not monopolized by the government or any other single group, 7) citizens have an effectively enforced right to form and join autonomous associations, including political associations, such as political parties and interest groups, that attempt to influence the government by competing in elections and by other peaceful means (Dahl 1989, 233). Dahl's

definition of polyarchy is far more robust than just aggregative democracy, since it guarantees more rights to citizens than a strict aggregative democracy as described by Schumpeter and Popper.

After rejecting self-government and the epistemic capabilities of democracy as acceptable justifications for democracy, Christiano argues that what makes liberal democracy unique and justifiable is that it alone allows for interests to be advanced and considered equally in the public sphere. This means that advancing the interests of one person is as important as advancing the interests of any other person, and it is a question of justice which requires that all individuals ought to have the right to lead their lives as they see fit as constrained by the harm principle. Moreover, while individuals may be at times mistaken about their interests, it is undoubtedly true that each person is ultimately the best judges with regard to certain features of their interests.

Christiano argues that this principle requires that a democracy have both aggregative and deliberative forms of democracy. Deliberation is necessary because citizens need to come to a better understanding of their interests, and this understanding is in constant need of improvement. Deliberation provides an arena for citizens to defend and explain their interests to others and learn about the interests of others. Aggregative elements are needed to equitably resolve differences of opinion when consensus cannot be found. The second chapter moves from this point to discuss what I consider to be a key challenge to the principle of equal advancement and consideration of interest – the disempowerment of citizens. Disempowerment leads to the exclusion of large segments of the citizenry in the democratic decision-making process, and this is why disempowerment works directly against the principle of the equal advancement and consideration of interests. This thesis borrows from Helena Catt's definition of empowerment,

which states that a participant should be considered empowered if she feels she knows enough about an issue to feel comfortable asking a question, is able to interrupt and put the question and feels comfortable in expressing disagreement with what is happening (Catt 1999, 50). Because of several interests not being heard due to disempowerment, the quality of political participation is negatively affected.

This chapter will argue that political mortification is a type of disempowerment that is brought about by a lack of political skill. Looking to create a more equitable distribution of political skill among the citizens will not only mitigate the effects of political mortification, but also equip citizens the skills to identify, challenge, and critique any hegemonic discourses and internal exclusions that could come about in democratic forums where formal power is more or less equally distributed.

At this point, the thesis begins to look at various proposals that can solve disempowerment by developing the skills of participants. The third chapter will look at how deliberation might empower citizens and improve the quality of political participation. As we will see, participating in deliberative forums offer opportunities for participants to develop their skills. Moreover, Christiano argues that deliberation must be institutionalized if a democracy aspires to meet the principle of the equal advancement and consideration of interests. However, by looking at some studies, deliberation's actual performance at developing political skills is mixed. This chapter will argue that deliberative forums will function better, according to its own stated goals, when participants already have their skills developed before entering deliberative proceedings. This will leave participants in deliberative forums more capable of identifying public reasons and allow each individual and group to speak freely and according to their own voices and

interpretations. Thus in order for deliberative forums to better meet their function as defined by deliberative democrats and Christiano's schema, then a program of political skill development should be incorporated, so that participants feel empowered before they enter into deliberation.

The fourth chapter focuses on providing the theoretical groundwork for such skill development. This chapter will argue that political participation requires a set of skills, and that political participation is a craft, where political skills are learned primarily experientially through trial and error. The learning of political skills entails employing different strategies and techniques in different situations, evaluating them in light of their successes or failures, and altering in light of those successes and failures. As such, this chapter will borrow heavily from the work of John Dewey, who first elaborated that skills are best learned experientially in the classroom. Firstly, this chapter will aim to establish that political participation requires a skill set, and the effective practice of these skills is necessary in both aggregative and deliberative spheres of democracy. Secondly, this chapter will look at defining active political participation. It is here defined as a genuine attempt to help advance an interest in the public sphere. It differs from passive forms of political participation, which involve mostly information gathering and reflective consideration of interests and preferences. While they are different, both types of actions are defined here as types of political participation, since these actions are a constitutive part of the principle of equal consideration of interests.

The fifth chapter will look at the impact that politics as a craft will make on democratizing the public sphere and examine some further questions that come out from implementing politics as a craft. Firstly, the question of measuring successfully the learning of political skills will be looked

at. This chapter will argue that the presence of a democratic public sphere, as Dewey understood it, with empowered citizens should serve as the goal of politics as a craft and ought to improve the quality of political participation. Part of this is seeing if more people are participating, but it also entails ensuring that the public sphere does not become polluted with things that could disempower its participants.

Moreover, Christiano in later works argues that social and political institutions require a publicity condition for justice, specifically that citizens need to see justice being done as a product of its decision-making process. Part of making that commitment to justice would be to require that all political decisions that produce inequalities be publically justified. Doing so can serve a pedagogical value for the future decision- makers. Publically justified inequalities can help identify the cause, the nature, or the locus of what causes the inequality, and this can help frame the future discussions, and it causes decision-makers to acknowledge and protect each individual's capacity for forging and creating their conception of the good. Despite this, the chapter concludes by outlining some success stories where the development of experiential skills did create more empowered participants, successfully developed skills, and in some examples gave students a strong enough sense of social justice to motivate them to participate in the political arena in the future.

The thesis concludes by looking at how politics as a craft might look in the real world by summarizing and explicating various education programs and curriculums, mostly from the United States in the early twentieth century, but also looks at contemporary examples from around the world. The first reform is a revival of the Federal Forum Project, which was an

ambitious adult education program initiated in the United States during the 1930s. It was a nation-wide program that funded discussion forums where people attended and discussed various political issues of the day under the guidance of a discussion leader. The Forum Project resembled the deliberative forums of today. However, their purpose was slightly different. While deliberation will try to reach a decision on an issue, the purpose of the forums of the 1930s were educative. The forums were there simply to have participants learn and grapple with the issues being discussed. The second reform proposed is developing courses in deliberative democracy. In these courses, students learn about democratic values, how to deliberate and communicate about various political issues, and how to behave and interact with others. These deliberative democracy courses would draw from the previous discussion and speech courses that were taught in American universities in the early part of the 20<sup>th</sup> century. This chapter will examine some of the textbooks used by these discussion courses. Thirdly, there are service learning exercises and programs, which have students at the primary school and secondary school levels help out in a volunteer organization in a co-operative education format.

This thesis hopes to make a contribution to both democratic theory and practice by outlining some ways to help empower citizens and improve the quality of political discourse in liberal democracies today. By developing their political skills in a free and open way, citizens can develop a public space that can be open and allows each individual or group to speak accordingly to their views and interpretations, without being inhibited by any internal exclusions or hegemonic discourses.

#### **CHAPTER 1: LIBERAL DEMOCRACY: WHAT IS IT?**

To pick up from the theme that was laid on the introduction, the beginning of the twenty-first century looks a lot different than the beginning of the twentieth. There are no real external challenges out there to democracy in the same way that there were in the early decades of the twentieth century. Soviet-style communism is gone, as is fascism. It seems that everyone wants to be democratic in some way. To be called "undemocratic" in political discourse is considered a serious charge. Mind you, even though there are more democracies now than ever, not every democracy looks the same. They can differ tremendously along institutional lines, and they can have very different political cultures. Some, most notably Birku Parekh (1993), have argued that democracy itself can be a culturally insensitive term.

The point here is twofold. Firstly, democracy is a very fluid term. What is considered democratic in one place of the world may not be considered democratic in another – even though democracy has a very strong normative currency today – perhaps stronger now more than ever. Secondly, the definition of democracy has evolved over time as democracies have proliferated all over the world. Let me use the often-cited example of universal suffrage. Today, any state that denies the franchise to its citizens would not be considered democratic, and yet any armchair historian of liberal democracies will know that this was not always the case. Most of today's liberal democracies – as has often been said – were liberal first before they were democratic (Katz 1997, 46; Macpherson 1965, 6). Liberal regimes originally, at least on a theoretical level, were primarily geared to protect property rights – the entrenchment of democratic rights came along much later.

Democracies have evolved over time, and as so many democratic theorists passionately argue, they should continue to evolve (Ackerman and Fishkin 2004, 9). It would be foolish to say that we have reached an endpoint in the development of democracy – either in terms of democratic culture or in terms of institutions. This begs the question: why should democracy evolve? Why can we not accept democracy just the way it is? Are not things fine the way they are? Several scholars out there say that things are not fine the way they are (see Nevitte 1996). Some will argue that democracies are not doing enough to ensure that each citizen has the adequate resources to live their lives well, and this is frustrated by the lack of a fair distribution of resources. Since so many (Miller 1976; Rawls 1993; Barry 2005) – most notably John Rawls – have made the link between a fair distribution of resources and social justice, this would mean that democracies could do more to fulfill some standard of social justice.

Another reason why not everything is fine in some democracies – which is a key concern in this thesis - is the substantial lack of empowerment among wide segments of the citizenry. The evidence of citizen disempowerment is the low quality of political participation that exists in democracies. The next chapter will make the case that disempowerment is linked to the low quality of political participation seen in liberal democracies these days. The concern of this thesis is mostly the quality of political participation. I am interested in developing a theoretical framework to improve the culture of democracy, which entails primarily improving the quality of political participation. However, in this chapter, I will define democracy a bit further by explaining some of its main principles, tenets, and elements. I will also explicate what I believe to be the most suitable justification of liberal democracy as presented by Thomas Christiano in

*The Rule of the Many*. Doing so will allow us not only to better understand liberal democracy itself, but also allow us to better understand its various normative underpinnings.

## **Defining Liberal Democracy**

These days, democracy is linked with the principles of liberalism. Scholars such as Macpherson and Lipset argued years ago that liberal democratic states were liberal first and then became democratic. Lipset's and Macpherson's arguments were rather straightforward: states such as the United Kingdom and the United States excluded several segments of the population from enjoying key democratic rights such as the right to vote (Macpherson 1962, 262; Lipset 1981). For Macpherson at least, states were either democratic or not – they could not be democratic in degrees. Macpherson thought that democracy meant a degree of economic equality, and that liberalism was inherently undemocratic and exclusionary, even though on the surface it did guarantee individual freedoms. The last lines of *Possessive Individualism* (p. 262) put it best; "The greatness of seventeenth-century liberalism was its assertion of the free rational individual as the criterion of the good society; its tragedy was that its very assertion was necessarily a denial of individualism to half the nation". States faced a choice in being democratic or being liberal, argued Macpherson, since he thought that there was a tension between the two concepts.

However, if one accepts that states can be democratic in degrees, or that some states could be more democratic than others as the Freedom House index suggests, then it is almost theoretically inconceivable that a liberal state can somehow be wholly undemocratic. John Locke, one of the earliest liberal theorists, certainly included elements of democratic rule. One of Locke's most important innovations to political theory is an argument for a social contract between consenting individuals and the sovereign that is based strictly on consent of the governed (Locke 1980, 52;

Plattner 1999, 123). The very basis of popular sovereignty for liberals has traditionally been based on majority consent, where citizens agree that their government and their ruling institutions are legitimate. This invokes the principle of majority rule, which is a key component of democracy. Locke argues that legitimate political power is derived from consent from the people. There is some debate about the extent of which Locke wished to extend the franchise. There are those that argue that Locke favoured a limited franchise (Wood 1992), while others have suggested that Locke favoured a wide extension of the vote (Tully 1980; Ashcraft 1986).

However, liberal regimes initially did not extend the vote to all citizens, but eventually did so over the course of time. The idea of liberal citizenship was linked to the capacity to effectively exercise self-government. John Stuart Mill makes the point in *Considerations of Representative Government* in favour of plural voting, where all citizens were given a vote but some citizens were given extra votes according to their level of education. This is certainly consistent with the "developmental democracy" label that Macpherson has placed on Mill's understanding of democracy. Yet this view ought to be considered a development from previous theorists such as Jeremy Bentham and James Millm, who argued in favour of extending the vote to the middle class in the First Reform Bill of 1832 (Horowitz and Horowitz 1988, 260-261). The elder Mill argued, along Hobbesean lines, that an individual put a halt to another's insatiable thirst for power by exercising the vote. "That one human being will desire to render the person and property of another subservient to his pleasures...is the foundation for government (...) The desire, therefore, of that power which is necessary to render the persons and properties of human beings subservient to our pleasures is a grand governing law of human nature" (Mill 1955, 56).

However most would agree a liberal regime cannot be an unlimited democracy where every citizen makes decisions in every aspect of political governance (Gray 1986, 74). Liberal theorists such as Locke and John Stuart Mill (Mill 1993, 261-277) argued against pure democracy since it could promote – in Mill's words – "sinister interests" which could undermine the basic system of liberal rights which include the right to property, the right to free speech, the right to liberty which entails guaranteeing a degree of individual non-interference, among other things. Traditionally, democratic rule has been caged in liberal states either by a written constitution or by a constitutional convention. Liberal theorists feared that democratic rights could be a threat to basic liberties and political freedom, while "it is equally true that the development of democracy has over time become the principal tool for the defence of the rights to liberty" (Bobbio 1990, 39). However, over time, democracy and liberalism eventually became interwoven.

Intuitively we understand the basic elements of liberal democracy. Liberal democracy is always understood to entail representative democracy. That is to say, any model<sup>1</sup> of liberal democracy usually involves citizens voting for representatives who engage in the major aspects of governing. Even participatory democrats such as Macpherson argue that elected representatives are needed, whereas Benjamin Barber (1984, 145-147) argues that elected representatives have no place within participatory democracy and sets his model of democracy apart from liberalism (Barber 1984, 261). Nonetheless, something that is common to all theoretical models of liberal democracy is that there are representatives that do some share of the governing on behalf of the citizens. Stephen Darwall (1983) argues that a liberal democracy that is grounded on the autonomy of the person will include a principle of equally accountable representation. As he

-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> I borrow the term "model" from C.B. Macpherson, *Life and Times of Liberal Democracy* and David Held, *Models of Democracy*, 2<sup>nd</sup> edition.

explains; "when decisions are made by representatives, then not only should representatives be accountable to every person, they should equally be accountable. Or, to be more precise, the represented should have an equal opportunity to hold representatives to account" (Darwall 1983, 55). Also, the division of political labour is more or less clearly demarcated between representatives and citizens, and there is a way by which citizens can hold these representatives to account.

Liberal democracies can be democratic in scale, some being more democratic than others. In the literature we encounter theorists making the case for more citizen control over governing, such as Macpherson, John Dewey, and C. Wright Mills, and others arguing for less, such as Bernard Berelson and Joseph Schumpeter. But all of these scholars in general accept that democracy should have representatives that legitimately should exercise some degree of political authority. Even noted advocates of deliberative democracy such as Jurgen Habermas advocate a "twotrack" democracy that involves elected representatives (Habermas 1996, 486-488). Simply put, liberal democracy by definition means representative democracy. But they cannot be completely democratic or undemocratic. The direct democracy advocated by Barber, Jean-Jacques Rousseau (1987), Robert Michels (1915, 33-34), and G.D.H. Cole (1913, 1920), has no place within the halls of liberalism, as has been traditionally argued by liberal theorists in the past. Conversely, the advocates of what critics have called minimalist democracy (Macpherson 1977, 77-93; Gutmann 1993; Cunningham 2002, 101-123) argue that citizens should not be allowed to participate beyond the confines of voting, and most of the political decisions should be left up to political elites (Schumpeter 1947; Berelson, Lazarsfeld and McPhee 1954). Both had their reasons. Schumpeter felt that under the current socio-economic situation, citizens were incapable of any meaningful political participation beyond a stampede (Schumpeter 1947, 283). Berelson *et al.* on the other hand felt that it was better to have some citizens not participate because they had extreme views, and democratic institutions could be destabilised if their views were expressed in the public sphere (Berelson, Lazarsfeld and McPhee 1954, 314). But nonethless they acknowledge that the election of the representatives should be left up to citizens. So liberal democracy at the very least must have some democratic elements to it, but it can never be a liberal dictatorship or a pure democracy. It cannot function without citizen participation nor can it function with universal citizen participation in every aspect of governing. Some medium must be found.

The concept of liberal democracy, much like any other guise of democracy such as Athenian democracy or direct democracy, relies on the premise of popular sovereignty. Ultimately, it is the people who are sovereign in a liberal democracy. Liberal democracy should be – to borrow from Lincoln's famous line from the Gettysburg Address – government of the people, from the people, and by the people. So the people are sovereign. But what are they sovereign over? Major political issues must be determined by the population at large. What constitutes a major political issue will differ from state to state. Some countries such as Switzerland will have a substantial amount of policy decisions decided by referendum. Many states in the United States will have referendums on issues that are proposed by petition of citizens' initiative (Cronin 1989; Smith and Tolbert 2001). Just about all liberal democracies though, grant that the citizens must choose their representatives. In a liberal democracy, no person can legitimately claim to be a representative of a community or of the "people" (however it might be defined) if they have not been elected by the people.

Also, liberal democracy does not allow for representatives to be elected for life. Periodic elections are always present in liberal democracies. The arguments for why this is the case are well known. Elections not only allow the citizens to choose their representatives, but allows citizens to evaluate the performance of their elected representatives. William Riker has called this use of the vote the "liberal interpretation of voting" (Riker 1982). Elections serve as an instrument to not only choose representatives, but also to pass judgement on their past performances. Voting at times can be just as much as keeping the rascals as it is throwing the rascals out, to borrow from an old phrase. However, there should be some important caveats that need to be placed here about the representative claims of electoral democracy. Several scholars have argued that the electoral institutions themselves for their lack of representativeness is grounded in systemic exclusion, both occurring in the past and the present (see Philips 1995; Williams 1998; Mansbridge 1999; Young 2000). However, Saward (2009) has argued because of electoral democracy's limitations, it could legitimately allow for non-elected representatives to work along side of elected representatives by offering to represent individual's partial desires or wants, be temporary representatives, or represent a continually evolving sense of self, among others. While these scholars persuasively deliniate between groups that can engage in democratic representation on the one hand and the democratic representation of electoral democracy on the other, they do acknowledge the necessity and legitimacy of electoral representative claims, that even they might need reform.

Liberal democracies generally accept that the wisdom of the many outweighs the wisdom of the few, at least over issues of social and economic justice. Liberal democracy accepts that each

person has the sufficient capabilities and understanding of justice where they alone are the best judge of what is just or unjust, or what is fair and not fair (Christiano 1996, 191). In other words, liberal democracy should not make any claims about the veracity of the claims from competing conceptions of justice, all the while accepting that there is great disagreement about the norms of justice (Gutmann 1987, 48-71; Christiano 1996, 61; Shapiro 1996, 1999). Liberal democracy does not accept paternalism in the issue of justice, and does not accept that there are experts on the issue of economic, social, and political justice. Liberal democracy should grant that each person is ultimately the best suited to understand his or her interests. Aristotle (even though he was no advocate of liberal democracy) sums it up well.

"There are some arts whose products are not judged of solely, or best, by the artists themselves, namely those arts whose products are recognised even by those who do not posses the art; for example, the knowledge of the house is not limited to the builder only; ... the master of the house will even be a better judge than the builder... and the guest will judge better of a feast than the cook" (Aristotle 1980, 1282a).

Issues of justice are not considered to be so technical that they require specialized training to have a reasonable understanding of them. As Christiano explains; "though citizens may not be the best judges of their interests in an unqualified way because they have little knowledge of how to satisfy them or the conditions under which they can be preserved, they are the best judges with regard to certain essential features of their interests" (Christiano 1996, 75). As nearly all advocates of liberalism believe that the individual generally is the best judge of what he thinks is fair or just, advocates of liberal democracy similarly believe that the citizenry is the best judge of what collectively is fair and just for the population.

Once again, liberal democracy requires popular sovereignty and also requires that the citizenry exercise that sovereignty occasionally. Thus liberal democracy must function with some degree

of citizen participation. If that is the case, it follows that each and every citizen must be given political equality. That is to say, each person's voice should have equal weight in the democratic decision-making process, and ensuring that all the necessary political rights are extended to all citizens. This means, as we have seen earlier, that each adult should be able to vote in periodic elections. Furthermore, it also means that all adults have the right to seek any political office without any restriction whatsover. The guarantee of political equality also entails the democratic justification of traditional liberal rights, such as the freedom of association, freedom of speech,<sup>2</sup> the right to petition the government, and freedom of the press. By extension of that, it also requires that citizens be given the right to seek alternative sources of information (Dahl 1982; 1989), as well as the right to seditious libel (Kalven 1966, 16; Rawls 1993, 342; Dombrowski 2001: 107). Moreover, political equality means also guaranteeing that all citizens have the right to participate in other forms of political participation that are outside the standard democratic process, such as types of political activism (Inglehart 1977; Barnes and Kaase 1979; Inglehart and Catterberg 2002; Norris 2002).

Political equality ensures that all individuals have the right to engage in political participation. The reasons why citizens require this are twofold. Firstly, as we saw earlier with James Mill's argument in *An Essay on Government*, political participation gives citizens the ability to halt potential abuses from government. They can express discontent with the performance of public officials and even throw them out of public office. The notion of using institutionalised legal recourse, such as voting in this case, as a protective measure against tyranny can be traced all the

<sup>2</sup> For a good discussion about the relationship between free speech and democracy, see Frederick Schauer, 1983,

<sup>&</sup>quot;Free Speech and the Argument for Democracy, Nomos XXV: Liberal Democracy.

way back to John Locke (1980, 101-107). It stands to reason that other forms of political participation can also serve the same function.

The other purpose of political participation, which was first elaborated by John Stuart Mill, is to allow for each individual to freely and openly develop their skills and capacities as they see fit. Macpherson (1977) offers the useful distinction of the protective democracy of Locke and James Mill and the developmental democracy of John Stuart Mill and John Dewey. John Stuart Mill explains in On Liberty that participation in the democratic process was key for individuals to develop the necessary understanding of liberal democratic institutions and processes. (Mill, On Liberty 1993, 85-86). John Dewey, who will be discussed more in depth in Chapter IV, argued that education occurred experientially, and that the best way for individuals to learn is to "learn by doing". Political participation for Dewey was key not only for the political development of the individual, but also for his or her moral development as well. For both Mill and Dewey, this development could only occur if there was a public sphere that allowed for the free expression of all ideas, preferences, and interests so that they could be discussed freely and openly. This idea of an unrestricted public sphere as a necessary requirement for liberal democracy remains a key element in the theories of several scholars, from Mill and Dewey to C. Wright Mills (1951) and including participatory democrats such as Carole Pateman (1970), Barber (1984), and Macpherson (1977), to Jurgen Habermas and deliberative democrats today such as Seyla Benahbib (1996).

Liberal democrats believe that political participation can be used as both a protective measure and a developmental measure. However, democratic participation is understood by liberal

democrats to be a method by which liberal rights – usually enshrined in a written constitution and/or constitutional convention – are protected and enshrined. Political participation, to reiterate, can never be used to supplant or undermine liberal rights. Liberal democracy is simply democracy tempered by liberalism. Some of the people cited above, most notably Barber, Mills, Macpherson, and some deliberative democrats (Tallisse 2005) would not agree that democracy should be tempered by liberalism at all, since they feel that liberalism's attachment to free market capitalism as well as a robust conception of the good, at least according to Talisse, undermines the prospect for democratic success. Liberal democrats however would not agree with that statement, arguing that liberalism and democracy go hand in hand, notwithstanding any concerns about the market.

So far I have explained the normative underpinnings of some of the key components of liberal democracy. Robert Dahl (1982, 10-11, parantheses mine) offers an often cited list of seven institutional conditions for liberal democracy<sup>3</sup>, which serves as a nice summary of this section. They are;

- 1. Control over government decisions about policy is constitutionally vested in elected officials.
- 2. Elected officials are chosen in frequently and fairly conducted elections in which coercion is comparatively uncommon.
- 3. Practically all adults have the right to vote in the election of officials.
- 4. Practically all adults have the right to run for elective offices in the government, though age limits may be higher for holding offices than for the suffrage.
- 5. Citizens have the right to express themselves without the danger of severe punishment on political matters broadly defined, including criticism of officials, the government, the regime, the socio-economic order, and the prevailing ideology.

<sup>3</sup> Dahl uses the term polyarchy for liberal democracy. Dahl argues that democracy properly defined only existed in ancient Athens, where the population was relatively small and all offices (save for the generals which were directly elected) were decided by lot. See Dahl, Introduction to Democratic Theory.

- 6. Citizens have a right to seek out alternative sources of information (to government-run and sponsored media outlets). Moreover, alternative sources of information exist and are protected by law.
- 7. To achieve their various rights, including those listed above, citizens also have a right to form relatively independent associations or organizations, including independent political parties and interest groups.

Dahl's conditions, along with the work of Seymour Lipset (1981), has led to a whole field of political study that measures democracy (see Bollen 1991; Coppedge and Reinicke 1991). The work by Freedom House that is cited earlier in this chapter is an example of this. Diamond and Morlino (2005, ix-xxxi) further add that a liberal democracy must have a competitive party system. They further elaborate that a high-quality democracy not only has the procedural and institutional elements of liberal democracy such as the rule of law, citizen participation, electoral competition, and both vertical and horiziontal accountability, but also substantial dimensions such as legal freedom and equality.

## The Essence of Democracy: Equal Consideration of Interests

Having just given the normative underpinnings of the various components of liberal democracy, I will now discuss the global justification for liberal democracy itself. What justifies liberal democracy? Why is democracy the most desirable system of government? What can democracy deliver to its citizens that no other system of government can? As stated earlier, liberal democracy has overcome its ideological competitors and is, to borrow Linz and Stepan's turn of phrase, the only game in town (Linz and Stepan 1996, 5). As I have implied in the previous section, a liberal regime will end up being democratic, and it would be very difficult to conceive of a liberal dictatorship, given liberalism's global fear of abuse of power (Dahl 1998, 60).

So what justifies liberal democracy? What is its essence? Thomas Christiano in *The Rule of the Many* offers a very good justification. Christiano argues that there are three main justifications for democracy, however only two are of concern here<sup>4</sup>. First, democracy is justified because liberty is the preeminent political value in a political society, and democracy is the only form of government that guarantees liberty to its citizens. In this view, democracy is based on the principle of self-government (Christiano 1996, 15). The basic schema of this argument is rather straightforward and draws from some of the liberal premises of John Stuart Mill and John Dewey outlined above. Freedom is a preeminent value in politics, and is key to self-development. Each person has an equal right to the conditions of self-development, so determining common activities is a necessary condition of self-development. Therefore, each person has an equal right to participate in determining the course of outcomes of the common activities of which he or she is involved (Christiano 1996, 17; Gould 1988).

There are a few variations of this argument, such as what Christiano calls the epistemic argument and the constructivist argument. They will be explained in turn. But Christiano rejects the self-government argument for two main reasons. Firstly, self-government advocates cannot give a coherent explanation for why the liberty to participate in political activities is more important than the liberty to participate in non-political activities, even though all the while individuals are being completely free while doing these non-political activities. This is an assertion which goes all the way back to Jean-Jacques Rousseau in *The Social Contract* and *Emile* (1993). But,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> The other justification is what Christiano calls instrumental, which states that democracy is not good because of some intrinsic value, but rather is the most reliable political method at producing good decisions. Other decision-making procedures such as a friendly dictatorship could theoretically produce these goods, but it is highly unlikely that they can. Some of these goods include as the greatest good for the greatest number, as advocated by Jeremy Bentham and John Stuart Mill in the *Considerations on Representative Government*, or the protection of civil liberties, as argued by William Riker in *Liberalism Against Populism*.

according to Christiano, the advocates of "democracy as self-government" have yet to produce a coherent explanation for the paramount importance of political liberty (Christiano 1996, 19). As he explains; "even if democracy represents a kind of freedom, it is not clear why democracy is essential to a free person. Why can't a person concievably get a greater liberty overall by giving up political liberty altogether? This is the trade-off problem" (Ibid.).

There is a further problem with the issue of the instrinsic primacy of political liberty. If political liberty trumps all, Christiano argues, then the task of participating in the decision-making of every minutae of policy becomes a monumental task – one that is beyond the reach of any individual that must, at least in the modern age, complete other non-political tasks in order to survive, such as work to earn wages to purchase shelter, food, and clothing. Christiano here borrows from Aristotle somewhat, who famously argued that political participation should be left in the hands of those who have sufficient leisure time. This is impossible in this modern age, where individuals spend much of their time ensuring their livelihood and where the full activities of politics require individuals who devote most of their time looking at policy detail. Christiano argues that a division of labour between elected representatives and the civil service on the one hand and the citizens on the other hand is necessary (Christiano 1996, 40).

Christiano is arguing against the intrinsic primacy of political liberty, not its instrumental value. One can argue that political liberty is important because it maximizes the ability for citizens to protect themselves against the abuses of government. Without political freedoms, one cannot stop a government from harming its citizens, and moreover, one can use political freedoms to keep other rights from being taken away. As we will see later in the argument, Christiano does

believe that political liberty is important, and later insists that all citizens in democracy must have the same political liberties. But he justifies it under the rubric of political equality, saying that democracy requires an equal distribution of political resources – he counts political rights among them – in order to function. This can be an answer to Christiano's trade-off problem, since it questions the "specialness" of political liberty. But this answer explains political liberty's instrumental value, but not its intrinsic value. For Christiano, political equality has an instrinsic value for democracy, not political liberty. This issue will be looked up later.

The second problem for Christiano is that there is a fundamental tension between liberty and democracy. A key part of liberty, according to Christiano, is that the claim that I should get my way in the world. My will is not necessarily my desires<sup>5</sup>, which can be based strictly on emotional impulses, or I can follow my will that is based on rational deliberation (J. Cohen 1986a, 286). Yet in a democracy, I have to get a majority of others to agree with me. Because of this, I am dependent on others for the fulfillment of my wishes, desires, or preferences. In this sense, democracy is incompatible with liberty (Christiano 1996, 19). To be completely free in the political sphere, I would have to be an absolute monarch, and not a citizen in a democracy.

At this point Christiano conflates freedom with right. In general, I might be free generally to drive my car wherever I want in Canada, but I certainly do not have a right to drive my car wherever I like since laws prohibit unrestrained driving. Likewise, my friend in the United States is generally free to go to Blockbuster, rent DVDs, and make copies of them for his own personal collection, since there is really nothing stopping him from doing so. However, he does not have a

.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Thomas Hobbes in *Leviathan* famously argued that the will is nothing but appetites and aversions, even though generally political theorists accept the distinction between will and desire.

right to do so, since he cannot make the claim that he had his right to copy DVDs infringed against by legal authorities who would stop that action. Saying that someone is free do to x means that there is no barrier to stop him from doing x (Steiner 1994), whereas saying that someone has the right to do x means that others have a duty to not stop him from doing x. The latter is a much stronger claim. Charles Taylor argued that Albania under Communist leader Enver Hoxha had less traffic lights than the United Kingdom, which means that you will be stopped more often in the United Kingdom than in Albania. Because of this, one was less free to drive wherever one wanted in the United Kingdom (Taylor 1991: 149-151). However, both countries might grant citizens the same right to drive their cars within the bounds of certain laws. When Christiano says that for me to be completely free in the world, I would have to be some sort of absolute monarch, he is talking about an individual with unlimited rights, not unlimited freedom. Both unlimited rights and unlimited freedom are impossible in a democracy. However, this argument is a tautology and sets up a straw man. Unlimited right is impossible in any form of government, be it a democracy, dictatorship, or otherwise. I say this because Christiano says that social cooperation limits freedom. However, social cooperation is just as necessary in a dictatorship as it is in a democracy in some cases.

Nonetheless, Christiano aims these objections straight at the advocates of a direct conception of self-government, who argue that a great deal of democracy will maximize freedom (Graham 1986). The trouble as Christiano sees it – and at this point his argument is a lot stronger - is that this does not make for an argument for the uniqueness of the intrinsic value of democracy. One can be perfectly free in several key areas (leaving aside for a moment that many of our actions are constrained by socially determined options) and not come anywhere near political activity. I

am free outside of politics to choose my wife, friends, religion, etc., without asking anyone's consent (Christiano 1996, 26). Worse still for the self-government argument, these freedoms can be permissible under a dictatorship. Advocates of "democracy as self-government" (save perhaps for Rousseau) admit that freedom has a private non-component to it (Ibid.). Since there is no argument stating that political activity is necessary for freedom, one can easily make the case that a lot of political freedom in democracy can be swapped for a lot of non-political and private freedom in a dictatorship. At this point, using self-government and liberty as a founding principle for democracy fails, because one can easily have more freedom overall in a dictatorship than in a democracy. A self-government advocate would need to argue convincingly that democratic participation and only democratic participation can maximize positive liberty or negative liberty, assuming one is superior over the other. However, as pointed out earlier, one can say that the political liberty has a lot of instrumental value because it can be used to defend the infringement of other rights. Christiano would not disagree, even though he justifies political liberty's instrumental value under the rubric of political equality, as we will see later.

According to Christiano, the epistemic view and the constructivist view aims to rectify some of the problems with the self-government account mentioned above. The epistemic view holds that democratic participation is a process which increases the probability that the correct answer would be found by the community. Joshua Cohen first defined epistemic democracy as having three aspects. "(1) an *independent standard* of correct decisions — that is, an account of justice or of the common good that is independent of current consensus and the outcome of votes; (2) a *cognitive* account of voting — that is, the view that voting expresses beliefs about what the correct policies are according to the independent standard, not personal preferences for policies;

and (3) an account of *decision making* as a process of the adjustment of beliefs, adjustments that are undertaken in part in light of the evidence about the correct answer that is provided by the beliefs of others" (J. Cohen, 1986b, 34)

The epistemic view is usually linked with the Condorcet jury theorem. The Condorcet jury theorem states the following; if there is a group of individuals charged with making a decision, a jury for example, and if each member of that jury has a slightly more that 50% chance of making a correct decision, then the decision of the jury is more likely to be right than wrong. The more jurors there are, the chances increase even further and approach one, or unity. The epistemic view further holds that individuals are committed to discovering the correct answer, and democratic procedures are committed to discovering the truth, insofar as there is a correct answer to discover (List and Goodin 2001, 6). What standard of truth is sought after is another question. Some deliberative democrats have argued that the standard of reasonableness should be used (Cohen 1986a; Estlund 2000), while some would argue that whatever the people agree on is the truth, so long as all individuals are committed to finding the truth (Feld and Grofman 1988)<sup>6</sup>.

Christiano dismisses the epistemic view on three counts, even though only one reason is valid. The first two reasons are criticisms that are usually levelled at the Condorcet jury theorem. First, it is incorrect to assume that even if there are only two possible answers, individuals have over a fifty-fifty chance at finding the correct answer to a question (Christiano 1996, 34). Secondly, unlike juries, political decisions do not come neatly packaged into two options (Christiano 1996,

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> As Jeremy Waldron points out in his critique of Grofman and Feld, Rousseau believed that small groups were more likely to reproduce a general will than larger ones, which runs contrary to the Condorcet jury theorem which holds that increasing the size of the jury will increase the probability of reaching the right decision. See David M. Estlund, Jeremy Waldron, Bernard Grofman, and Scott Feld, "Democratic Theory and the Public Interest: Rousseau and Condorcet Revisited", *American Political Science Review*, 83:4, p. 1323

34). However, List and Goodin have shown that the conclusions of the Condorcet jury theorem still hold up even if there are more than two options to choose from and that each juror has a better than random chance of finding the correct answer, even though it will not work with any number of options or any probability (List and Goodin 2001, Table 2). Hence these two criticisms by Christiano do not hold merit. Christiano's third objection is much stronger. The epistemic view he argues falls under the "democracy as self-development rubric" and still believes that political development and activity – in this case committed to discovering the truth - is more vital to freedom to participate in other activities. And, for Christiano, there is not a strong enough argument from epistemic democrats that makes the case for only liberty being able to be maximized by political activity. Christiano's criticisms about the intrinsic value of liberty remain unanswered.

The epistemic view says that the democratic decision-making procedures discover answers that adhere to an independent standard of truth, insofar as there are independent truths to discover. Advocates of epistemic democracy (Dryzek and List 2001) readily recognize that not all political questions, such moral and ethical questions, have "correct answers" to discover. The constructivist view on the other hand holds that the results of democratic procedures such as voting or deliberation are legitimate. Results are legitimate by being the results of democratic procedures (Rawls 1993, Ch. 3). The common good is not discovered like a jury trial, but rather the common good emerges out of fair democratic procedures or the rules of the game. Christiano explains this position well; "The rules of the game do not help us discover the winner of the game as if that were an independent fact; the rules of the game define who the winner is. The winner of the game logically cannot be determined by any other method" (Christiano 1996, 36).

Constructivists say that consensus is the principle in which democratic participation makes legitimate outcomes (J. Cohen 1989, 22; Young 1991, 34). Discussion and deliberation are the tools that permit free and reasoned consensus, and all participants fundamentally aim to generate consensus when they deliberate. When there is no consensus, then participants should seek recourse to majoritarian measures such as voting (Christiano 1996, 37). This resolves the incompatibility between liberty and democracy because the "fact of reasoned consensus ensures that each person adopts those terms in accordance with his or her own will" (Ibid.) and that participation is necessary to reach a consensus. However Christiano rejects the constructivist view on pluralist grounds. Disagreement, he says, is ubiquitous in a democracy. Discussion rarely brings about consensus in a democracy, and at times, it seems to bring about more disagreement (Ibid). If only agreement can confer legitimacy, then non-consensus outcomes are not going to be legitimate. Moreover, there are instances when consensus can be a sign of inequality, as will be discussed in the second chapter.

While democracy certainly entails self-government, it cannot serve as a founding principle of democracy. Moreover, the self-government account cannot give a strong account for why political activity in a democracy, and no other activity, can maximize liberty. The principle of consensus somewhat gets around this issue, but consensus does not occur often in a democracy.

Instead, Christiano argues that equality should be the founding principle of democracy. Instead of assuming that democracy is a compromise between different judgments, as Peter Singer argues (1974, Ch. 5), Christiano assumes that there are deep seated disagreement about what is to

be done – so much disagreement that we may not even agree to the procedure by which to seek compromise. Christiano instead turns to an egalitarian justification to democracy that "requires that each person's interests ought to be given equal consideration in choosing the laws and policies of a society" (Christiano 1996, 53). Because there is deep disagreement in a democratic society, we cannot assume that a consensus will be found. Instead, some interests will be chosen over others. Therefore, to ensure fairness, each interest must be advanced and considered on an equal basis (Dahl 1956, 64-67; Dahl 1976, 99-101; Jones 1983, 166).

It is critical to explain at this point how Christiano defines "interests". For Christiano, an interest is not the same as a judgement, desire, or a preference. "An interest is something that is a component of a person's overall well-being. I have interests in pleasure, friendship, knowledge, health, and so on. I am better off when my interests are satisfied and worse off when they are not" (Christiano 1996, 53-54). An interest is not a desire, Christiano says, because I can desire everlasting peace, but I will not be better off if it is fulfilled thousands of years after I am dead. Similarly, an interest is not a judgement or a preference because I can judge or prefer things that are not in my interest. It is in the university undergraduate's interest to write her essays and hand them in on time. She might prefer or judge to spend her days watching DVDs and not do her work, but doing so is not in her interest. As Christiano explains; "an interest is something that can be attributed to me whether I believe it or not" (Christiano 1996, 54). That is the case with the university undergraduate. She might not believe that doing her work is in her interest, but we can attribute it to be in her interest regardless. Christiano goes on to explain that interests must be verfiable, while judgements and preferences do not have to be. Often preferences and judgements are based in belief about a fact, principle of justice, or one's interests (Ibid.). We make judgements or base our preferences on interests – and they can be correct or incorrect, "whereas interests are not correct or incorrect; they are simply attributes of a person" (Ibid.).

Christiano argues that equal consideration of interests "means that advancing the interests of one person is as important as advancing the interests of any other person" (Christiano 1996, 54). Since each person has their life to lead, there is no reason why anyone should have a fundamentally better life to lead (Rainsborough 1986, 286). Justice requires that all individuals ought to have the right to lead their lives as they see fit as constrained by the harm principle. If social and political institutions are arranged in such a way that some individuals or groups will have their lives go better than others from the outset, then these institutions should be judged as unjust (Christiano 1996, 54).

Democracy, Christiano argues, is the only form of government that allows for the equal consideration of interests. It does so by giving "individuals equal abilities to advance their concerns where decisions concerning the terms of associations are made" (Christiano 1996, 55). Democracy ensures this by giving each person an equally weighted vote in elections and/or referendums, and requires that no one is disenfranchised whatsoever. Democracy employs majority rule, which is egalitarian since "it gives each person the same chance as every other to affect the outcome" (Ibid.). It also requires that all elected offices be available to contestation by any person who holds the franchise. This is one of Dahl's requirements for polyarchy as outlined above. Preventing individuals from having the franchise or running for public office is not only undemocratic, it also prevents individuals from living their lives as they see fit, which runs contrary to the principle of the equal consideration of interests.

If the principle of equal consideration of interests should be an important part of social and political justice, then the democratic decision-making procedures are required. His argument involves four steps, and I have already outlined the first, which is that justice "requires that individuals be treated equally with regard to their interests" (Christiano 1996, 59). The second stage of the argument is that there is a special category of interests that are interdependent. That is to say, there are interests that affect what Christiano calls the collective properties of society, where meeting these interests have an effect on a substantial segment of the population. According to Christiano, a "collective property of society" has the following four conditions. First, the property must be *nonexclusive*, where it is not possible to affect one person's life without affecting the lives of others. Second, the property must be *public*. Thirdly, it is *inevitable* that individuals share a common world. We have no choice, Christiano points out, that we share some properties about the world, air and water for instance. And fourthly, the properties of the common world are *alterable*, and that collective human action is required to alter these common properties (Christiano 1996, 60-61).

These four properties establish that there are interests that are interdependent and have an effect on the collective lives of citizens. Moreoever, citizens' interests on the collective properties of society are generally opposed. There is great difference of opinion among the citizenry of a democracy about what should be done about not only the distribution of resources, but also about issues of social and economic justice as well. Generally there are few points of common

agreement that could be found among these interests. Put more simply, there is often a genuine and irreconcilable conflict of interests where it will be impossible to find consensus<sup>7</sup>.

The third stage of the argument states that "these interests can generally be served through a collectively binding procedure" (Christiano 1996, 59). This stage of the argument naturally proceeds from the idea that an irreresolveable conflict of interests exists in society. Due to different moral, cultural, and religious traditions, individuals disagree about the norms of justice, the nature of public goods, and how they are to be distributed. To use Rawlsian terms, there are different competing conceptions of the good, and the state should not make a judgement about the validity of these conceptions of the good nor can it know how to make an adequate judgement about their validity (Rawls 1993, 190-201). Since it is extremely unlikely that consensus will arise on these issues, some form of decision-making preocedure is needed in order to decide which interest will be met or not.

But this does not take us to democracy just yet. A king can arbitrarily make these choices as well so long as he knows all the interests of the citizens. He can retain all political freedoms for himself and grant all other freedoms to his citizens. Thus we would have a dictatorship that allows for the equal consideration of interests. To get to democracy, Christiano links the equal advancement of interests with an equal distribution of political resources, such as the right to an equally weighted vote, etc. There are three facts about people's interests that make this link, and make a dictatorship impossible. Firstly, our knowledge of interests – ours and those of others – is

7

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> At this point in the argument, Christiano clearly shows himself not be a communitarian. Christiano here is clearly insisting about the political relevance of the cultural, moral, religious, and political differences between individuals. He does admit the importance of the community in the formation of individuals, but does not admit, as theorists such as Michael Sandel and Charles Taylor do, that the community can serve as a tool to bring about political consensus.

incomplete and imperfect (Christiano 1996, 64). We can be mistaken about what is in our interest, and what we believe is in our interest can evolve over time. Because of this, knowledge of preferences will also be incomplete and flawed, since our preferences are based on our interests. The impossibility of perfectly knowing the interests of citizens rules out the possibility of a dictatorship that guarantees the equal consideration of interests.

But why must the equal consideration of interests be linked with the equality of political resources? Can it be linked with equality of well-being? In the well documented debate in political theory between advocates of the equality of well-being and the equality of resources (Dworkin 1981a; 1981b; G. A. Cohen 1989), Christiano comes down on the side of the latter. He rejects the notion of equal well-being as a political principle on epistemological grounds, saying that "there is too little information about the alternatives [of well-being] and their comparisons, and there is a great deal of disagreement as to how they should be compared" (Christiano 1996, 64). Moreover, a standard of well-being cannot be known because several individuals will not have a complete understanding of most of their particular interests, and will base and alter their preferences and judgements on this incomplete understanding (Ibid.). The standard of equal wellbeing cannot be used because we can never know what the ideal is or increasing approximations of it would look like (Christiano 1996, 67). A standard of equality must be observable and publicly intelligible. This is stating an obvious fact. When individuals are complaining about being discriminated against because of an unequal balance of power, it stands to reason that the inequality deals with something that is observable. However, comparisons in terms of political well-being are unitelligible due to epistimological constraints.

Because of this, the standard of equal well-being is incompatible with the principle of equal consideration of interests. The standard of equality that should be used is that of equality of political resources, which will give each citizen the means of discovering and pursuing his or her interests (Christiano 1996, 69). This is exactly what is behind the principle of political equality which was discussed in the previous section. As Christiano explains; "political equality implies that each and every person ought to have a say in the choice of collective features of society in a common decision procedure. Thus the principle implies a version of the idea of popular sovereignty" (Christiano 1996, 70). This principle yields a rather comprehensive list of democratic rights, such as the equal right to the franchise, the right to an equally weighted vote, the right to seek out alternative sources of information other than that of the state, the right to run and seek election for public offices, as well as the right to form social and political associations independent from the state, and right to free speech.

The principle of equal consideration of interests gets us where we need to be at this point in the argument. It gives us a justification for liberal democracy that establishes its uniqueness. While other forms of government might be able to guarantee a large degree of freedom, only democracy can guarantee political equality and the equal consideration of interests. Moreover, this interest-based justification of liberal democracy ties in by and large with the definition of liberal democracy that has been outlined above. Christiano's justification gives us not only a solid normative framework for most if not all the standard democratic rights, but it also provides a link with democracy and some liberal rights, such as free speech and the freedom of association.

Unlike participatory democrats, Christiano believes that democracy requires a division of labour between elected representatives and citizens. He argues that citizens in a democracy can be expected to do three things; 1) to act on the basis of the considerations of justice; 2) to contribute to choosing the aims of the society, and 3) to make these choices with a view of society as a whole (Christiano 1996, 178). He argues that citizens should be responsible only for the choice of aims for a democratic society. The nitty-gritty of policy detail should be left up to political experts, who always follow the general principles set out by the citizenry. "They [citizens] are to choose what is fair and what is unfair, they are not the choosers of the policies that bring about fairness in economic conditions" (Christiano 1996, 171). Christiano comes up with a useful analogy to explain this further. Citizens are like passengers on a ship. They choose between competing captains that suggest different destinations and ways of getting there (Christiano 1996, 170; see also Barry 1973, 145).

Citizens can choose their aims, as well as identify and learn about interests in two ways; 1) pressure activities (voting, petitions, etc.), and 2) deliberative activities. Pressure activities are needed because there is a deep seated conflict of interests and consensus will not be possible and some mechanism is needed to break the deadlock. Deliberation is needed, says Christiano, because a perfect understanding of our interests and conceptions of justice does not exist, and our current understanding is always in need of improvement (Christiano 1996, 179). "Deliberation and discussion are essential to individuals' acquiring an understanding of their society and to determining what will advance their interests as well as the commond good and justice" (Ibid.). Equal access to the conditions that will improve this understanding is critical for political equality. And if this understanding is more developed, then voting will advance political equality

because citizens will be better informed about the aims of society. Christiano is clear: democracy requires *both* aggregative functions of democracy and deliberation. Thus democratic institutions for Christiano serves three purposes. First, the electoral system transmits the citizens' conceptions of aims to government officials, who then translate them into public policy. Second, deliberation can ensure that citizens are able to discuss the basic aims of society. This is what deliberation can do. Thirdly, institutions must ensure effective monitoring of the performance of public officials in terms of their effectiveness at implementing citizens' choice of aims (Christiano 1996, 200-201).

Christiano's justification provides a useful normative framework for understanding the various elements of liberal democracy. Christiano bases his justification on political equality, and not self-government, which immediately sets him apart from several participatory democrats. The useful aspect about Christiano's justification is that it not only yields a justification for an equal distribution of political resources but also establishes the instrumental value of political liberty. Political liberty is justified under the rubric of an equal distribution of political resources, which is needed if interests are to be advanced and considered equally. Interests must be considered equally, since their fulfillment is necessary for our well-being, and everyone should at least have the opportunity to have their well-being met. An equal distribution of political resources necessarily leads us to a democracy, and this leads Christiano to conclude that democracy alone can offer political equality to all and ensure that the principle of equal advancement and consideration of interests is met.

#### **CHAPTER 2: THE QUALITY OF POLITICAL PARTICIPATION**

The previous chapter explained what is meant when we talk about liberal democracy. Liberal democracy is based on popular sovereignty which dicates that the citizenry gets to have a say over their own affairs through open decision-making procedures. Even though traditionally liberal democracy has not included deliberative forums, it usually includes the legal protection of a public sphere where discussion and debate about issues of common interest occurs. Habermas (1989) and Brookfield (2005) have argued that such a public sphere, while not institutionalised but at least guaranteed by law, has certain deliberative qualities since it gives individuals the opportunity to learn about their interests and the interests of others. The kind of popular sovereignty that is borne out of Christiano's justification does not ensure that everyone will have their interests met, due to the deep underlying conflict of interest, but it does aim to have all interests heard and considered during the decision-making process.

Political participation plays a major role under this justification of liberal democracy. Interests need to be advanced in order to be considered, and political participation is how these interests are advanced. Christiano argues that citizens are to decide the overall aims of society and not get into the details of policy minutiae. However, even with this division of labour, Christiano gives a lot of room for robust political participation. Citizens will need to participate politically in some way - whether in deliberation or voting - in order to debate and understand, and then choose which aims they want implemented by their elected representatives. To state a truism, liberal democracy requires some citizens participating in order to function, but Christiano's justification

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> Joseph Schumpeter implies wrongly that democracy can function without the existence of the public sphere. As Held (1996, 199) explains; "the citizen is portrayed as isolated and vulnerable in a world marked by the competitive clash of elites. In (Schumpeter's) account, scarcely any account is paid to 'intermediary' groups such as community associations, religious bodies, trade unions and business organizations which cut across people's lives and connect them in complex ways to variety of types of institution".

provides a solid reason why this participation is necessary, and justifies both deliberative and aggregative forms of political participation.

In this chapter I will argue that one key challenge (though not its only one) that liberal democracy is facing today has to do with a lack of power attributed to a lack of political skill, which is reflected in the low quality of political participation. This chapter will argue that by focusing on developing the quality of political participation first, the quantity of political participation will go up in a way that is superior to other ways that have been proposed in the past, such as mandatory voting, since it tackles the issue of disempowerment. This chapter will then establish that disempowerment negatively affects democratic politics by excluding large segments of the population, leading to policies and laws that do not take into account the interests of large segments of the population. This contradicts the principle of the equal consideration of interests. Finally, this chapter will provide a schematic of disempowerment and delineate between three types of disempowerment. The first is due to an imbalance of power, which is remedied by distributing power more equitably. The second form of disempowerment has been identified by scholars such as Iris Young and Anne Philips where unequal resources in wealth can create privileged access and internal exclusions even where formal power is distributed equally (Young 1999, 33-34). The third form of disempowerment is called political mortification, which is caused by a lack of political skill. Political mortification is taken from De Luca's work, and is defined as the general feeling of inadequacy and insecurity among apathetic and disempowered citizens (1995, 133).

### Political participation: A Necessity In Decline

A favourite target of commentators who complain about the health of liberal democracy is declining voter turnout. Several scholars have lamented the decline of political participation, especially in terms of voting, over the past few years. Fewer and fewer people are voting in elections in most Western liberal democracies (Johnston and Pattie 2000, 2; Dalton and Wattenberg 2001; Putnam 2003, 32, Figure 1; Elections Canada 2007). Voting is especially low among young voters, as there is a great deal of dissatisfaction and disengagement among them (Parkes, Taylor and Wilkinson 2003; Putnam 2003; Macedo, et al. 2005, 22-64). Moreover, there is a decline in trust in government and more cynicism and resentment towards the democratic process and politicians in general (Nevitte 1996; Nye, King, and Zelikow 1997; Norris 1999; Hibbing and Thiess-Moore 2002).

Clearly, low levels of political participation are problematic for a democracy that aims to meet the principle of the equal advancement and consideration of interests. After all, if large segments of the population are missing from the political process, then many interests will not be heard. On the surface, increasing participation seems rather straightforward. Perhaps the simplest and most effective way to increase political participation is to introduce compulsory voting. Several countries such as Australia and Belgium have compulsory voting. There are various ways in which to enforce compulsory voting. When they had compulsory voting, Argentina had renewable social security cards that were renewed when the cardholder voted, while Belgium will completely disenfranchise citizens if they do not vote for a period of fifteen years. This seems like a rather draconian measure to get people to vote. After all, non-voters will require employment insurance and need access to the public health care system. More importantly, they pay taxes that pay for the social security system. UK cabinet minister Geoff Hoon suggested a

less harsh measure in 2005. He suggested that voters be given a substantial discount on their council tax, which would encourage people to go to the polls (Wintour 2005).

Again, the methods on how one could impose compulsory voting are various, ranging from using carrots (council tax discounts) to heavy sticks (no access to social security, disenfranchisement). They would undoubtedly work to raise the levels of participation. Obviously, democracies with compulsory voting have a much higher voter turnout than those who do not have it. This would in effect solve the problem of the low quantity of political participation as it would universal turnout.

But does compulsory voting solve anything? In order to answer that question, we have to consider why people do not participate in the first place. After all, an adequate solution must speak to the cause of the problem. Explaining the reasons why people do not participate is an old endeavour in political science, and some studies have yielded some interesting results. Policy convergence has been cited as a reason, where the political parties are so similar to each other that voters cannot discern any difference between them. There is empirical evidence for policy convergence (Laver and Schofield 1990, Appendix B). In addition, some may vote or not simply out of habit and out of civic duty (Almond and Verba 1965, Franklin 2004).

Looking at strictly the costs and benefits of political participation does not seem to yield much in terms of explaining why people do not vote. In fact, this viewpoint paints such a stark picture of participation that it is a wonder why people even bother to participate. Take the example of voting. Voting takes "time to register, to discover what parties are running, to deliberate, to go to

the polls, and to mark the ballot. Since time is a scarce resource, voting is inherently costly" (Downs 1957, 265; Cunningham 2002, 105). Some have argued (Niemi 1976; Blais 2000, 8) that the costs of voting have gone down tremendously over the last fifty years, at least in terms of gathering information. Political information is very easy to obtain these days with the proliferation of the Internet, even though some argue that the volume of information obscures any relevant debate (Shenk 1997).

While the costs of voting might have gone down, the benefits of voting have not really changed. As anyone knows, a single vote is never going to change the result of an election or referendum. Voters must be aware of this, since voter turnout goes up in elections that are perceived to be close (Riker and Ordeshook 1968, 38; Filer, Kenny and Morton 1993; Aldrich 1993; Matsusaka and Palder 1993; Norris 2001, 6; Dowding 2005, 444; Newman 2005, 149-151). Given the moderately high costs of voting and extremely marginal benefits of voting, we should expect to see voting levels to be much lower than they are now (Blais 2000). Why would anyone bother to participate in something that has little effect on the result?

This chapter will unravel some of the causes for non-participation. There are some interesting reasons for the low quantity of political participation that empirical research has yielded. As referred to earlier, citizens have a lot less trust and respect for political institutions. As Orren (1997, 79) notes; "Today's cynicism, however, is not just the latest manifestation of traditional scepticism toward government, nor is it simply a response to the unpopularity of particular incumbents or parties. Today's cynicism is fuelled by a deeper set of accumulated grievances with political authority, institutions, and processes in general". Hibbing and Thiess-Morse (2002)

observed that their respondents had far more respect for the Supreme Court than the state legislatures and Congress. Their explanation for why this is the case is because the respondents in their survey do not like to see disagreements out in the open. While the Supreme Court has its disagreements behind closed doors or in scholarly prose, legislatures have their disagreements out in the open and with far more rancour. They also note that when Congress is seen to be more partisan and raucous, public support for it tends to go down (also see Durr, Gilmour, and Wolbrecht 1997, 101). It has little to do with outputs, as the Supreme Court has produced decisions that are as controversial as those of the legislatures.

However, there has to be more than just seeing disagreement as a bad thing, given the fact that disagreement is a key part of democratic politics, and always has been. There has been political debate and argument in legislatures well before the massive decline of deference that we saw at the end of the 20<sup>th</sup> century. We should look at how the disagreement is occurring on the political scene. Orren notes that "citizens are frustrated by the obstructionism and bickering they perceive in Washington, and they sense that governance is weighted down by 'procedural injustice' and special interests with excessive influence and undeserved privileges" (1997, 93).

As Orren indicates, how disagreement takes place has an effect on how people view politics. If it is far too negative in tone, or if politicians are always seen to be bickering at each other, people tend to turn away and stop paying attention to politics (Ansolabehere and Iyengar 1995). Orren's findings still correspond to the present day. In their article examining the effects of direct mail campaigns, Gerber *et al.* noted that direct mail campaigns that are negative in tone can work to reduce turnout, although in a very small way (2003, 574). Lau *et al.* (2007) found that while negative campaigning did not depress turnout, it did have other troubling effects such as "lower

trust in government, a lessened sense of political efficacy, and possibly a darker public mood" (1186).

It is reasonable to assume that negative advertising in political campaigns that focuses on personal attacks instead of debating the issues at hand lowers the quality of political participation. The quality of political participation is high when as many interests are advanced and considered fairly, and it drops when political discussion turns away from using interests as its currency. The negative campaign messages that we have seen in recent years certainly drift away from that ideal.

Following this line of argument, another way that the quality of political participation can drop is through the feeling of disempowerment among the citizens, which leads to citizens turning away from the political process. This in turn leads to less interests being heard and considered in political discussion. This feeling of disempowerment has been well-reported in the literature. To cite Hibbing and Thiess-Morse as an example, their respondents felt that "ordinary people have too little power in the current system and only a handful believe they have too much power" (2000, 102) and that government is not doing a good job of representing the interests of all Americans, "rich or poor, white or black, male or female" (103-104).

The creation of deliberative forums can allow more voices to be heard in the political arena. The purpose of deliberation, at least according to Christiano's schema, is to provide citizens with an

arena where they can learn about the interests of others. Moreover, participants explaining and defending their preferences and their interests helps them learn about their own interests.

Through dialogue and deliberating with others, participants should learn about what options and/or values are in conflict and which are compatible with each other, and which options are not feasible and for what reasons. This will be dealt in more detail in the third chapter. Nonetheless, it should be clear at this point that deliberation, even though it aims to be as inclusive as possible, aims to improve the quality of political participation. A democracy that aims to meet the principle of equal advancement and consideration of interests cannot simply work to increase the quantity of political participation without improving the quality of political participation. As will be discussed in the next section, a very important threat to the equal advancement and consideration of interests is disempowerment, where individuals do not feel that they are capable of contributing effectively in the political arena due to a perceived lack of skill. In the next section, it will be argued that improving the quality of political participation will mitigate against disempowerment.

# **Improving the Quality of Political Participation**

#### **Defining disempowerment**

Ideally, solutions to raise the quantity of political participation should be in line with the principle of the equal advancement and consideration of interests. This means that any attempt to raise participation rates must attempt to tackle disempowerment and improving the quality of political participation. If democracies want to realise the ideal of the equal advancement and consideration of interests, they must not only ensure that these interests are heard, they must also work to help citizens understand their own interests and those of others. Only increasing the

quantity of political participation, according to this understanding, does little to solve this problem. It might get more interests heard, but it does not improve the understanding of interests. Disempowerment must be tackled.

If the quality of political participation is improved, then participation ought to go up. The task of the work is find ways in which to improve the quality of political participation, which at the same time will work to reduce citizen disempowerment. In subsequent chapters, I will argue that this is done by reinventing democratic culture in a way that understands political participation as a craft, where the skill of political participation is learned experientially. This understanding must accompany the necessary institutional changes, such as the introduction of deliberative forums.

As I will argue at the end of this chapter, a lack of political skill causes disempowerment. For now, it is important to understand the nature and cause of disempowerment. Richard Keiser offers a useful definition of empowerment. According to him, "empowerment is the process by which a minority group, or representatives of that group, gains a greater ability to influence political outcomes in its favour" (Keiser 1997, 5). Empowerment involves a reallocation of power in favour of a minority group, and their representatives are not co-opted by the established power holders to simply represent the power holders' views to the minority (Ibid., Selnick 1949, 14-15, 261). The reallocation of political power occurs along two dimensions<sup>9</sup>. First, a group becomes empowered if it 1) wins a favourable distribution of public offices and 2) if members of

-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> Keisel's notes that his identification of two dimensions of the reallocation of power builds on the previous work on indicators of minority political power. See Rufus P. Browning, Dale Rogers Marshall, and David H. Tabb, *Protest Is Not Enough: The Struggle of Blacks and Hispanics for Equality in Urban Politics* (Berkeley: University of California Press, 1984).

the minority wins a favourable distribution of public sector jobs, and this results in the interests of that group being advanced more than before (Keiser 1997, 5-6). The second dimension entails the ability of exercise control over public policy agenda-setting and decision-making (Ibid., 6). This happens either by the group being able to block actions that are against the interests of that group, or being able to advance and implement policies that would favour the group.

From Keiser's definition we are able to construct a definition of disempowerment. Disempowerment occurs when a group has lost the power to influence political outcomes in its favour. A disempowered group has lost political power when it has been allocated or reallocated, whatever the case may be. A good example of disempowerment caused by reallocation of political power are blacks in South Africa in the pre-apartheid era. Blacks always had to deal with restricted mobility rights in South Africa, even though various governments differed in how strictly they enforced the pass laws. Before the beginning of institutionalisation of apartheid in 1948, blacks in South Africa had a modicum of political power, including voting rights in the Cape Province. However, this power was stripped away after the 1948 elections, where mixed marriages were formally banned, racial classification was introduced, and blacks in the Cape Province were disenfranchised. Disempowered groups are also those who never had power in the first place and may gain power as time progresses. An example of such a group would be blacks in the United States before the Emancipation Proclamation in 1863. As time progressed, blacks slowly became empowered through various measures, such as the Brown v. Board of Education ruling in 1954 and the Civil Rights Act in 1968, to name just a few.

There are three types of disempowerment. The first instance of unempowerment is easy to identify. Any group in a democratic society that has fewer political rights than others should be considered unempowered. An example of this is when women and racial minorities did not have the right to vote in several Western democracies. To solve this problem would be to extend the same political rights to every citizen in a democracy.

The second has been identified by scholars such as Iris Young and Anne Phillips. In essence, this form of disempowerment works outside of the exclusion created by formal power structures. As Young discusses in *Inclusion and Democracy*, these forms of exclusion involve ignoring, shaming, and even ridiculing other points of view that do not fit with the dominant discourse. As she explains; "The dominant mood may find their ideas or modes of expression silly or simple, and not worthy of consideration. They may find that their experiences as relevant to the issues under discussion are so different from others' in the public that their views are discounted" (55). These internal forms of exclusion as Young calls them involve participants being formally included in decision-making processes but their viewpoints are negatively labeled because their views do not fit within the dominant paradigm, and thus are not taken seriously. Young offers one explanation for why this can happen. "Too often in such situations the assumptions, experiences, and values of some members of the public dominate the discourse and that of others is misunderstood, devalued, or reconstructed to fit the dominant paradigms. In such situations arguments alone will do little to allow public voice for those excluded from the discourse" (71). Young's solution is to employ different methods of communication beyond deliberation such as storytelling and invoking alternative narratives.

Phillips makes similar claims in terms of representation of women and blacks. In *The Politics of* Presence, she argues that a lone focus on "the politics of ideas" in the hope that the needs and concerns of underrepresented groups can be represented by agents that are not part of those groups that have these needs or concerns. So long as the ideas are represented, then it does not matter who represents the ideas (1998, 6). According to Phillips, this does not do enough to take on political exclusion or equality, since according to her, equality requires that differing groups come into closer contact with each other, and that full empowerment requires that the group or individuals in question actually exercise that power. There are certain experiences that do affect certain groups, and for the interests based on these experiences to be taken into account, there is need of representation from these groups. Policies worked out for one group will not be sufficient if there is no presence of this group during the deliberation of the policies. She implies that the politics of idea paradigm is the status quo in modern politics, and that it should make more accommodation for a politics of presence that actually gives representation to missing groups, even though they might have the same formal power that over-represented groups do. The point of both Young and Phillips is that even in the face of an equitable distribution of formal power there can still be exclusions that citizens concerned about empowerment need to be vigilant about.

The third type of unempowerment will be the focus of the remainder of this chapter, and is similar to the political apathy that several commentators deride. De Luca calls this type of apathy "political mortification" (1995, 200). This strong term describes the general feeling of inadequacy and insecurity among apathetic and disempowered citizens. He argues that apathy has an element where it is deliberate and calculated and a psychological element that is caused

by political institutions. This psychological element causes severe group psychological damage to the citizens of a democracy, and as a result has led to "the indefinite suspension of the consciousness to form political intentions and act in their terms" (De Luca 1995, 133).

C. Wright Mills (1948; 1951; 1956; 1967) and Herbert Marcuse (1964; 1969) first elaborated the notion of political mortification. Mills' explanation for disempowerment is particularly interesting. He, much like John Stuart Mill and John Dewey before him, saw the public arena as the crucible where new ideas and opinions were born. However the concentration of power in the hands of elites such as the mass media, elected representatives, and multinational companies has constrained public debate and failed "to enlarge and animate the discussions of primary publics", thus producing a mass society that is undifferentiated in its opinions (Mills 1956, 311; De Luca 1995, 135). A concentration of power in the hands of a few subordinates the viewpoints of the powerless. When this subordination occurs, politics is "constrained by ideology, imperatives of political economy, gender roles, racial and ethnic expectations, and other sets of beliefs as they develop within the interpretations of the subordinated persons – in ways that disable their efforts to make political sense in their lives" (De Luca 1995, 194-195).

Mills' explanation for disempowerment illustrates why it endangers the principle of the equal consideration of interests. This principle requires that citizens feel that they are capable of effectively advancing their interests. As we saw in the summary of Christiano's justification of democracy, this requires a free and open public deliberative space. Political mortification frustrates the principle of the equal consideration of interests by making participants feel that they cannot effectively participate politically, which in turn prevents several interests from being

heard. If fewer interests are heard, then deliberation will be less effective. A similar dynamic can occur with aggregative aspects of liberal democracy. How inclusive and representative can referendums and elections be if several minorities do not want to participate because they believe that they cannot make an effective contribution? Put simply, if large segments of the population feel that they have nothing to contribute and do not participate, then one cannot say that the outcomes of democratic decision-making procedures took into consideration as many interests as possible, which Christiano says should be the goal for liberal democracies.

How can we tell if an individual or a group is disempowered? The fact that they are not participating in politics might be a good indicator, but not all non-participants are disempowered. Some have suggested that a lack of political knowledge is a good indicator of problem signs with democracy (Milner 2002). This claim is backed up by several studies that show that citizens who have more education are more likely to vote (Sanders 1980; Schwartz 1987: 116; Schram 1991). Indeed, if individuals have trouble identifying basic concepts in politics, then we cannot expect much in terms of their quality of political participation. But this assumption is challenged by Daniel Yankelovich. He argues that while political information and civic literacy is important, it is not sufficient or even necessary to form well-reasoned judgments. He cites surveys and research group work done during the time of the Vietnam War, where some participants could not find Vietnam on a map, but they could argue for their opinions effectively and could understand and accept the implications of their arguments against American intervention, which is a key component of having a well-reasoned opinion (Yankelovich 1991, 29-30). So one can be empowered and yet be relatively uninformed, even though such examples will probably be rare.

Helena Catt offers a useful standard for empowerment. She links it to her definition to equality in the democratic process, be it in aggregative or deliberative arenas. "The acid test for equality would be to ask a member at random if, upon hearing a report at a meeting that 'x' has happened, they know enough about the issue to feel comfortable asking a question, were able to interrupt and put the question and felt comfortable in expressing disagreement with what had happened, regardless of who had made the initial report" (Catt 1999, 50). A disempowered person would feel unable to participate effectively because they feel intimidated by the process or by the person that they might have to disagree with. This standard of empowerment has been used in the past as a predictor of future political participation. As Crotty states, "more than likely, feelings of political distance and impotency encourage a withdrawal from the electorate, and such beliefs in turn are fed by continued nonparticipation" (1991, 5). Moreover, this definition of empowerment fits in nicely with Young's work on exclusion, as the dominant discourse can also intimidate potential participants who have viewpoints that cannot be expressed in the language of that discourse. This notion ties back to Keiser's definition of empowerment and the allocation of political power. Those who have the allocation of political power working against them are more likely to feel that they cannot enter into a political debate than those who are benefitting from it.

Thus if a person feels uncomfortable in contradicting the participants in a political discussion (such as a debate, town hall, deliberative forum, etc.), then we can say that that person is disempowered. The reasons why they might feel uncomfortable in contradicting someone's statements are various. They might not feel that they have enough information to participate, or might feel so intimidated that they might feel too embarrassed to speak. We can think of other

reasons why people might not participate that would fall under Catt's standard. Conversely, there are instances of non-participation that are not cases of disempowerment. If I choose not to speak up at a deliberative forum because I agree with the general points that are being made and do not want to drag down the meeting by repeating them, then I should not be considered disempowered, so long as I feel that I am able to speak up and disagree if the need arises.

One must be comfortable with expressing disagreement in order to feel empowered. It must be much easier to agree with someone than to disagree. Disgreement can cause conflict and ruffle feathers, and often social groups will tend to prefer keeping the peace and consensus. Examples of this dynamic are New England town politics (Zuckerman 1970, 125) and feminist groups where disagreeing can be labelled as anti-feminist and running against the "unity of sisterhood" (Riger 1994, 291; Catt 1999, 51). This is not the reasoned consensus that so many deliberative democrats crave. This could lead to consensus merely for its own sake, which would be considered problematic for the aims of deliberation that Christiano elaborates. Mansbridge calls this "false consensus" (1980, 33-34). One can agree with those who have more power than you out of fear as well – that is not empowered political action. On the other hand, one cannot disagree out of fear or out of the desire to appease those around you, given that there is an unequal distribution of political power. Moreover, to return to Young's schema, challenging the dominant discourse and internal exclusions by disagreeing with the terms and frame of the discussion certainly shows that one wishes to be included in the discussion on one's own terms. To disagree with someone openly<sup>10</sup> in any situation shows that you do not think that the person or the situation holds any power over you whatsoever. You see the person that you disagree with

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> As James Scott suggests, disagreeing with someone covertly can also be a sign of empowerment. See *Domination* and the Arts of Resistance: Hidden Transcripts (New Haven: Yale University Press, 1992).

as at least your equal, but never as your superior. The same cannot be said for all expressions of agreement.

So far we established what disempowerment is and how can we identify instances of both, even when all participants have the right to participate. Borrowing from Helena Catt, we know people are disempowered when they feel uncomfortable in contradicting the statements of others. This situation would indicate an imbalance of power, in whatever form that power might manifest itself. As Lukes famously argued, power can manifest itself through influencing actual behaviour, through the shaping of the agenda, or through the prevention of conflict via manipulation of ideology and the creation of false consciousness (Lukes 2004). We also know that it is directly problematic for the principle of the equal advancement and consideration of interests. Since this principle is essential to democracy, disempowerment threatens the health of democracy itself. If individuals feel that they cannot participate effectively, then they obviously will stop participating. Specifically, I am here referring to instances of internal exclusion and psychological feelings of inadequacy that can build up over time and lead to people leaving the political process. This is the political mortification that De Luca discusses, and over time citizens will cease to see themselves as stakeholders in the political process, and democratic institutions start to look like a foreign entity to them. Democracy will hardly look like government for the people, of the people, and by the people.

The problems of disempowerment are widespread in modern democracies because of political mortification due to deep-seated feelings of political inadequacy among the citizenry. Ultimately, through various means, disempowerment excludes groups and individuals from the political

process, which in turn ensures that fewer and fewer interests are heard and/or deliberated upon in the public sphere. This in turn lowers the quality of political participation – along with affecting its quantity – since fewer interests are heard in a political decision-making process. This in turn will produce policy decisions that the public will not accept because it does not take into account the public's interests. Moreover, a lack of formal power through the lack of institutionalized deliberative forums only leaves a democracy with adversarial democratic institutions, where political actors compete against each other for political offices, which has a negative effect on the political discourse, as discussed earlier.

Moreover, without deliberation, democratic politics will still be plagued by low quality public opinion, where citizens will go vote or support things that they would not otherwise support if they were given the time and space to reflect on these views and discuss them with others. Ackerman and Fishkin elaborate on this and state that even though ill-informed preferences are not really what the public want, they will often become public policy. They argue that this happens paradoxically enough because of political parties trying to be responsive to public demands. But they do it by relying heavily on polls and focus groups. The trouble with these tools is that they capture both unrefined and refined preferences, and if the unrefined preferences outnumber the refined ones, then these preferences eventually become public policy. But what these pollsters have in reality is a myopic view of public opinion that does not capture the full complexities of true public opinion (Ackerman and Fishkin 2004, 10). Deliberation provides precisely this opportunity to reflect, discuss, and learn about the preferences and interests of others. Without it, citizens choose platforms that they would not otherwise choose if they had the

opportunity to properly consider them<sup>11</sup>. If citizens were to have deliberative forums available to them, then they would be empowered in the sense that their interests are given more attention, and that they have more points of access to elected politicians. Moreover, the quality of political participation would increase because its rhetoric would improve. Political discourse will focus less on being a discursive battle to defeat one's opponents for political opponents and ideally treat citizens as more than just customers buying political platforms.

## Tackling political mortification through development of political skill

But the task of empowerment does not end there. When political disempowerment is due to a disproportionate distribution of power, then the solution is rather straightforward – power has to be redistributed in favour of the disadvantaged. This is especially the case when a minority group has less political resources than others. While Young identifies internal forms of exclusion built into situations where formal power is distributed equally, she recommends incorporating communicative tools such as greeting and public acknowledge of participants, the affirmative use of rhetoric, and sharing of narrative and perspectives that fall outside of the hegemonic discourse. She also argues that facilitating local publics and encouraging the use of storytelling in the discursive process can remove internal exclusions (2000, ch 3, see also Young 2001). Lynn Sanders (1997) has blamed deliberative settings themselves for this problem, arguing that the standards of deliberation can constrain the discussion in such a way as to shut out certain viewpoints that are expressed in a conventional, "reasonable" way. The concept of testimony,

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> Noted pollster Daniel Yankelovich has written extensively about this problem. Often public opinion researchers fail to distinguish what public opinion is because they fail to understand the nature of public disagreement about certain issues. Yankelovich convincingly argues that public opinion polls that show the public constantly changing its mind about a certain issue is a certain sign that that public is struggling to reach a stable opinion. On other hand, a certain indicator that the public has reached a firm opinion, or what Yankelovich calls public judgment on an issue is if the polls show that the level of support for an issue has remained constant for a very long time, such as abortion and capital punishment. See Yankelovich, *Coming to Public Judgement*.

which she offers as an alternative to deliberation, can well be incorporated, and so can statements that challenge the hegemonic discourse - to borrow from Young, and we can still see how individuals might still feel disempowered.

Some of these solutions will not work when political mortification has already set in amongst participants. The same can be true with internal exclusions. Even though participants will work hard to create as inclsuive an environment as possible, disempowered participants may have been so jaded from their past experiences that they are not interested in participating ever again. In situations such as these, individuals do not participate – at least in a meaningful way – because they feel that they are not able to. This is an example of political mortification. De Luca talks about the feeling of inferiority and inadequacy that political mortification instills in individuals. This inferiority cannot come about because others have more political resources, because in situations as these, everyone has the same right to participate. Everyone has the right to vote, and in a deliberative setting, everyone has the right to contribute to the discussion. It could even be the case that none of the internal exclusions that Young talks about are present. Yet disempowered individuals can still feel inferior and unable to participate in these settings.

De Luca suggests that disempowerment is linked to a feeling of incapacity. If that is the case, then political mortification and sytematic exclusion occurs due to a perceived difference in political skill. I say "perceived" because in situations like these, disempowered individuals believe that they do not have the adequate skills to participate effectively. Coming up with an absolute standard of measuring political skill is extremely difficult, especially as this feeling of disempowerment is grounded in psychological factors. Thus measuring one's political skill

against another is a fruitless endeavour, as it would be very difficult to devise a method that can make any meaningful observations on this front.

However, while this difference in political skill is too difficult to measure, this difference nonetheless exists. It exists inasmuch that disempowered individuals and groups feel that this difference exists. This perception is significant because it is linked to the psychological feelings of inadequacy and inferiority that disempowered citizens feel. These feelings might be deeply felt or not, but even the slightest feeling of inferiority is enough to cause a person not to participate.

Moreover, improving the political skills of participants is necessary in the face of both imbalances of power and internal exclusions. Participants with better developed political skills will have an easier time identifying, challenging and creating solutions to the imbalances of power and internal exclusions. Well developed political skills are necessary in order to successfully counteract these problems. To turn to the issue of narratives, it would require a great deal of skill to successfully bring in alternative narratives into a discussion that has participants that are excluding them, whether it is intentional or not. Each instance of exclusion is predicated by the nature and tone of the discussion and the behaviour and character of the participants, which will be different in every single example of discussion. This means that there cannot be one carbon-copy solution that will apply to every situation of exclusion. Participants who wish to solve these problems require the skill to understand the nature of the nuances of the situation to implement a solution to effectively have these alternative narratives heard in the discussion.

Not only will participants with better developed skills have an easier time with creating a more inclusive participatory forums, they can also more successfully identify and challenge forms of exclusion than those with less developed political skills. This is especially important because some forms of internal exclusions might be very hard to detect. Moreover, the identification of internal exclusions might be summarily dismissed by participants. For example, some participants might genuinely think that participants who present alternative narratives are presenting ideas that are ignorant, off the wall, etc. Challenging these forms of exclusion can be a challenge and it would require a high degree of skill to counteract this exclusion and work with participants to come to a solution. With more empowerment, the quality of political participation improves within participatory forums. Participants with well developed political skills are better able to identify, challenge, and resolve problems of imbalances of power and internal exclusions, and thus ought to be encouraged since it can be key in improving the quality of political participation.

However, an important caveat must be inserted here. It is conceivable that even if a student of political skill devotes a lot of time practicing and developing her political skills, it remains possible that the participants still perceive a difference of skills. This perception can come about if the participant is not recognized as making an effective contribution, or not taken seriously, or outright ignored. Once again, this does not mean that one has to agree with the views or opinions of the participant in order for her to be recognized, nor does the recognition have to come from persons in formal social and political institutions. This recognition can come in the form of a person who disagrees with the claims made by the participant critiquing and giving his account for why he disagrees with the participant's claim, for example. This kind of recognition is

mentioned by McBride (2005) as being positive for deliberation because it recognizes viewpoints and identies without requiring deference to them from non-group members. As he explains;

"deliberative politics will be more effective to the extent that this politics sustains a variety of dissenting, critical voices that can be brought to bear on policy formation. This view of the relationship between a politics of recognition and deliberative politics does however, calls for a more radical conception of political inclusion than that proposed in the name of the politics of authentic recognition (Charles Taylor is a proponent of this), one that spills out over the bounds of formal parliamentary politics and into the wider society (507, brackets mine).

This form of "critical" recognition - which encourages debate and examination of various viewpoints while still recognizing their value and input - ought to be given if exclusions are to be overcome and dominant narratives are to be challenged.

I will later argue that in order to empower citizens who feel this way, it is necessary to conceive political participation as a craft, where it is possible to practice political activities in order to improve one's skills. Politics often gets compared to games of chess by press pundits, so I will use that analogy to illustrate my point. Adam, an average chess player, will be much more willing to play repeatedly with his friend Barry who is at the same skill level that he is than he would be playing Gary Kasparov. The reason being is that he can play Barry and get more out of the experience than he would out of repeatedly playing Kasparov. If Adam plays Kasparov, then the result of the game is beyond doubt. After the initial thrill of playing a former world champion wears off, Adam will almost certainly feel that playing chess is a waste of time, because he is getting nothing out of the experience except getting beaten by Kasparov repeatedly. Getting beaten by a superior chess player over and over, unless that superior player is helping the inferior player to learn from his mistakes, will not lead Adam to having a positive experience from playing chess. Over time, Adam will come to see that the difference in skill between him and

Kasparov as insurmountable, and decide that playing chess is an unrewarding experience and not play again.

It is no different in the political arena. If someone is trying to advance one's interests and is constantly not being taken seriously by other participants, then over time that person will feel that participating in politics is a waste of time, and that their participation cannot make an impact on the proceedings. This sentiment can set in and develop into political mortification, because eventually that participant will feel uncomfortable in participating politically, much less contradict the views of others in the political arena.

In order to feel empowered in the political arena, one does not necessarily have to have one's way in the political arena. One needs only to be taken seriously and respected by other participants in the debate, or deliberative process, etc. To go back to Catt's standard of equality, the person who feels comfortable in contradicting the views of others feels that way because she knows if she speaks, she and her opinions will be respected and taken seriously. She knows that she will be treated as an equal in the sense that she can advance her interests and debate the issues effectively. This does not mean that other participants agree with her, or even that they think that she is a better debater than they are. They simply think that she is capable enough to be treated seriously. Likewise, the participant will still feel that she has something useful to contribute to the debate, even though her view point might not be adapted, because those who disagree with her will have taken her opinions seriously and not have ignored her. Ignoring other participants in a debate, as Marcuse suggests, can also be a means of disempowerment (Marcuse 1969). But to debate other participants is to take them seriously, and thus recognising them as

playing an important part in the discussion, even though one might not agree with them, and even though that person might not get her way.

To return to my chess analogy, there is a possibility where Adam may not feel completely disempowered when playing Gary Kasparov. Let us imagine that Kasparov decides to no longer treat Adam as a mere opponent. Kasparov can look at Adam and decide to use the experience of playing chess with him as an opportunity to help Adam develop his chess playing skills. While he does not necessarily recognise Adam as his equal in terms of chess playing, he does recognise him as someone that is capable of learning from the experience. Instead of treating Adam as a lesser chess player, he treats Adam as an apprentice. In doing so, getting beat by Kasparov is no longer the useless and frustrating experience that it once was. It now becomes an educative experience for Adam, where he is an apprentice of Kasparov's of sorts. Thus Adam gets a more positive experience from the process, and it came about because the chess champion decide to treat Adam with more respect than he would a lesser opponent. The result will be that Adam will no longer see playing chess as a futile exercise.

A similar dynamic can occur in politics. I will argue in the fourth chapter that in order for this percieved difference in political skill to be overcome, and thus overcome political mortification, politics must be understood as a craft. A craft is any action that is learned primarily by experience, where one learns how to practice the craft effectively by engaging in the craft itself. One can learn from others if they were to enter into a master-apprenticeship relationship with them. This relationship would be similar to that of Kasparov and Adam described in the preceding paragraph. Conceiving politics as a craft both empowers individuals and improves the

quality of political participation. This will allow liberal democracy to more closely approximate the principle of equal consideration and advancement of interests.

The next chapter will look at deliberative democratic processes. Deliberation offers some solutions to the problems outlined here simply by allowing more institutional avenues that allow for individuals to learn more about society's interests. Thus for the sake of democracy to more closely fulfill the principle of equal advancement of interests, deliberative institutions should be put in place in liberal democracies. However, even though deliberative democratic institutions will empower citizens in the sense that it will allow for citizens to better understand their interests, it is still possible that people can become disempowered while participating in deliberative institutions. The same is possible with adversial democratic institutions such as voting. These issues will be examined next chapter.

# CHAPTER 3: DELIBERATIVE DEMOCRACY: A SOLUTION TO DISEMPOWERMENT?

The previous chapter discussed types of disempowerment that challenge to the health of liberal democracy. The form of disempowerment that is of most interest is the percieved difference of skill between participants. Following Helena Catt, we can identify disempowered individuals and groups by seeing if anyone is afraid to disagree with the points of discussion. Only an expression of disagreement is an indicator of empowerment, because there can be instances when individuals can agree with others out of fear or other reasons that would indicate an imbalance of power or skill. The same cannot be said for instances of disagreement.

Solving various instances of disempowerment will improve the quality of political participation as well as increase the quantity of political participation. As was discussed in the second chapter, the quality of political participation should be a key concern for those who are interested in strengthening democratic institutions. As was explained in the first chapter, the guiding principle of democracy should be the principle of the equal advancement and consideration of interests. Part and parcel of this principle is the notion that citizens have the appropriate and necessary capabilities to advance, consider, and understand and learn about the interests of others. As was asserted in the second chapter, if participants have their skills sufficiently developed then not only will they feel empowered as Catt defines it, but they are also empowered enough to identify, criticize, and create solutions to the types of internal exclusions that Young has identified. Reducing internal exclusions would help improve the quality of political participation by allowing more interests to be heard as well as the authors of those interests to express themselves according to their own voices and interpretations. While skill development is only one aspect of

a larger task of empowering citizens, it can help prevent the onset of political mortification due to feelings of political inadequacy.

As Christiano explains, the principle of equal advancement and consideration and interests functions against a backdrop of deep irresolvable disagreement among citizens about moral, ethical, and other issues that affect political discussion and decision-making. Because of this, consensus will not always be possible and participants will have to resort to majority rule. Therefore an equal distribution of political resources is necessary for all citizens in order for them to express their interests, and ensure that both instances of consensus and majority rule closely meet the principle of the equal consideration of interests.

To reitarate, democratic institutions for Christiano serve three purposes. First, they transmit the citizens' conceptions of aims to government officials, who then translate them into public policy. This is what the electoral system does. Second, they must ensure that citizens are able to discuss the basic aims of society. Thirdly, institutions must ensure effective monitoring of the performance of public officials in terms of their effectiveness at implementing citizens' choice of aims (Christiano 1996, 200-201).

Continuing from Christiano's schema, deliberation plays a necessary role in a liberal democracy since deliberative forums can meet all three purposes outlined above. Deliberation is also necessary because our understanding of the interests of others and ourselves are imperfect and can always be improved. Moreover, improving the understanding of our interests has a salutary effect on both democratic proceedings and outcomes. If this understanding is more developed,

then voting will advance political equality because citizens will be better informed about the aims of society. Christiano is clear: democracy requires *both* aggregative functions of democracy and deliberation.

This chapter will do three things. Firstly, it look at the basic premises and assumptions of deliberative democracy and explain its basic elements. Secondly, it will consider whether Christiano is correct in arguing that democratic deliberation can be compatible with liberal democracy as a necessary compliment to aggregative forms of democracy. Morever, a purely aggregative democracy cannot and does not exist, as liberal democracy has always included at the very least an independent public sphere where preferences and interests are considered and refined. This entails some deliberation, even though it may not be institutionalised.

Thirdly, this chapter will look at how deliberation might empower citizens and improve the quality of political participation. This chapter will agree with most advocates of deliberation and argue that the institutionalisation of deliberative forums will help empower citizens and stop the onset of political mortification by providing opportunities for participants to develop their skills. As will be argued in the subsequent chapter, the best way to develop skills is to conceive political skills as crafts that are developed experientially. Deliberative forums offer participants an opportunity to do exactly that. However, deliberation can be dominated by those with more skill and shut out voices that could provide interests that ought to be considered. This is a situation that can easily plague other participatory forums as well.. This chapter will argue that deliberative forums will function better, according to its own stated goals, when participants already have their skills sufficiently developed before entering deliberative proceedings. If those

who participate in deliberation already have their skills developed and are empowered enough to meet Catt's standard, then deliberative forums will be better able to identify public reasons and allow each individual and group to speak freely and according to their own voices and interpretations. Thus in order for deliberative forums to better meet their function as defined by deliberative democrats and Christiano's schema, then a program of political skill development should be incorporated so that participants feel empowered before they enter into deliberation.

# **Deliberative Democracy Defined**

Deliberative democracy was first introduced into the lexicon of political theory by Joseph Besette in 1980. Bessette argued that the debates and the discussion that occurred in the Congress of the United States functioned as a deliberative democracy. Besette and Uhr (1998) argued that deliberative democracy was strictly a function of legislatures and judiciaries. However, it has come to mean much more than that. Deliberative democracy has now come to mean a model of democracy where citizens come together to discuss and debate a political question by giving reasons for their preferences, opinions, and interests to the other participants to consider. "Deliberative democracy is a way of thinking about politics which emphasizes the give and take of public reasoning between citizens rather than the counting of the votes of the authority of representatives" (Parkinson 2006, 1). Through discussion and debate, the various reasons that are given are considered, and then accepted and rejected based on the reasons that are put forward for those preferences.

#### What principles guide deliberation?

Deliberation ideally should occur in public. As Joshua Cohen (1989) explains; "under such conditions, people's arguments for and against certain views must be made in public if they are to persuade others, and so can be examined and challenged by those others; preferences which may be more or less vague, unreflective, ill-informed, and private, and transformed into more firm, reflective, informed, and other-regarding ones through the deliberative encounter (3-4). Publicity is a critical norm for deliberative democrats (Gutmann and Thompson 1996, 54; Luban 2002, 296). Deliberative democrats hold that revealing one's preferences and the reasons for having these preferences, along with discussing them with others, has a positive effect on institutionalised democratic decision-making processes (Goodin 1992, 124-146; Benhabib 1996, 72; Gutmann and Thompson 1996, 100-101; Cohen 1997, 76-77; Chambers 2004: 390).

Deliberation should also be guided by the principles of accountability and reciprocity. As Gutmann and Thompson explain; "the foundation of reciprocity is the capacity to seek fair terms of social cooperation for their own sake" (1996, 52-53, see also Scanlon 1982, 103-128; Rawls 1993, 48-54). Deliberative democrats hope that deliberation can serve as the political conditions which foster "the willingness to accept reasonable objections to a proposal regardless of the quarter from which they come" (Barry 1995, 99-111)<sup>12</sup>. Reciprocity does not always produce consensus. Sometimes consensus will be impossible, however reciprocity calls on citizens to continually seek fair terms of cooperation among equals. Reciprocity requires that when "citizens make moral claims in a deliberative democracy, they appeal to reasons or principles

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup> One should not think that Barry is an advocate of deliberative democracy. However, Barry's definition of impartiality as elaborated in *Justice as Impartiality*, according to Gutmann and Thompson, is close to their own definition of reciprocity. See Gutmann andThompson, p. 373-374.

that can be shared by fellow citizens who are similarly motivated" (Gutmann and Thompson 1996, 55). While consensus will not always be possible, reciprocity can still yield deliberative disagreement, where "citizens continue to differ about basic moral principles even though they seek a resolution that is mutually justifiable" (Ibid., 73). This means that deliberation will not always be able to produce a definitive answer to some questions such as moral issues. All reciprocity can do is ask all participants to consider all factors and choose the best action according to their own judgement and defend that choice to the best of one's ability.

Here Gutmann and Thompson extend the principle of reciprocity and develop a set of standards which help citizens deal with deliberative disagreement. Gutmann and Thomspon call these standards the principles of accomodation, which entails mutual respect for and constructive interaction with all participants in the face of deep disagreement, along with being open to the possibility of modifying positions in the face of a better argument (Wong 1992; Gutmann and Thompson 1996, 79-80).

The third principle that drives deliberation is accountability. "In a deliberative forum, each is accountable to all. Citizens and officials try to justify their decisions to all those who are bound by them and some of those who are affected by them. This is the implication of the reason-giving process of deliberative democracy" (Gutmann and Thompson 1996, 128). Who should do the justifying, and to whom? Gutmann and Thompson, like Christiano and other deliberative democrats, do not advocate the abolition of the division of labour between citizens and representatives. "From a deliberative perspective representation is not only necessary but also desirable. The number of people who at the same time can have even a simple conversation, let

alone an extended moral argument, is limited" (Gutmann and Thompson 1996, 131). This is part of what Parkinson has referred to the "scale problem" (2006, see also Dahl and Tufte 1973, 66-88). As we saw in the first chapter, Christiano also maintains this division of labour. Ideally, representation should be subsumed under this principle of accountability where there is an ongoing and free-flowing give and take of reasons between elected representatives and the citizenry.

The three principles of publicity, accountability, and reciprocity are consistent with Christiano's understanding of the importance of deliberation. Deliberation helps citizens gain a better understanding of the interests of others as well as their own, which is always in need of improvement. Deliberation, according to Christiano, aspires to help citizens understand the basic aims of society, while the electoral system translates those aims into public policy.

In a perfect world, participants in deliberation should try to replicate what Habermas calls the ideal speech situation. Members of the public sphere participating in a discourse should adhere to a set of rules in order for the situation to be an ideal speech situation. They are;

- 1) Every subject with the competence to speak and act is allowed to take part in a discourse.
- 2a) Everyone is allowed to question any assertion whatsoever.
- 2b) Everyone is allowed to introduce any assertion whatever into the discourse.
- 2c) Everyone is allowed to express his attitudes, desires, and needs.
- 3) No speaker may be prevented, by internal or external coercion, from exercising his rights as laid down in 1) and 2) (Habermas 1980, 86).

For Habermas, the ideal speech situation represents a moral system which participants adhere to while in a discussion. The purpose of deliberation in the ideal speech situation is to provide participants with disimilar views with the relevant information about the political issue at hand. This in turn will encourage greater deliberation and reflection (Mutz 2006, 7). For Habermas, "in

large internally diverse societies, no one's immediate (life/world) experience prepares them adequately for political participation" (Calhoun 1988). This is why exposure to the viewpoints and experiences of others is necessary.

However, the ideal speech situation does not yield any meaningful statements about political institutions but rather serves as an ideal to be aspired to deliberative forums. Decisions are made by relying upon the force of the better argument (Dryzek 2000, 24) and are made by consensus and accepted freely. This is something that is very unlikely in the real world. Habermas recognises this in *Between Facts and Norms* (Habermas 1996, 486-487). Since deliberation occurs in a much more pluralist climate than the ideal speech situation, some scholars such as David Estlund have speculated that this practical deliberation described in *Between Facts and Norms* is the ideal situation that Habermas is really aiming to achieve, and not the ideal speech situation, which Estlund believes should not be replicated in modern society because of its high demands for consensus (Estlund 2006, 75). However, it should be noted that usually the ideal speech situation is used as a performative ideal that deliberative forums aspire to.

## **Deliberative forums as mini-publics**

Notable deliberative democrats such as James Fishkin believe that deliberative forums that rely on random selection should only have the force of recommendation (1995, 162; Lenaghan 1999). In fact, few deliberative democrats believe that the decisions made by deliberative processes should be enacted into law. Far from it, they generally believe that deliberation can help inform public debates and allow for legislators to have a clearer and more complete view of public

opinion. This is certainly Gutmann and Thompson's view (1996), along with Ackerman and Fishkin (2004).

Robert Goodin and John Dryzek (2006; Goodin 2008) see deliberative processes working as mini-publics. Goodin and Dryzek acknowledge that a mini-public does not represent the public in the same way that a legislative body does and cannot claim statistical representativeness (Goodin 2008, 12; see also Dahl 1989, 342; Budge 1996, ch. 7). But deliberation among mini-publics can in some sense replicate the discussions and deliberation that ideally should be occurring in the public at large but cannot because of scale problems. While Goodin and Dryzek readily grant that deliberative mini-publics are not as legitimate as elected legislatures are, they can have influence in other significant ways outside of policy and law-making.

Often, a mini-public will deliberate and "have no guarantee that the recommendations will be taken up any further in the macro-political process" (Goodin 2008, 20). Nonetheless, Goodin outlines some of the ways that mini-publics can have influence. Firstly, deliberation can have an influence by providing new information and insights to public debates. Secondly, they can shape policy by market testing (Ibid., 25). Thirdly, deliberation by mini-publics can "help legitimate public policies in whose process of production they play a part, however symbolic that part may be" (Ibid., 28). Even when this role is symbolic, it is nonetheless an important one in establishing legitimacy in the policy-making process. To state the obvious, a process that gives only a token role to public input will have a much easier time becoming legitimate than one that gives no input whatsoever. The fourth method that deliberation can have influence is to perform a monitoring role. "Participatory, consultative mechanisms also sometimes serve as a means of

public oversight forcing official accountability" (Ibid., 33; see also Weatherford and McDonnell 2007). Fifth, deliberation can resist co-option and express dissent (Ibid., 34). This final method is consistent with Dryzek's version of deliberation that aims to serve as a critical voice of liberal democratic institutions (Dryzek 1990; 2000, 27).

The final way is especially important. "Participatory processes may promote 'empowerment' in the psychological or sociological rather than the strictly legal-political sense" (Goodin 2008, p. 30; see also Fung 2005). The psychological variable is important to this thesis because it links to the feelings of inadequacy that political participants may feel and lead to disempowerment. If Goodin is correct, then participation in deliberative forums, as long as the participants have a positive experience, can make citizens feel empowered. Also, following Dryzek's claims that deliberative processes can serve as tools to criticize institutions and policies, they can also provide a good opportunity for participants to express dissent against any perceived injustices that might be caused by social and political institutions along with policies that might make participants worse off. Deliberation can thus provide forums for participants to be empowered to meet Catt's standard.

Since deliberative forums aim to function as mini-publics, they try to replicate the discussions that the public in genereal should be discussing but cannot because of scale issues. Even though they do not enjoy the same kind of legitimacy that legislatures or judiciaries do, deliberative bodies can have significant influence in several ways, as outlined by Goodin and Dryzek, which are summarised above. What is important to understand for this is that deliberative forums aim to empower by serving as a forum for dissent. To summarize from the previous chapter, the

psychological feeling that one can disagree and dissent from popular beliefs and conventional wisdom is the standard of empowerment that should be aimed for

#### The act of deliberating

Empowerment is a concern for deliberative democrats because it allows all individuals and groups to speak according to their own voice (Alway 1995). Disempowered individuals and groups that feel that they are unable to effectively contribute will not contribute to the process, and as a result, their interests will not be heard. This results in a democratic forum that does not meet the principle of the equal advancement and consideration of interests. As we will see in this section, empowerment and allowing each group and/or individual to speak freely and according to their own voice is so important to deliberative democrats that they will alter other deliberative principles to ensure that these two ideas are developed.

Deliberation should function as a calm discussion where participants contribute various reasons to support their opinions. Ideally, their preferences should not be firmly set, but they should not enter with no pre-determined opinions either. Goodin explains it well; "Ideals of deliberative democracy may require that we go into public discussions with an 'open mind', in the sense of a willingness to change our opinions in light of subsequent evidence and argument. But if everyone came to the process with a completely open mind, to the extent that no one was prepared to take any position to start with, the deliberations would have nowhere to begin' (Goodin 2008, 41, see also Goodin and Niemeyer 2003). Participants must put forward their reasons and couch their arguments in a manner that is accessible for others to comprehend.

As we have seen earlier, Lynn Sanders (1997) and Iris Marion Young (2001) have taken issue with the method that deliberative democrats ask participants to deliberate. They claim that deliberation's call for reasonable, calm, respectful, and tempered discussion can exclude several voices, and that deliberation can occur in boardrooms and legislatures, where elites exercise their power over disempowered groups. As Young explains; "entrance into such deliberative settings is usually rather tightly controlled, and the interests of many affected by the decisions made in them often receive no voice or representation" (Young 2001, 677). According to Young, deliberation is subject to a hegemonic discourse that works to exclude voices from the debate. Sanders submits that because deliberation focuses on controlled and carefully thought out exchanges of arguments, it rules out unruly or excessive behaviour. Moreover, sometimes disempowered groups must engage in unruly behaviour- or communicate in a way that might not seem reasonable - in order to communicate their grievances effectively (Sanders 1997, 6). Sanders calls for alternatives to deliberation that "avoid stated or implicit requirements that talk be only rational and moderate, or that perspectives worth attending to are perspectives that illuminate what is common" (Sanders 1997, 14).

Deliberative democrats are sensitive to these critiques. Dryzek argues that deliberation should function to criticise unequal distributions of power. He also recognises the values that oppositional forces have in civil society, which Young acknowledges (Young 2001, 689). On the surface, it appears that deliberation faces a contradiction between the goals of reasoned and calm discussion and allowing everyone to speak as they see fit. However, when replying to Sanders and Young's charges, deliberative democrats clearly place priority on the latter goal. Gerald Gaus argues that deliberative responsibility should be dispersed throughout the citizenry. Only a

citizenry that is constantly engaged in deliberation can guarantee impartiality (Gaus 1997: 234; McBride 2005: 499). Similar sentiments have been expressed by Bernard Manin (1987, 354) and Cass Sunstein (1988, 1546). Because of this, deliberative democrats have been willing to adopt forms of communication that do not fit into the "calm and reasoned" deliberation that Young and Sanders describe. As Goodin (2008, 65) explains, "In a non-ideal world with power inequalities overlaying social differences, talk (and other modes of communication) of a more rambunctious and less disciplined form might be more appropriate." (see also Goodin 2006). Parkinson notes in his observations of deliberative forums about health care in Leicester that participants swapped stories during deliberation, much like the method of testimony that Sanders favours (2006, 139). Mansbridge states that everyday talk also plays a necessary role in deliberation, despite it not always being deliberative, since it provides authenticity to deliberation (1999, 211). As she explains; "These uncivil forms of talk are also often necessary as means to the end of approaching both liberty and equality in deliberation. Sometimes only intensity in opposition can break down the barriers of the status quo" (Mansbridge 1999, 223).

As we can see, while originally deliberation did aim to have reasonable and calm discussion as the main method of deliberation, we can see that in order to adhere more closely to the principle of equal advancement and consideration and interests, deliberative democrats have broadened the definition of what counts as deliberation. In order to ensure that as many voices are heard in the deliberative process, calm and reasoned discussion will be replaced by other non-traditional methods of communication. Mind you, relaxing these conditions is predicated by the fact that these non-traditional forms of communication have to be intelligible to others. Even though we live in an age where cultural and other backgrounds that inform our thoughts and viewpoints are

more accessible than ever before, it does require some skill to present interests in a way that can be accessible to others. Nonetheless, the goal behind the principle of allowing participants to speak freely is to allow all participants to be understood on their own terms and to help others understand these terms.

#### **Deliberation as Skill Building**

As we know, participating in deliberative forums requires several skills. Some of these skills involve the ability to critically assess, understand and deliberate about shared and personal interests, the ability to communicate and critique these interests, and the ability to make reasonable judgements about the options available, among others that we can think of. On top of this, Hicks provides a good list of communicative skills used in deliberation in the following quote;

"If we translate these skills into a set of argumentative and communicative competencies, we come up with a list that includes: the ability for stakeholders to effectively analyze problematic situations, evaluate complex and competing evidence, marshal the reasons necessary to formulate one's needs and desires into a cogent and persuasive argument, listen critically to others' points of view, anticipate and refute objections, and possess the proficiency of political judgment required to synthesize one's position with those offered by other stakeholders in a manner that addresses the root of the problem or dispute without requiring an undue sacrifice of either party's convictions.(2002, 232)".

As will be more fully developed in the next chapter, the continuing practice of an activity should lead to development and improvement of the skills required by that activity. What this means for deliberation is that the more often that a participant engages in deliberative forums, the more developed their deliberative skills become. Moreover, all of these political skills should be considered crafts that are primarily learned experientially. The same is true for other forms of political participation as well. However, deliberative forums are supposed to be held more

frequently than elections and referendums, and thus give citizens more opportunities to develop their skills.

These claims will be more fully developed in the next chapter, but for now let us accept them for the sake of argument. If they are correct, political participation is a key aspect of democratic education, a Deweyan concept that entails experiential learning. What makes deliberation particularly compatible with the notions of politics as a craft, is that its very aims entail both empowered participants speaking freely and learning and clarifying individual and collective interests. Thus deliberative forums, following from Christiano's schema alone, have an educative component to them.

As Hicks stated above, participants can expect to develop their communicative and cognitive skills when they deliberate. However, the work of Archon Fung (2003, 2005) and Mark Warren (2001) shows that deliberative forums can also be effective when they are used to specifically develop participants' skills and improve their knowledge. Some deliberative democrats recognize the importance of these skills for empowerment. In short, in order for citizens to be properly empowered, they require having these skills well-developed. Moreover, deliberative democrats believe, following the lines of John Stuart Mill, that deliberative forums provide a good arena for individuals to exercise their skills. Moreover, as Fung and Olin Wright claim, these skills will atrophy if they are not used, and that deliberation offers a far more intense and rigorous method of improving political skill than other forms of political participation. As they explain; "Individuals' capacities to deliberate and make public decisions atrophy when left

unused, and participation in these experiments exercises those capacities more intensely than conventional democratic channels (Fung and Olin Wright 2001, 28).

This claim is one that is worth examining. How specifically can participation in a deliberative forum provide more intense political skill development than other forms of political participation? Let us draw comparisons between deliberation and political participation in aggregative forms of democracy, such as political campaigning and voting on the other hand to see some differences.

As stated earlier, publicity is an important value for deliberation, as elaborated by Gutmann and Thompson in their seminal work. To reiterate, publicity entails deliberation occurring in front of others. This involves participants have to defend their views and opinions in front of others. Although it should be noted that Simone Chambers (2004) argues that publicity can steer public reason (that is, the kind of reason that aspires to be universalisable and generalizable) to a form of plebiscitory reason that is shallow and makes appeal but still has general appeal (393, see also Elster 1995, 250-252). This plebiscitory reason that Chambers discusses resembles closely Yankelovich's public opinion (as opposed to public judgement) and the state of public opinion that Ackerman and Fishkin decry (2004). In short, this kind of public opinion is based on kneejerk reactions and public intuition and would change, so assert deliberative democrats, if they were put under the scrutiny of deliberative forums. The trouble with this kind of reason, states Chambers, is that it forces participants to please as many people as possible and be firm and decisive in the public eye. Moreover, Chambers believes that publicity can put undue pressure on

participants, and that deliberative secrecy can allow participants to speak freely and accept compromises more easily (Chambers 1994, 394).

Chambers argues that the small, private, "Socratic" elements of deliberation and the wider public element should be brought into one conversation. This proposal works to retain Gutmann and Thompson's principle of publicity while aiming to protect public reason from plebiscitory pressures. This means that even when deliberation occurs in camera, participants still face the pressure of having to frame their arguments according to public reason, that is, in some way that the public might accept (even though Bohman and Richardson 2009 take exception with this). This means that participants have to place great care in how they frame their arguments so that they might be accepted by other participants and ultimately, the public as a whole. To do this successfully obviously calls upon a variety of skills that not only involve communication and presentation, but also to reflect upon, critically analyze and assess, and possibly revise arguments to present them to other participants (see Goodin 2003). In this sense, the norm of publicity works to create an atmosphere where participants can develop their political skills freely.

In this sense, deliberation offers more opportunities than modes of political participation within aggregative democracy. The reason being is that publicity is not a guiding norm for aggregative democracy as it is for deliberation. It is certainly possible that aggregative democracy can focus itself on trying to produce discourse that mirrors public reason, through debate and campaign discourse for example. However, as the history of political campaigns points out, the discourse in aggregative democracy often degenerates into plebiscitory reason. The reasons why are many. Unlike deliberative functions, elections are proverbial horseraces that decide the winners and

losers of a finite set of political offices. Given the prizes of elections, it is no wonder that the tone and the nature of elections are different than that of deliberation. Given the competitive nature of elections, the skill sets necessary often focus on marketing (Lees-Marchment's 2001a, 2001b), strategizing, and even political manipulation. These are not the same skills that are deployed in deliberative forums, and as such participation in aggregative democracy develops different skills than participating in deliberation.

However, the fact that deliberation and aggregative democracy develops different skill sets does not necessarily mean that the former offers more intense skill development. As it stands, deliberation and elections develop different skills, and one can easily argue that political participants require both skill sets to be well-developed in order to be effective in the political arena. What makes deliberation a more intense way of developing political skill is that deliberative forums, if they were institutionalised, happen more frequently than elections, referendums, or any other function of aggregative democracy. Ideally, deliberative forums are to occur on a relatively frequent basis. Exactly how often they will occur is up to conjecture, but it is clear by looking at the writings of deliberative democrats that there ought to be more deliberative forums than elections and referendums. One possible exception might be Ackerman and Fishkin's Deliberation Day, a proposal which is supposed to occur two weeks before an election. If this is the only institutional deliberative forum that is to occur, then we only have a deliberative forum for every election. However, several deliberative forums have been held in other areas besides elections, candidates, and the issues.

John Stuart Mill and John Dewey posit that the repetition and frequent practice of a skill causes a participant to improve his or her capability in that skill. This claim will be explored in depth in the next chapter, but if this is the case, then deliberation does in fact offer a more intense program for developing political skills than participation in elections and other forms of aggregative democracy. The reason is because deliberation, once institutionalised, ought to occur more frequently than elections.

Moreover, there are deliberative projects that, along with working to identify and clarify interests, also focus on developing political skills among its participants. One of the most well-known examples are the National Issues Forums, which are deliberative forums that also wishes to increase the civic skills of participants. Other examples are the Pew Charitable Trusts and the Kaiser Family Foundation (Warren 2001). But as Ryfe points out, these forums have some limitations. "Each of these foundations dedicates itself to improving the critical skills of citizens. In so doing, however, they also work against the basic cognitive logic that motivates people to deliberate in the first place. Without feeling that the stakes are high, or that they are accountable for an outcome, individuals will be less willing to engage their critical faculties" (Ryfe 2005, 61).

This is an interesting point here. This means that in order for citizens to truly engage and develop their deliberative skills, they cannot merely participate in simulations, they have to participate in forums that have a real impact on political issues. Although, as Cammarano and Fowler (1997) show, simulations can be very effective in developing political skills among secondary school students. However, there are deliberative forums that are not simulations and also aim to empower political participants. Archon Fung chronicles a few examples of community projects

that not only has deliberative qualities but also empower participants to become more engaged in their community.

What is interesting about these projects is that these are reforms geared towards democratizing previously closed institutions that included both a deliberative element and a training aspect. Some of the examples of Fung and Olin Wright's study are functionally specific neighbourhood councils in Chicago, Illinois that used deliberation to have public officials engage with neighbourhood residents to identify problems in the community along with developing community-built solutions. These deliberative forums – focusing on police enforcement and public education – were intended to democratize formerly hierarchical and relatively closed bureaucracies. However, Fung and Olin Wright note that these bureaucratic reforms did not become truly successful until a training component was added in order to have participants develop their knowledge and skills. The public school reforms did not originally have the training component but had to be added because some school boards were not performing to their potential (Fung and Olin Wright 2001, 9). The Chicago Alternative Policing Strategy from its inception hired community organizers and trainers to go into the field and teach problem-solving skills to neighbourhood participants (Ibid., 10).

Another community project that Fung and Olin Wright examine is the Wisconsin Regional Training Project (WRTP). The WRTP focused on bringing workers and managers together to mutually solve industrial relations markets. Its aim was to create Worker Education Centres to provide ongoing skills training to employers. The interesting aspect of the WRTP is that it was designed primarily to be a training programme that was democratized to allow for all affected

parties to control how the training occurred. In other words, the WRTP is a democratically directed training programme. As Fung and Olin Wright explain;

"These centers are miniature schools located within firms that train workers in the most urgently needed basic or advanced skills. (...) These education centers embody the deliberative-democratic principles by shifting the power of design and implementation of incumbent-worker training from a state centered technical college system to decentralized, firm-based learning centers. Finally, many of these centers brought together managers and workers accustomed to operating on opposite sides of a bargaining table in a deliberative effort to solve training problems" (2001, 11).

So in short, these are training centres of schools that were designed to allow participants to exert democratic control over the design and implementation of its training through deliberative methods. While the WRTP is not precisely an example of a deliberative forum that has the added goal of improving the political skills of its participants, it is a good institutional example where deliberative practices and the development of skills are combined effectively.

The last of Fung and Olin Wright's examples that is highlighted here is the strengthening of local governance in West Bengal and Kerala, India between 1988 and 1996. These measures were done to curb local corruption by empowering local citizens in order to increase accountability and enhance administrative effectiveness. Like the municipal reforms in Chicago, the reforms in these Indian provinces included an education component focusing on developing skills along with implementing deliberative forums. As Fung and Olin Wright explain; "in 1997-98, some 300,000 participants attended these training "development seminars" where they learned basic self-governance skills. Actual planning processes involve more than 100,000 volunteers to develop village projects and more than 25,000 to combine these projects into village level plans" (2001, 16). Fung and Olin Wright report that not only were these reforms successful in fostering accountability and developing political skills, but the "sheer increase in village planning and

project formulation far outstripped the central state government's ability to assess the quality of the plans or reject poor ones, much less provide feedback to improve them" (Ibid.).

When they include a "training component" to develop the skills of participants, deliberative forums can be very successful in developing political skills in an open and accessible way. The examples from Fung and Olin Wright's study are good examples of this point. Moreover, if deliberative forums make even a simple commitment to integrate skill development into the flow of deliberation (as opposed to a separate skill development component to deliberation), we ought to see the further development of political skills among participants. To reiterate, developing political skills is key to mitigate against political mortification, which will improve the quality of political participation, empower participants, and allow democracies to move closer to meeting the principle of the equal advancement and consideration of interests.

Christiano argues that deliberative forums are a key reform that needs to be implemented in order to come closer to the principle of the equal advancement and consideration of interests. However, since we have concrete examples of deliberative forums that are effective in developing political skills, we can also surmise that deliberation, fitting with the argument advanced in this work so far, has the capacity to empower participants. In that sense, institutionalizing deliberative forums would go a long way to solving disempowerment.

This is consistent with the argument that will be developed next chapter. In short, the next chapter will argue that political skills are learned experientially through repeated practice.

Naturally, opportunities such as deliberation and even participating in political campaigns offer

political participants the chance to participate and develop their political skills. As stated earlier, deliberative forums ought to function even better than participating in adversarial forms of democracy since deliberation is supposed to happen more frequently than elections. As Fung and Olin Wright's research indicates, deliberative forums can develop the political skills of political participants very well when they are accompanied with learning modules.

# Can deliberative institutions fail to empower citizens or disempower?

What is left to consider is whether the project of empowerment can stop at institutionalizing deliberation or whether further work is needed outside of deliberative institutions to develop the political skills of democratic citizens. In order for this question to be answered, it is necessary to find instances where political mortification has come about in deliberative forums. In other words, if there are instances where deliberative forums have exacerbated the differences in political skills between participants, or have allowed those with better developed skills to unfairly dominate the discussion, then deliberative forums alone are not sufficient for successful empowerment of citizens.

Establishing such a claim does not negate the arguments presented above. Finding evidence where deliberative forums improve political skills shows that they can be successes when a focus is placed on developing political skills along with the other goals of deliberation. However, there are times when deliberative forums do not have the time or cannot include a skill development phase or aspect since it falls outside of their purpose or mandate. Moreover, it is certainly possible that there will be instances when skill development, since it is never a primary purpose of deliberation, can be put to the side in deliberative proceedings. Moreover, deliberative forums

require that participants put their skills to work in order to identify public reasons along with their interests, and as such, some participants will be better able to accomplish these tasks than others. A difference in skill among participants in deliberation is not necessarily a bad thing. As with any skill set, one can expect there to be people better at political participation than others. The difference in political skill only becomes a problem when it leads to political mortification. If there are instances when participation in deliberative forums can disempower participants, then deliberative forums are not enough to prevent political mortification. This means that further measures are required. This section will demonstrate that despite deliberative forums' successes in improving political skills, they function far better when participants already have well developed skills before entering into deliberation, since deliberative forums can at times reveal instead of mitigate against inequalities of skills.

Several scholars make this above point. As Gimmler states, deliberation is a communicative act, and that "each communicative act serves to reveal inequalities in knowledge, education, access to information, social status, language skills, and the like" (2001, 26). In and of itself, this might be not a problem, however, if this inequality does not lead to political mortification and leaves participants meeting Catt's standard of empowerment, then there is no problem. The same might be said for adversarial forms of participation as well. However, if the inequality of political skills revealed in deliberative forums has the potential to disempower its participants, then more reforms outside of deliberation are needed.

This view is compatible with that of several deliberative democrats. The difference in political skill is an inequality that concerns scholars of deliberative theory. As Hicks explains;

"Deliberators, if they are to enjoy equal rights of participation, must not only be granted access to important information and possess relative equality of resources; they must also be relatively equal in the capabilities needed to have their claims acknowledged and taken seriously (for example, possessing a disposition conducive to group discussion). Equality of political influence, thus, depends on the equal distribution of the capability to reason effectively and to speak eloquently." (2005, 231).

James Bohman goes even further and states that possession of these skills is a prerequisite for social freedom. Without these skills, he argues, participants are unable to advance their interests and live below the "political poverty line" (James Bohman 1997). Equality of political skill, or at least a smaller degree of inequality, is desirable in political deliberation. Knight and Johnson (1997, 281) argue that deliberation requires "equal capacity to advance persuasive claims" and mention the ability to reason and articulate ideas as part of that capacity. These are part of the deliberative skills mentioned earlier in this chapter.

As we have seen above, deliberative forums can improve the political skills of participants if a commitment is made by these forums to do so, usually by including a skill development phase or aspect. However, there are times when deliberative forums fail to improve the skills of participants, or have disempowered citizens by reinforcing it to the point where it discourages people from participating. One early objection to deliberative democracy (not necessarily the narrower definition of deliberation) was that it has the potential to reinforce inequalities developed in the educational sphere (political and communicative skills being part of that) and transferring them to deliberative arenas (Hooghe 1999, 7). Even if deliberative forums are as open and inclusive as possible, there is research that suggests that open procedures (as deliberative forums often aim to be) do not lead to equal access to decision-making (Verba, Scholzman, and Brady 1995). Hooghe also cites Young and Philips' work on discourse dominated by cultural hegemony as examples of how groups and individuals may not have their

voices heard in deliberation, even though more recent work has shown how deliberative forums can be adjusted to allow for non-traditional methods of speech.

Mendelberg (2002) further argues that even though highly skilled participants are desirable in deliberative forums, they pose a problem for what he calls the "egalitarian requirement of deliberation" (166). This requirement is that, as stated earlier, deliberative participants should enjoy near equality of political influence. Since well-educated participants are skilled and have an easier time identifying interests beyond their narrow self-interest (see Nie, Junn, and Stehlik-Barry 1996), they perform better in a deliberative setting than those with less skill. Mendelburg further argues that since higher education is strongly associated with a prosperous class position, people with higher education will often bring their own perspectives and interests, and since these participants have better developed skills, these interests will have a better airing than other interests (166, see also James 1959; Mansbridge 1980; Strodtbeck *et al.* 1957).

Even Fung's study of Chicago's local school councils (2003), which reported some positive work by deliberative forums to empower its participants, also reported that participation within the councils was tilted in favour of the well-off (111-116). Another worrisome finding was that within integrated schools, white parents and community members were overrepresented on the councils, taking up 85% of the seats while only taking up 50% of the population (Newman 2009, 71). Weatherford and McDonnell (2000, 2007) looked at participation in local school boards that employed deliberative forums in South Carolina, and found that discussion was dominated by well-educated and middle class participants once deliberation moved from the neighbourhood to the community level. This dominance, they noted, led to the failure to discuss racial disparities in

the education system, an issue that Weatherford and McDonald believe was a very salient issue at the time (2000, 20-22). Rosenberg's study of how Laguna Beach, California residents deliberated about the quality of K-12 education in their town revealed that their deliberations fell well short of deliberative ideals, specifically the deliberators' unwillingness to challenge social hierarchies and question existing norms (2007). This last point is particularly alarming given Dryzek's claims that deliberation ought to be used as a tool to challenge social norms and hierarchies. These examples lead Newman to conclude that, at least with education policy, "deliberation in practice is far less egalitarian than theory would have it – which necessitates greater caution in celebrating existing public fora (and in recommending more deliberative policy-making) than is typically exercised" (2009, 72-73).

Nonetheless, there are success stories where deliberative forums were able to empower participants and develop their political skills. Fung and Wright's work cited above are good examples. Other good examples are summarized by Karpowitz, Raphael, and Hammond (2009), where disempowered groups and individuals deliberate in their own enclaves away from empowered participants. The goal of this move, as Mansbridge states, is to allow the disempowered to "oscillate between protected enclaves, in which they can explore their ideas in an environment of mutual encouragement, and more hostile but also broader surroundings in which they can test those ideas against the reigning reality" (1996, 57, also see Dryzek 2000). Karpowitz, Raphael, and Hammond cite a consensus conference held by the Broadband Institute of California at Santa Clara University and the Center for Science, Technology and Society on municipal broadband and digital inclusion. As they explain; "instead of recruiting a community panel reflective of Silicon Valley as a whole, the organizers formed an enclave, each member of

which was a member of at least one of the groups that had the lowest rates of home access to commercial broadband at the United States at the time: low-income people, African Americans, Hispanics, seniors, the disabled, and rural residents" (2009, 585). They found that this deliberative enclave of traditionally disempowered groups has been successful in increasing participants' knowledge of the issues and experienced modest increases in feelings of empowerment and felt less alienated about civic engagement (Karpowitz, Raphael, and Hammond 2009, 602). These findings show that enclave deliberation can help empower traditionally disempowered individuals, fitting Catt's standard of empowerment provided earlier in this work, where participants feel empowered if they feel able to disagree with viewpoints being expressed (Karpowitz, Raphael, and Hammond 2009, 600, Table 3).

However, all of these instances were deliberative forums that made skill development one of its goals. The deliberative forums that failed to empower citizens might be said to have functioned more like typical deliberative forums that are geared towards advancing and considering interests, and identifying or forging public reasons for decisions. More often than not, deliberative forums tend to only focus on these goals alone. These deliberative forums did not focus on generally empowering their citizens, as in the Santa Clara broadband deliberative enclave, or developing skills as in Fung's examples.

Thus we have a mixed record for deliberative forums when it comes to empowering citizens. As Fung and Olin Wright note;

"even if both strong and weak are well represented, the strong may nevertheless use tools at their disposal—material resources, information asymmetries, rhetorical capacities—to advance collective decisions that unreasonably favor their interests. While many other models of public decision making such as electoral and interest group politics expect such behavior, empowered deliberation is more normatively demanding, and so perhaps more empirically suspect" (35).

When they incorporate the goal citizen empowerment and developing the skills of its participants, deliberative forums have a good track record when it comes to empowerment, not only through the development of political skills but also through directly seeking out and including groups and individuals that have traditionally not been a part of the discursive process. However, when no commitment is made, then their record is not as good. There are times when deliberative forums do not have the time or cannot include a skill development phase or aspect since it falls outside of their purpose or mandate. In the examples that Karpowitz, Raphael, and Hammond cite above, we find examples of such forums, and they failed to empower citizens, and in some cases, they made the situation worse.

As Ryfe states, deliberative democrats generally speaking, argue that "deliberation requires equality, and once achieved, equality will produce legitimacy. Any difficulty in realizing this equation is an empirical matter having to do with society, not deliberative theory" (53). We can see how Ryfe might make such a statement given Bohman's statements above. Although, it should be noted that there are theorists in deliberation that state that deliberative forums ought to work to create equality and empower its citizens (Fung and Olin Wight 2001, 32; see also Fung 2005).

Nonetheless, as Fung notes, deliberative forums would function better if unfavourable conditions were not present (2005, 401), and mentions the inequality of skills as something that can be improved on in deliberation under these unfavourable conditions (2005, 403). This egalitarian

demand is a high standard for deliberation to meet, something that is recognized by deliberative democrats. As Hicks states;

It takes immense skill to know when to initiate dialogue or when to engage in argument, and it takes considerable insight to know what should count as an authoritative reason to act. But I remain convinced that ordinary political actors possess both the skill and insight to construct and ratify the laws that bind them together. And, if some don't, then we, especially those of us that teach and write about communicative action, are mutually obligated to construct the spaces where those skills can be acquired and to design deliberative forums conducive to the communicative and reasoning styles of all. (2002, 256).

Further to Hicks' point, it also takes skill to identify and challenge problems that arise when deliberation occurs in the unfavourable conditions that Fung mentions, along with devising and applying remedies within the forums themselves. Hayward (2004) is more pessimistic and states that the challenge of ensuring that all citizens are equally recognized in deliberative forums may be an intractable problem that is impossible to solve with the parameters of deliberative theory. This work takes the view that is closer to Hicks'. There is little doubt that a great deal of skills is needed to deliberate effectively, and that these skills are needed by participants if deliberation is to function well.

I disagree with Hayward in that empowerment – at least as has been defined in this work – is not an intractable problem. To reiterate, a participant is said to be empowered when he or she feels able to contradict the views, statements, and opinions of a group or individual that is speaking. Whereas some deliberative democrats along with Hayward argue that equality along several dimensions – skills being one of them – is necessary in deliberation, the goal of empowerment as outlined in this thesis is not that lofty of a goal. The goal of empowering citizens does not require creating an equitable distribution of skills. It is possible to have some participants more skilled than others and still have all participants meet the standard of empowerment defined above.

Instead, skills should be developed so that each participant feels empowered to the point to challenge even the most skilled participant. Perhaps by relaxing the high demands of equality along several variables to focus more on empowerment as this work defines it, deliberation might function better as advocates hope.

Where Ryfe and Hayward are somewhat correct is that empowering citizens might be easier to accomplish outside of the confines of deliberation. Put another way, deliberative forums might function better if participants felt empowered before entering into deliberation, instead of hoping that deliberation will empower citizens through participation. Even though deliberative forums are necessary for the equal advancement and consideration of interests and they have the capability of aiding participants to develop their skills, we have seen instances where deliberation has failed to do this. Certainly work can be done to improve things so that deliberative forums occur in non-ideal settings, but they would function better if the forums began under much more ideal conditions. This means that the development of political skill might be best achieved by programmes that function outside of political participatory functions such as deliberative forums, and are dedicated strictly to developing political skills. How this can be done is the focus of the next chapter.

# CHAPTER 4: POLITICS AS A CRAFT: IMPROVING THE QUALITY OF POLITICAL PARTICIPATION

As we have seen so far, disempowerment frustrates the principle of equal advancement and consideration of interests, which in turn affects the quality of political participation. The higher quality of political participation there is in a democracy, then it is more likely that citizens will be better able to advance, learn about, and consider their interests. But when there are large segments of the citizenry that are disempowered, then the quality of political participation suffers, and as a result, a democracy will be less able to meet the principle of equal advancement and consideration of interests.

To reiterate, disempowerment can occur in two different ways. Firstly, it can occur when there is an unequal distribution of power. Solving this is straightforward: power must be distributed more equitably. However, the other form of disempowerment which has been defined as political mortification, can occur when all participants have some degree of equality in terms of formal power. This type of disempowerment occurs when individuals and groups' political skills are not sufficient to meet Catt's standard of empowerment, where an individual or group does not feel comfortable contradicting the views that are being stated in discussion.

This standard does not require that all participants have the same level of skill. Such a situation is impossible to achieve. The goal is simply to have individuals empowered to the point where they criticize the statements and opinions of others. As suggested in the previous chapter, in order to meet this standard of empowerment, it is necessary to develop the political skills for the citizens in a democracy. As we saw in the previous chapter, participating in deliberative forums can help

develop these skills in situations where skills development is a stated goal of the deliberative forum. Archon Fung's research has yielded several examples where deliberative forums have succeeded in developing political skills.

Even though some deliberative democrats are concerned with developing participants' skills, this is not a primary goal of deliberation. Within the schema of this work, deliberartive forums are to provide citizens an opportunity to gain a better understanding of individual and group interests which is in constant need of improvement. From that better understanding, the public decides whether to support or reject various opinions. As the previous chapter showed, there are instances where participants felt more disempowered after they left the deliberative forum, and that this disempowerment came about because of the difference of skill between political participants. Moreover, because of the strong demands that deliberative theory makes in terms of political equality, deliberative forums would function better if participants were sufficiently empowered before entering into deliberation instead of hoping that they become empowered through deliberative participation.

The purpose of this chapter is to provide a theoretical framework to empower citizens through the development of skills. The purpose of which is to have citizens empowered before entering into deliberative forums, or any other form of political participation for that matter. However, particular attention ought to be given to deliberative forums which require a high standard of citizen empowerment. To reiterate, deliberative forums ought to function better with previously empowered citizens participating, given that deliberation may not always be successful at empowering citizens through skills development. With participants already sufficiently

empowered to mett Catt's standard of empowerment - where they feel that they can disagree with statements made by the majority of participants, the quality of political participation will increase, thus allowing participatory forums to more closely approximate the principle of the equal advancement and consideration of interests.

This chapter will argue that political participation requires a set of skills, and that political participation is a craft, where political skills are learned primarily experientially through trial and error. The learning of political skills entails employing different strategies and techniques in different situations, evaluating them in light of their successes or failures, and altering in light of those successes and failures. Firstly, I will argue that political participation requires a skill set, and the effective practice of these skills is necessary in the political arena. Certain political skills are needed in order to be successful in both adversarial and deliberative spheres of democracy.

Moreover, this will argue that these political skills are crafts. A craft is learned experientially through trial and error. This section will borrow heavily from John Dewey, and like him, I will argue that the development of politics as a craft occurs within the locus of what Dewey called democratic education. Political craft is learned by the individual trying various methods and strategies in the public sphere, learning from whatever mistakes they make, and trying again. In short, one learns from experience and by experimenting. However, the experiential learning of political craft should not occur entirely without any form of constraint whatsoever. The norms of appropriate conduct within the political sphere as well as previous experience in similar situations can serve as useful boundaries for the student of political craft. Also, the student in political craft can benefit from learning from those who are more politically skilled as well.

However, this learning can occur within the rubric of a master-apprentice relationship, where the student learns experientially under the guidance of a more politically experienced teacher.

Secondly, this chapter will look at defining active political participation. It is here defined as a genuine attempt to help advance an interest<sup>13</sup> in the public sphere. It differs from passive forms of political participation, which involve mostly information gathering and reflective consideration of interests and preferences. While they are different, both types of actions are defined here as types of political participation, since these actions are a constitutive part of the principle of equal consideration of interests. From that point, I will provide a taxonomy of different types of active political participation. Also, it will be explained how each of these types of active political participation constitute a skill and how these skills are learned experientially.

## **Defining Political Participation As A CraftThe Skill of Political Participation**

People participate in politics in order to achieve certain social goods. Political participants believe that achieving these social goods will improve their well-being. Not only do political participants want to achieve these goods, they are willing to invest their own resources in order to achieve them.

In a democracy, however, attaining these social goods requires the consent of others. There are different ways in which this consent is achieved. This is done by convincing undecided people

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup> An important caveat has to be placed here. Christiano argues that our individual and collective knowledge is imperfect and is in constant need of improvement. This means that a political participant can be wrong about their interests, and can advance preferences for something that is not in their interest. Even though they might be wrong, they might genuinely think that that what they are arguing for is in their interest. This is the case despite the fact that evidence or debate might convince them otherwise. While they are wrong about their interests, they are nonetheless participating in the public sphere. This is why I say that that anyone who genuinely attempts or helps to advance an interest should be considered an active political participant.

about the benefits of these goods, or by talking about the drawbacks of not achieving them, or both. Moreover, this debate occurs against a backdrop of deep political disagreement. In this case, it means that not everyone will get their way with what they want to achieve. Because of this, invariably there will be winners and losers, since some will be successful in attaining their desrired goods and others will not.

Christiano used this line of argument to justify the principle of equal advancement and consideration of interests, fair decision-making procedures in both adversarial and deliberative spheres of democracy, and an equal distribution of political resources. However, a key element of democratic decision-making is how the argument is made; what methods and strategies are used in order to convince people, and that there are some participants who are better able to devise these strategies than others, just as there are those who are better able to argue, persuade, and call upon relevant information in the public sphere in order to convince others of their views. In short, the differing levels of ability among political participants can be a key factor in deciding which side wins.

Moreover, all of these activities; devising strategies, debating and arguing with others, and convincing people of one's views are skills. The better a participant practices these skills, then they are more likely to be successful in convincing others of their views, all things being equal. Not only are these skills employed in aggregative forms of democracy such as elections and referendum campaigns, but they are also used in deliberative forums. The purpose of deliberation, as defended in this work, is to provide a space where individuals can advance and learn about their own interests and those of others. If participants do not want one's preferences

to be rejected, they have to convince others of their desirability. If they do not have the adequate skills in rhetoric and argumentation, then they will not be able to convince others of their views, and their arguments will be rejected.

Political skills are not strictly limited to communicative skills such as argument, debate, and rhetoric, or the devising and implementing of political strategies. As Goodin (2003) explains, political deliberation has an inward, reflective component along with a public, discursive dimension. It entails making judgements, weighing of different arguments and evidence, understanding how different choices and values can or cannot be reconciled, and re-evaluating one's choices in light of social and political realities. These reflective or cognitive/rational faculties should be considered skills as well. Some participants will be better able to make these connections in their minds than others, and the history of political campaigns is rife with examples of mistakes made both in assumption and in judgment. As we can imagine, these cognitive skills, just like the communicative and organizational skills described above, are needed in both adversarial democracy and deliberative democracy.

#### **Political Craft**

Defining political activities as skills entails two things. Firstly, it means accepting that political participants have varying levels of ability in employing these skills, and secondly, it means that a participant can improve their level of proficiency in these activities. Two questions need to be considered at this point. First, how do citizens in a democracy learn and improve these skills, and why do we want them to do so?

The second question will be answered first. If more citizens develop their political skills, then they will be better able to identify and understand what they want in terms of policy. This in turn will make them more capable in achieving their objectives because they have a clearer sense of what those objectives are and which candidates or groups more closely can present those objectives to them. This should improve the quality of political participation, and in turn empower the citizenry. To reiterate, an empowered person is someone who feels that they can enter into a debate, disagree and interrupt the proceedings and disagree with what is being said. The empowered person not only feels that her interests are worthy of consideration by others, she also thinks that she is capable of convincing others of her views. Moreover, a person with well developed political skills can more easily flesh out their interests than someone with less developed skills. Often individuals will have a faint or undeveloped idea of their interests. They might know what they want, but will not have considered some of the consequences or implications of those interests, or are not entirely sure which arguments and reasons they could give to convince others of their views. A participant with well developed argumentative and deliberative skills can come up with these arguments much more easily, quickly recognize which arguments do not work, and revise those arguments and come up with new ones when necessary. A person with well developed political skills can also identify how their interests are compatible or conflict with other interests, either through discussion with others or with internal reflection.

Anyone would want this kind of citizen in a democracy. Deliberative forums provide the arena in which the learning of interests happens, but as we saw earlier, deliberative forums would function much better if citizens already are empowered and have well-developed skills. This kind of citizen may not be interested in every single political issue that may come up for discussion.

In fact, it is highly unlikely that democracies will have citizens that are interested in every political debate. Helping citizens to develop their skills is not necessarily to drive up the amount of political participation in a democracy, even though some increases should happen. The aim of politics as a craft is simply to help citizens in a democracy develop their argumentative and deliberative skills in order to empower them, so that citizens feel capable of entering into any facet of the democratic process and making a positive contribution.

On the surface, helping citizens develop their political skills will have a salutary effect on a democracy that aims to meet the principle of equal advancement and consideration of interests. Along with being better able to advance their interests, citizens will be better able to identify, critique, and challenge any forms of internal exclusions and the hegemoic discourse if and when they stand to disempower citizens. How can skills be developed? I will make the case that this development occurs via political participation, and also through education in schools. But at this point, we will look at how these skills are learned experientially.

#### John Stuart Mill, John Dewey, and democratic education

We get the term "experiential learning" from John Dewey, the noted 20<sup>th</sup> century American philosopher. Dewey famously coined the phrase "learning by doing", and his work has had a great influence in political theory and education theory, and he was also a close adviser to Kemal Ataturk in helping devise education curriculums for Turkey (Büyükdüvenc 1994). Dewey borrowed heavily from John Stuart Mill, who in many ways had a profound influence on the theory of deliberative democracy as well, which will be evident in the analysis in this section.

As we have seen in previous chapters, there is a tradition in liberalism, originating with John Stuart Mill, that stresses the educative possibilities of democratic participation. As Macpherson (1977) argues, Mill was the originator of "developmental democracy". Mill's understanding of liberal democracy signified a fundamental shift in liberalism away from seeing democratic institutions as primarily protective devices for rights and property to a means to help newly enfranchised individuals and groups develop their understanding of democratic institutions, along with the issues that are being discussed (Macpherson 1977, 57-58). Mill hoped that using democratic participation as educative tools would improve the quality of political participation, however his reasons were very different than what has been presented in this work. In essence, Mill feared that newly enfranchised citizens would make policy demands that would threaten liberal democratic institutions, especially property rights (Ibid., 57)<sup>14</sup>. Participation in the political arena, Mill hoped, would teach newly enfranchised citizens that the liberal democratic system of rights and political institutions had value.

Mill believed that political participation was necessary for moral and mental self-development, which includes the development of argumentative and deliberative skills. "Having said that individuality is that same thing with development, and that it is only the cultivation of individuality which produces or can produce, well developed human beings" (Mill *On Liberty* 1993, 131-132)<sup>15</sup>. In order for development to occur, individuals needed to question thoroughly

-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14</sup> Mill's fear of class legislation is why he advocated plural voting in *Considerations on Representative Government*, Ch. 8, where those with the most education would have more votes, but everyone, no matter what their education level, would be given at least one vote.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>15</sup> As Garforth explains, the free exchange of ideas and debate according to Mill places society and the individual in a symbiotic relationship vis-à-vis their own development. "There is thus a circular (or perhaps spiral) process of mutual influence and response: values are injected into society by the activities of its individual members; society in its turn, by the formative influence it inevitably exerts on those who live in it, moulds other individuals, notably children, into the same patterns of commitment", F. W. Garforth, *Educative Democracy*, Oxford: Oxford University Press, p. 15.

all conventions in society in order to generate debate, and from this individuals would not only develop themselves morally, but also better understand their own values and interests. As Mill explains; "(T)o conform to custom, merely as custom, does not educate or develop man any of the qualities which are the distinctive endowment of a human being. The human faculties of perception, judgment, discriminative feelings, mental activity, or even moral preference are exercised only in making a choice. He who does anything because it is a custom makes no choice" (*On Liberty* 126; McPherson 1982, 255). According to Mill, the educative process of political debate and discussion continues throughout one's life and occurs within the framework of political institutions. As Geraint Perry explains, "institutions should offer the opportunity to learn about political possibilities, about the legitimate claims of others and come to reassess their own positions. Government acts as a school. There is (...) a continuing process of reformation of character, starting in youth and encouraged through life" (1999, 32).

Mill, much like Christiano after him, believes that this debate occurs against a backdrop of deep disagreement. He believes that hearing someone express wrong opinions is beneficial not only to the person who is expressing wrong opinions, but also for those doing the correcting, since they get to exercise their argumentative and deliberative skills. For Mill, the "open clash between earnestly-held ideals and opinions about the nature and the good life" was necessary for individual and social progress (Waldron 1987, 414; Zivi 2006, 58). Not only must democratic politics function with disagreement and debate, it is also necessary for self-development. Moreover, the perennial debate that Mill wishes to occur in the public sphere must entail mutual respect for others (or what he called temperance) and be as inclusive as possible. Temperance should serve "as a tool to safeguard the space for different voices and perspectives, to allow

outrage and divergent opinions a place in politics, and to make space for that one voice, that one person with a contrary opinion at risk of being muted" (Zivi 2006, 58). The other benefit of constant debate is that it gives participants the opportunity to practice their skills in judgement. As Zivi explains; "Like any other muscle, it [judgement] must be exercised in order for it to remain strong, and it can be exercised through lively discussion that forces us to examine our deeply held beliefs. Thus it is through acting on our opinions and challenging presumed truths that we exercise and improve the very faculties which makes us human" (2006, 58).

From Mill we get the notion that the public sphere is the crucible where new ideas and interests are discussed, allows individuals to accept and/or reject interests and understand why they might be rejected or accepted, and gives participants the chance to learn about their interests and those of others. However, Mill also stressed the educative functions that participation in public discussions provides. Not only does debate and discussion allow individuals to develop their argumentative, discursive, and reflective skills, but according to Mill it also helps individuals develop their characters. Moreover, Mill does not believe that this development is ever complete; it should continue throughout one's life.

John Dewey took this idea of the educative capacities of political participation and further developed it. Dewey, along with C. Wright Mills, took Mill's theory of the public sphere and further fleshed out the idea of the public sphere as a crucible for the refinement of ideas. For Dewey, this process occurred under a free play or interaction of ideas, where individuals are constantly engaging the real world and working to solve problems. "Dewey's central concern is reflective thinking and action, in order to solve problematic situations through inquiry and to

achieve an adaptation between the subject in action and his or her environment" (Bauer 2003, 219).

For Dewey, problem solving was part of the human condition. Dewey saw that the human experience involved making a set of choices and it is ultimately up to the individual to decide what set of choices were best. For Dewey, education provides the individual with the skills necessary to make these decisions, and imparts direction and internal control through the identity of interest and understanding (Dewey 1944, 39-40). As he explains; "The school is primarily a social institution. Education being a social process, the school is simply that form of community life in which all those agencies are concentrated that will be most effective in bringing the child to share in the inherited resources of the race, and to use his own powers for social ends.... education, therefore, is a process of living and not a preparation for future living" (Dewey 2004, 19).

Dewey identified two different approaches to education – the democratic approach and the conservative approach. The conservative view of education builds the mind from the outside (Dewey 1944, 69). It takes a rigorous and systematic approach to education, aiming to impose various sets of rules, principles, and instructions on the students to help them make their decisions. Dewey is highly critical of the conservative model of education, and blames it for causing what he believed to be restrictive social enquiry (Dewey 1927, 208). His reasons follow Millian lines. If individuals never question social values and interests, then these values eventually gain control over individuals and society. While Dewey is not as individualist as Mill was, he nonetheless believes that individuals – even though he conceives them as social beings –

ought to be in control of society rather than tradition and ossified dogmas. Values and interests must be individually constructed within a social setting (Dewey 1944, 76), whether in schools or the public sphere (or deliberative forums today). However, the challenging of these values has pedagogical value. Not only would students learn why these values are important, which is what Mill emphasised, but they would also learn to challenge and reconstruct them so to keep these values fluid and under the student's control. On the other hand, the conservative values control the decisions of students. As Perry explains; "pupils are invited repeatedly to reinterpret their experiences in the light of their transactions with the environment. They are not to understand themselves as spectators but as involved in an exchange with their surroundings in which they offer hypotheses which are to be tested by acting upon the world, but which are treated as fallible" (1999, 32, see also Tiles 1988; Ryan 1995, 128-130).

Dewey believed that education should teach students to treat the public sphere as an arena of perennial social inquiry, and give them the tools to question actively society's values, if for nothing else than to retain control of their own values, norms, and interests. Dewey argues that democratic education, which stresses experiential learning, best equips these students with these skills. In a democratic system of education, the student learns primarily from her own experience. In short, a democratic education involves four steps; 1) the student undertakes her own path in solving whatever problems she might face, and develop her own rules or strategies to solve these problems; 2) the student applies these self-created rules or strategies to solve these problems; 3) the student re-examines his self-developed strategies from the experiences of attempting to solve these problems; and 4) the student alters and develops new strategies in light of her experiences, and tries again.

Put another way, democratic education happens through trial and error. Moreover, the goal of democratic education is to have the student develop intelligence more easily. I use "intelligence" in the strict medical sense of the word, which means the ability to learn from one's mistakes (Arvey et al. 1994; Neisser et al. 1996). In order for intelligence to develop, the student must make her own mistakes, which means that the student must embark on her own experiences in order to learn. Democratic education is not a straightforward and smooth path. Conservative education takes that kind of path and entails memorisation and habitualisation, but democratic education entails almost dialectical learning, where lessons are learned from experiences and counter-experiences. Students are to learn from not only good experiences but also bad ones, and alter their strategies when it is necessary.

As Bauer describes it (2003, 215), the difference between a democratic education and a conservative one is where under the latter instruction occurs under rigid instruction, the former allows for a dynamic free play of individual experience. "Generally this dynamic can be found where the interactions with the environment lead to a unified and self-sufficient experience (in the sense of 'having an experience'). This experience is based on a dynamic organisation of its different facets by giving form or expression. (...) Dewey describes the artist's work like any other genuine process of expression: it puts into motion an experience 'that one does not know where it is going'". As Dewey himself puts it; "education must be interactive rather than passive because the elements of the method of inquiry can be internalised only when they are practiced. When they are practiced, they become habitual" (Dewey *Middle Works*, "Thinking in Education", 9: 12, see also Savage 2002, 100).

Given that democratic education is driven by experiential learning, one might wonder what role a teacher might have in this process. The purpose of the educator is not to indoctrinate the student, but help the student learn on her own. In a democratic system of education, the instructor plays the role of the more experienced learner. The instructor must not rely on "simple formulas or cookie-cutter routines" in order to teach, but rather he should draw from his experiences to both help his students and re-adapt his teaching strategies. Relying on dogmas and formulas will leave the teacher unable to deal with complex or new problems that might arise, and in turn will produce students that are unable to adapt to new situations. This in turn will produce a conservative society where tradition and dogma are never questioned (Savage 2002, 110; Sleeper 1988, 124). The teacher is not there to impart the truth but rather create the conditions by which the student comes to learn the truth through the messy and nonlinear method of dialectical learning<sup>16</sup>. Therefore, the relationship between the teacher and the student in democratic education should be similar to that of a master and apprentice. In this kind of pedagogical relationship, the apprentice tries to solve problems and challenges on his own, and the master provides guidance and instruction whenever necessary. The teacher corrects the student whenever the student is having trouble solving a problem that the teacher has already seen before. The teacher instructs his apprentice drawing primarily from experience, and the teacher must be willing to revise his strategies and instructions whenever it is needed<sup>17</sup>.

1

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>16</sup> Dewey is not only borrowing from Mill but also from Plato. In the *Gorgias*, Socrates suggests that continued practice of the dialectic would improve one's capacity to exercise it. Socrates, echoing Dewey and Mill centuries later, submits that true education cannot occur with the teacher simply imparting the answers to the students, but must come about only through what we call today the Socratic method, which involves answering questions and revising one's answers whenever they are shown to be false. See J. Peter Euben, *Corrupting Youth*, Princeton, NJ: Princeton University Press.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>17</sup> A good discussion about the appropriate role of an instructor and apprentice in an atmosphere of learning by doing is John Heron, "The Politics of Facilitation: Balancing Facilitator Authority and Learner Autonomy" in John Mulligan and Colin Griffin, ed., *Empowerment Through Experiential Learning: Explorations of Good Practice*.

In some sense, democratic education not only involves experiential learning, but also experimental learning. The student has to experiment with his self-developed strategies in the controlled atmosphere provided by the classroom. In this way, democratic education resembles a laboratory in some ways (Tanner 1997), where students perform experiments that the teachers will know the results beforehand, and are done strictly so that students learn on their own what the results of the experiments will be. At other times, the results of the experiments will be unknown to both teacher and student, and are done to advance the body of knowledge. When previously successful strategies do not work, both student and instructor must be willing to revise past strategies in light of new experiences.

Dewey's theory of democratic education completes Mill's argument for the necessity for citizens to continuously practice their political judgement in the public sphere. Democratic education gives the citizens the chance to develop their skills at an early age, and has them ready to participate in the public sphere effectively when (or if) they wish to participate in politics. If these argumentative, communicative, and deliberative skills are developed at an early age, then a citizen will show more aptitude in political participation. With more developed political skills, citizens will be better able to defend their own interests in the political arena. Moreover, they will be better able to understand when and how interests are compatible with each other, and when they are not. Because of this, they will be better able to know what they want in terms of policy and/or candidates, and learn when and how to compromise when what they want is no longer feasible. By having more developed political skills, citizens can better be able to achieve

what they want, or at the very least, they can have a greater impact in the decision-making process, thus creating more empowered citizens.

Moreover, I argued in earlier chapters that improving the skill of political participants will improve the quality of political participation, and doing so will empower citizens. If citizens feel that they have the adequate skills to make an effective contribution, then they will feel comfortable with contradicting the opinions of others in any given discussion. A political discussion that has more empowered citizens will be better able to meet the principle of the equal advancement and consideration of interests. If empowering citizens and improving the quality of political participation are goals that we should take seriously, then improving the skills of citizens is something that democracies should do. This much should be obvious. From Dewey, however, we get a theory of how individuals learn these skills. They are learned experientially through trial and error. Through Dewey's theory of learning by doing, we get a decentred approach to improving political skills, where the only things that are necessary for the improvement of political skills in a democratic society is the creation of arenas where citizens can improve their skills, and school curriculums that help students develop their skills. As we will see in the sixth chapter, there were school programs, university courses, and adult education programs at the beginning of the 20<sup>th</sup> century that focused on developing political skills. The exercises used in these textbooks very closely resembled mock deliberative forums. Moreover, there have been several exercises in more recent times in civics classes that focused on political experiential learning. The results of these exercises saw students gain a new appreciation for the democratic process and feel empowered about their ability to influence a political decision.

Political participation must be treated as a craft if a democracy is to empower its citizens and improve the quality of political participation. Whenever citizens participate in political arenas, education and development of political skills must be stressed along with the other purposes of political participation. However, if participants already have well developed political skills before entering into the political arena, then political forums will come closer to realizing the principle of the equal advancement and consideration of interests. This means that stressing the educative elements of various forms of political participation, along with developing of political skills at an early age, is necessary if citizens are to be empowered.

Dewey, like Mill, saw political education as a lifelong process and is inexorably linked with political participation. Democracy, like education, was a way of life that did not find its expression in institutions alone (Dewey 1939, 125). There is a parallel of course between Dewey's understanding of political education and Christiano's theory of democracy allowing the equal advancement and consideration of interests, since Chrstiano understands that an important part of the democratic process is the constant updating and revising of the interests. However understanding politics as a craft conceives democracy as more than just the learning of the interests, it is also the means by which individuals develop their argumentative and deliberative skills.

## **Developing Skills Through Political Participation**

#### **Defining Political Participation**

This section will spell out how political participation functions as a craft, and how political skills are learned experientially through participation. Active political participation is here defined as a genuine attempt to assist advancing the interests of a group or individual. Moreover, an act of active political participation should present the participant the opportunity to learn about the interests and preferences of others, or develop their deliberative and argumentative skills, or both. Political participation, at least according to the arguments presented so far in this work, aims to not only provide opportunities to learn about and advance one's interests, but also develop the skills that allow for a participant to better and more effectively advance interests and learn about them.

At this point, the difference between active and passive forms of political participation will be delineated. Passive forms of political participation only meet the second condition in the definition of political participation listed above, whereas forms of active political participation meets both conditions. The example of a town hall will illustrate my point. In a town hall meeting, as we know, citizens of a town are invited to gather and discuss an important and pressing issue facing the town at the moment. Some town halls will have guest speakers and experts make submissions, or some citizens themselves will make presentations or speeches. Some will disagree and others will agree with what is being said. Moreover, some participants will ask questions of the participants, usually because they want their point of view clarified, or because they want to explore the implications of their arguments. And of course, there will be

others who sit, watch, and listen to the proceedings, and do not say a word throughout the entire town hall meeting.

Everyone attending the town hall is participating, albeit in different ways. The non-speakers participated passively, and while they did not even assist others in advancing their interests, they nonetheless showed up at the meeting. Even though they did not say anything, this is certainly more activity than anyone who is disinterested and disempowered in the political process. Moreover, we could surmise that these non-speakers are empowered, as long as they feel that they can jump in the debate and disagree with what is being said.

There are many reasons why someone at a town hall might remain silent. One might agree with what is being said and does not want to drag out the proceedings by adding to the chorus of consensus. Another reason why a person might not speak is because they want to know more about the topic being discussed. The town hall is not only an arena where people of conflicting interests have it out in a debate, it is also where others learn about these interests and make judgements about them. Judgement, as Mill argued earlier, is a skill that requires development and practice, much like the ability to reason and determine how different interests are in conflict and can be reconciled. In a town hall, citizens are given the opportunity to practice and develop their reflective skills. They are passively participating because they are exercising their internal reflective skills in making political judgements. With more developed reflective skills, these passive participants are developing a better understanding of what they want. Thus when it comes time to register their preferences, they can do so with a clearer sense of their own

expectations and the nature of the disagreement that exists over an issue. Moreover, if and when they decide to actively participate in the future, they can put what they learned into practice and become more effective political participants in subsequent opportunities to participate. Zukin *et al.* explain it well. "Cognitive engagement is necessary – though not sufficient – for effective citizenship. Moreover, participation stimulates cognitive engagement, and in turn, stirs people to further action, whether civic or political" (2006, 54).

Other activities that fall into the category of passive participation are 1) gathering information from newspapers, television, radio, and the Internet, 2) joining and/or paying membership fees for NGOs and political parties, 3) attending political meetings and discussions, and 4) listening to the proceedings. Some might call these forms of participation cheap (Jordan and Maloney 1998), but they play a valuable role in a liberal democracy in two ways. Firstly, passive forms of political participation provide the groundwork for active participation. Without it, active participation is impossible, or at best, highly ineffective. To state the obvious, passive participants are more likely to actively participate than apathetic citizens. As stated earlier, passive participation entails cognitive engagement, which in turn can provide the impetus for future participation as well as spur interest for continued political participation. Secondly, even those citizens who are only slightly engaged in the process are much more likely not to feel resentful against democracy that promotes meaningful citizen participation.

## A Taxonomy of Political Participation

From this definition provided above, we can construct a taxonomy of political participation. This allows us to observe which forms of political participation have increases or decreases of participation, and thus make empirical observations about how citizens as a whole feel about political participation and what it can achieve. Using this taxonomy and applying it to the drops and rises of political participation might give us a more accurate picture of the state of political participation, especially if we were to investigate the reasons why participation in each form is up or down. This allows for a more nuanced picture of political participation to arise, and allows us to make more meaningful observations about the decline or increase of political participation than merely saying it is going up or down. This taxonomy is important for this work because it will make it easier to explain how three different types of political participation function as crafts, instead of trying to explain how hundreds of different forms of participation function as crafts.

Besides using this taxonomy as a type of argumentative shorthand, it is an improvement on the current taxonomies of political participation currently in the literature. The most prevalent taxonomy in the literature is the dichotomy of "traditional" and "non-traditional" forms of political participation. Barnes and Kaase (1979) labels acts of civil disobedience and civic activism, such as participating in demonstrations, signing petitions, and engaging in boycotts as "non-conventional" forms of political participation, in contrast with traditional forms of political participation such as voting, joining a political party, and writing letters to elected representatives. Inglehart and Catterberg (2002) come up with a different terminology, demarcating between elite-directed forms of political participation and elite-challenging forms of

participation (301). Elite-directed forms of political participation, they claim, are bureaucratised and are controlled and dominated by elites, while elite-challenging forms of political participation are individually motivated (Ibid.).

There are a few reasons why the dichotomy between conventional and non-conventional forms of political participation is not useful. Firstly, it is not entirely clear how these scholars use the term "conventional". They could be using it in a historical sense. That is to say, "conventional" could be understood as meaning that forms of political participation such as voting and writing letters to elected representatives are the more traditional and common forms of political participation, while non-conventional forms have come along later and are less likely to be engaged in by groups and individuals.

However, voting and writing to elected representatives are not conventional in the historical sense. Forms of civic activism and civil disobedience such as protests and strikes have been occurring in the United States, Canada, and the United Kingdom for over a century. Some minorities, most notably women, were engaging in forms of civic activism and civil disobedience long before they received the right to vote. In the cases of the suffragette movement and other similar women's rights movements, the *satyagraha* movement in India, and the civil rights movement in the United States, various groups and individuals have used so-called nonconventional forms of political participation to lobby for the right to participate in conventional forms of participation. In a historical sense, it would be wrong to say that various forms of civic activism and civil disobedience are non-conventional.

Inglehart and Catterberg use the dichotomy of elite-controlled forms of political participation and elite-challenging forms of political participation. This dichotomy is more plausible than Barnes and Kaase's dichotomy. However, conventional forms of political participation are not necessarily elite controlled. Elites do not generally control the voting process, and voting also can be used to challenge elites just as much as civic activism can. All forms of political participation, including ones that Inglehart and Catterberg call elite-controlled, can be a means to express discontent with the status quo. For example, constituents will not write their elected representatives to express their satisfaction. Rather they will write to express some form of discontent. The same can also be said for voting. While there are voters who vote to keep the incumbents in office, it is also true that several voters use the vote as a form of protest against the incumbents.

Both elite-controlled and elite-challenging forms of political participation can often be used to achieve similar goals. Voters will vote either as a form of protest and use their vote against the status quo, or at times will vote to support it because they do not prefer the alternatives. While it is often the case that forms of civic activism are used to challenge the status quo, they can also be used to maintain it. Various abortion rights groups in the United States are good examples of this. Neither Inglehart and Catterberg's or Barnes and Kaase's distinctions are useful because any given type of political participation can have different aims, and that the same type of political participation can be used to challenge elite control as well as reinforce it. Because of this, the conclusion that Inglehart and Catterberg make about the purpose of political participation shifting to challenging elites from reinforcing elite consensus is on shaky ground.

Simply because there is more civic activism than ever does not necessarily mean liberal democratic institutions are being challenged. This cannot be the case, since one of the hallmarks of a liberal democracy is the institutionalisation of the right to dissent. Moreover, as has been spelled out so far in this thesis, political participants with well-developed skills can apply these skills to critiquing imbalances of former power, internal exclusions and the dominance of a hegemonic discourse. Developing this kind of critique may at times mean critiquing democratic institutions for moving away from the principle of the equal advancement and consideration if interests by allowing informal imbalances of power to continue. In this case, the demand would be to bring democratic institutions closer to this ideal instead of seeing them replaced altogether. This is a poor argument and it stems from this faulty dichotomy between traditional and non-traditional forms of political participation. It would be more useful to look at the different aims that the forms of political participation embark upon, and categorise them that way.

The taxonomy provided here focuses instead on the aims of political participation. I have already distinguished between passive forms of political participation and active forms. Passive forms include gathering information from various sources such as newspapers, radio, television, and the Internet. They also include attending political meetings and discussions and listening to the proceedings, and being a member of an NGO or political party. As explained earlier, these activities should count as acts of political participation. However, these are different from active forms of political participation, which not only provide the opportunity to learn about the interests and preferences of others, but involve at least directly assisting in advancing an interest in the public sphere.

#### Situating the Aims-Based Approach within the Literature on Political Participation

The literature on political participation differs on how to treat the very concept of participation. Some like Arnstein (1969) and Rowe and Frewer (2005) take a narrower definition of the term. Arnstein bases his ladder of forms of political participation on the statement that "citizen participation is citizen power" (1969, 216). That is to say, if a participant does not have the power to affect the final outcome of a decision-making process, then she is not engaging in what Arnstein calls genuine participation. Instances of what he calls manipulation, where participants are given a nominal voice but are in essence there to rubber stamp a decision made by elites, or therapy, where participants are made to engage in a process where they are co-opted in the elite discourse and essentially are made to accept it as their own.

Arnstein is incorrect to say that the lower rungs of his ladder of political participation are not genuine participation. They do offer a chance for participants to practice their political skills, and thus develop, and attempt to advance their interests. Moreover, citizens' political skills – as Arnstein himself recognizes – were developed to the point that they were able to expose and subvert the pseudo-forum for the sham for what it is. "One hopeful note is that, having been so grossly affronted, some citizens have learned the Mickey Mouse game, and now they too know how to play. As a result of this knowledge, they are demanding genuine levels of participation to assure them that public programs are relevant to their needs and responsive to their priorities" (1969, 218). The manipulators paid a price for their chicanery, and this is a good example of what was discussed in Chapter 2, how political skills can be used to identify, critique, and challenge internal exclusions, hegemonic discourse, as well as formal and informal balances of

power. However, it required participating in the sham process to begin to expose it, and thus had some value.

However, Arnstein does embrace an aims-based model of participation in his ladder (1969, Figure 2, 217). Each rung of his ladder has participation serving a purpose, whether it is to manipulate the public or to give the public direct control over their affairs. She does not make a distinction - as Inglehart, Catterberg, Barnes, and Kaase do – between conventional/non-conventional forms of participation or elite-challenging/elite-controlled forms. Rather, Arnstein distinguishes between the forms of political participation based on their aims, even though he looks at them from their design by elites and not the goals that citizens wish to achieve.

Rowe and Frewer eschew the term "political participation" for "public engagement" and place political participation as one of three subsets of public engagement (2005, Figure 1, 255). Public participation in their understanding constitutes interaction between members of the public and elected representatives. As they explain; "Rather than simple, raw opinions being conveyed to the sponsors, the act of dialogue and negotiation serves to transform opinions in the members of both parties (sponsors and public participants)" (2005, 255-256). Types of political participation are deliberative polls, town hall meetings, task forces, citizen juries, and citizen action workshops (2005, 281-282). The other two subsets described by Rowe and Frewer are "public communication" where elected representatives talk to citizens, and "public consultation", where public representatives listen to citizens. Examples of public communication are public broadcasts, public hearings, and telephone hot lines. Rowe and Fowler cite opinion polls,

referendums, focus groups, study circles, and citizen-base group panels (2005, 278-281). However, Rowe and Fowler's definition is very narrow – so narrow that voting is not mentioned, nor are any forms of political activism. Public engagement is defined here as interaction (not using the term as Rowe and Fowler do) between elected representatives, or those in power and citizens. Because of this, several deliberative citizen's forums that are empowered to create policy (like the ones mention in Fung and Olin Wright's work) are not included. It seems counter intuitive to exclude these types of political participation, especially given how these types of political participation can be effective in not only advancing interests but also help individuals develop their skills by doing them.

Although earlier I criticized previous taxonomies of political participation, Inglehart and Catterberg along with Barnes and Kaase correctly attempt to integrate forms of civic activism as vital forms of political participation. Interaction with the state is not a necessity for an activity to be considered a type of active political participation. Often citizen-to-citizen interaction, such as community action groups, will have not have any elected representatives or government officials present, but should be considered forms of political participation because they provide participants the opportunity to better understanding their interests through deliberation, with a mind to later present them for consideration to citizens outside of the organization. Civic activism is a form of political participation (Norris 2002, 4) that attempts to advance an interest to elected officials and the public at large for consideration. Although this chapter has argued that civic activism can be conventional in a historical sense (*contra* Barnes and Kaase) and can support elite action (*contra* Inglehart and Catterberg), it should be nonetheless considered a form of political participation.

Therefore a taxonomy of political participation ought to take on a wider definition of political participation in the same way that the taxonomies above that were critiqued do, but to come up with more useful divisions than what has been previously proposed. Although they talk about political participation as public expression (which differs slightly from the definition presented here), Zukin *et al.* explain nicely the overlap between the civic activism and other forms of "traditional" political participation. "*Public voice*, the ways citizens give expression to their views on public issues. Included here are activities such as signing petitions, engaging in email campaigns, the starting of contributing to political blogs, or writing letters to the editor. Contacting public officials – a quintessential political act in Verba and Nie's schema – is usually done for the purpose of affecting government's behaviour and may be the most direct type of expression of all. These activities tend to 'go together' conceptually and empirically – that is, people who express their votes in one way (e.g., signing petitions) are likely to do so in other ways as well (e.g., contacting the media). Notably, the expression of public voice is characteristic of both political and civic activists" (Zukin *et al.* 2006, 54).

However, the problem with the taxonomies provided above primarily is that they drew a line between civic activism, or civic activities, and decidedly "political" activities such as voting and talking to an elected official. Although Zukin *et al.* base their arguments on Barnes and Kaase's taxonomy, they argue that there is a strong political element to civic activities (differing from what they call political activities). As they found in their surveys, 49% of those who engaged in volunteer activities thought that they were solving a social or political problem, and 68% of those who participated in community problem solving activities felt the same (Zukin *et al.* 2006, 196).

Even though there are a large number of respondents in their surveys that do not see a political connection in their civic activities, these numbers do show a strong overlap between activities that directly engage the state and those that do not, at least in the goal that these activities are trying to accomplish. As Zukin *et al.* explain; "a substantial portion of what we have labeled 'civic' involvement is explicitly or implicitly viewed by those who do it as politically relevant, either substituting for or supplementing something that government should be doing as well' (2006, 197). Moreover, they found that many civically engaged respondents engaged in both types of activities (Zukin *et al.* 2006, Figure 7-4, 198). These findings lead Zukin *et al.* to conclude that their line between civic and political engagement is porous and fuzzy (199).

Thus the taxonomy provided in the next section will take on a wide definition of participation but will not make a distinction between political activities that engage the state directly and those that do not. Instead, the taxonomy will make distinctions between the different goals that political participants might have, following Arnstein. However, Arnstein is not the only person who has placed aims and goals as the main focus of political participation. Krampen (1991, 21) shows through empirical tests that political activists' participation is better explained to action-specific factors (such as a desire to express discontent or to make political change) or changes in the political landscape, such as a change in government, than factors such as psychological or mental disposition towards participation. However, psychological disposition – Krampen mentions lack of information and feeling of political inadequacy – can be a factor for why people do not participate (1991, 26). In other words, these findings show that citizens will participate to achieve certain goals – a statement made at the beginning of this chapter. Moreover, these findings are also consistent with literature that states that political participation is shifting away

from a duty-based citizenship to an engaged citizenship (see Dalton 2008). Thus the taxonomy that will be presented will make differentiations between the aims of political participation, not make distinctions between forms of political participation that engage the state and those that do not, because just about every form of citizen action attempts to solve a social and/or political problem, as Zukin *et al.* acknowledge. That being said, because these forms of participation do attempt to advance an interest in the public sphere, they ought to be considered political participation. Because of this, the taxonomy below incorporates a wide definition of participation.

#### **Supportive Forms of Political Participation**

The taxonomy provided here sets out three different types of active political participation; 1) expressive forms, 2) policy forms, and 3) supportive forms. Expressive forms of political participation deal with engaging the public to publicise interests and/or convince others of one's interests. Policy forms of political participation entail engaging with elected representatives and public officials in order for one's interests to be reflected in policy and/or law. This taxonomy will treat expressive forms and policy forms as two ends of a continuum, since it is possible (as well as it being historically verifiable) that some types of political participation contain both expressive and policy components to it. Moreover, political campaigns will use both forms of participation in order to be successful. Although there is an overlap between the two, we can identify purely expressive or purely policy forms of political participation. On the other hand, civic participation just about always involves tackling a social or political problem, which Zukin et al. readily acknowledge. Therefore more of a differentiation can be made between policy and expressive forms of political participation.

Let us first look at the supportive forms of political participation. Types of supportive forms of political participation are volunteer work for a political party or NGO, canvassing, answering phones, agreeing to have campaign signs placed on one's lawn, photocopying and distributing flyers, and other administrative work that is necessary in a political campaign. Other kinds of supportive participants include website designers, brochure and pamphlet designers, and creators of print, radio, and television advertising. This type of political participation is becoming increasingly important as political organisations have become more complex and need to reach large segments of the population. While there are some participants who are directly involved in the public debate, other participants are needed to provide support for the advancement of any given interest and play a necessary administrative or organisational role for the cause.

This is the case even though these tasks may often seem to be mundane and are similar to other administrative functions performed for other groups, such as answering phones, taking messages, typing letters, etc., as well as performing some IT jobs such as designing web pages. However only the administrative work that directly assists in advancing interests should be considered as political participation. For example, while a secretary working for an MP who types a letter to be sent out to the constituents is participating, the IT person who troubleshoots the candidate's PC is not. This clerical and administrative work, along with other activities such as putting up a campaign sign on one's lawn, and distributing flyers should be seen as supportive forms of political participation.

The creative communications team of a political campaign, such as website designers, and the creators of print, radio, and television ads are here listed as supportive political participants. It

might seem strange that these people are put together with the people that perform administrative work in a political campaign. After all, their work receives a lot more publicity than the people who hand out flyers and take phone calls. However, these political participants are not formulating the arguments that are used to convince the public of a group's interests. They are only determining exactly how these arguments are phrased and put forward. The candidate, party leader, etc., determine *what* is being put forward. The creative communications team determine *how* it is put forward. This work is very important for a political campaign, but the people involved in this aspect of a political campaign are not playing the same role as those engaged in expressive and policy forms of political participation, as we will see.

Even though it might not seem so on the surface, these supportive activities count as active forms of political participation as I have defined them. Firstly, these activities are necessary if an organisation or a political party is going to inform large segments of the population and convince them of their interests. In that sense, these activities assist in advancing interests in the public sphere, and meet the first condition of active political participation. What is left to consider is the educative capacity in supportive forms of political participation. This issue will be considered in the next section, along with explaining how all types of political participation function as crafts. Explaining how they function as crafts involves explaining how participants develop their skills through experiential learning. Establishing this, along with establishing that there is a skill set involved in these political activities, will show that supportive forms of political participation possesses opportunities for participants to develop their political skills, even though there is no question that expressive and policy forms of political participation offer more intensive and rigorous experiential learning.

# **Expressive and Policy Forms of Political Participation**

The other two forms of political participation – expressive forms and policy forms – ought to be thought of as two ends of a continuum. Before explaining how this is the case, let us define both terms. The purpose of expressive forms of political participation is twofold. Firstly, someone might use expressive forms to simply express her views in the public sphere. To put it colloquially, expressive forms allows one to "blow off steam" on an issue or "get things off one's chest". Secondly, one might also use expressive forms to engage in dialogue and/or debate with others to convince them of their views. On the other hand, policy forms of political participation aim to go beyond discussion and debate and aspires to affect public policy, legislation, or change the government itself.

There is an overlap between the two forms of political participation, and often a form of political participation will have both expressive and policy elements to them in equal measure. Deliberative forums fit into this category. Good examples of these are Citizens' Assemblies in Canada. (Warren 2001). Participants in the Ontario and British Columbia Citizens' Assemblies deliberated on and developed an alternative electoral system to the first past the post system, which was then put to a province-wide referendum. Town halls in the United States are another example, where participants deliberate on the pros and cons of an issue and then vote on a resolution on the issue at the end. Unlike Citizen's Assemblies, the result of a town hall is a policy that all participants agree to follow. In this case, the output of a deliberative forum is public policy or law. Moreover, if we return to Fung and Olin Wright's examples of deliberative forums, we find citizens' forums that have been tasked by government officials to develop their

own policies and strategies more or less independently from the government. The Chicago Alternative Policing Strategy cited in Fung and Olin Wright's work is a good example of this.

Social movements, at least as Tilly defines them (2004) use both expressive and policy forms of political participation in equal measure. As he explains, a social movement is a complex measure that combines three elements; "1) campaigns of collective claims on target authorities; 2) an array of claim-making performances including special-purpose associations, public meetings, media statements, and demonstrations; 3) public representations of the cause's worthiness, unity, numbers, and commitment" (7). Public displays of worthiness, unity, numbers, and commitment (or WUNC as Tilly abbreviates it) are expressive forms of political participation in the sense that they ask or demand public recognition of the group's interests, or identity in some cases, and confront public understanding of the group's identity, their standing in relation to other groups, as well as opposition (or perhaps even support) to certain actions done by elected officials in the hopes of at least convincing larger segments of the public of their views (Tilly 2004, 12).

Yet at the same time, along with engaging the public with their actions, social movements also wish to engage the government as well. This is the case where social movements are campaigns that are sustained, organized public effort making collective claims on targeted political authorities, and that governments always figure in the claim that social movements often make (Ibid., 3). This is how social movements' campaigns entail a policy dimension as well, because their actions intend to have an effect – either direct or indirect – on public policy and/or legislation. Such types of political participation ought to be placed in the centre of the continuum.

Slightly to the left and right of centre of this continuum would be forms of political participation that are primarily one form of participation but indirectly entail elements of the other form in it as well. For example, a policy form of participation that has some expressive element to it, and vice versa, would fall into this category. Gathering and submitting petitions is an example of this. On its own, the gathering of signatures and presenting them to a government official ought to be seen as a policy form of participation. The petition is meant to convince the government to reconsider one of its actions. However, part of getting the signatures is engaging with others in a conversation to convince them to sign the petition. This entails convincing others that the government's position is wrong and that they ought to consider revising it. This is an example of an expressive element that is necessary for this particular policy form of participation to have success (that is, have a decent number of signatures).

Likewise, there are many expressive forms of participation that ultimately aspire to having an effect on policy or seek some political change (McAdam, Tarrow, Tilly 2001), even though the effect might be very indirect and that effect may come about much later. The indirectness of the effect and the longer it takes for policy to be affected are both factors that would push an expressive form of participation further away from the centre of the continuum. As Dryzek (2000) explains, expressive forms have an indirect but a valuable effect on policy by altering the political discourse and thus changing public policy. "The communicative power that the public sphere can exert over the state is diffuse and pervasive, felt in the way terms are defined and issues are framed, not in the direct leverage of one actor over another. The relative weight of competing discourses in civil society can have major implications for the content of public

society" (2000, 101). Moreover, deliberative forums that are constituted outside of the state (and sometimes created to criticize its actions) can present policy alternatives that are eventually taken and instituted as public policy (Dryzek 2000, 102; see also Berger 1985 and Fischer 1993).

This is slightly different from other deliberative forums, since most forums do not have this kind of effect on law or policy. Nonetheless, there are policy forms of participation that only aim to influence the government. These forms of participation include mostly voting in an election or a referendum. In these forms of participation, there is no discussion and examination of preferences and interests. Instead, voting involves a strict revealing of preferences in order to determine which option is held by the majority. However, the implications of voting are always the same – the majority view will end up determining which candidate will become an elected representative, which policy option will become law, etc.

If there is such an overlap between expressive and policy forms of participation, then this begs the question of why this distinction should be made in the first place. After all, Zukin *et al.* make a distinction between political and civic participation in their work and then later admit that the line between the two is blurry, leaving one to wonder whether this distinction has any value. However, this distinction is worth making because we can identify forms of political participation that are purely expressive and purely policy forms. In terms of uniquely policy forms of participation, we have the example of voting and participating in Royal Commissions or in Senate hearings (representatives from various NGOs and various other social movements participate in these, along with elected representatives). Types of political participation such as these are not intended to engage the public but rather exist primarily to alter or maintain public policy and/or legislation. These forms of political participation directly influence policy and

legislation, and in the case of voting, they have an influence in changing the government itself. While it may be true that policy forms can have some effect on public opinion in an indirect way. For example, the contents of the reports of the Canadian Royal Commission on Aboriginal Affairs and the Status of Women did play a role in shaping public opinion in Canada, but the purpose of the reports was not to shape public opinion necessarily, and the effect on public opinion was not felt until some years had passed.

The same applies for purely expressive forms. Newer forms of expressive political participation are the use of blogs and internet chatrooms, which has proliferated rapidly over recent years. Even though there are hardly any instances that blogs or chatrooms will make a significant effect on policy development or politics in general<sup>18</sup>, they allow citizens to express their views easily and at a low cost. Through participation in the blogging community, citizens can put forward their views for the consideration of others, and in some sense, the blogging community can function like a mini-public, in the same way newspapers once did (Habermas 1989; see also Brookfield 2005). While their opinions and arguments might have an indirect effect on public policy as time goes on, it would seem counter-intuitive to argue that these forms of political participation intend to immediately shape public policy. At the roots of it, a political blogger writes to put his or her views in the public sphere for consideration and debate. These opinions may not even be intended to become the basis of public policy – certainly political bloggers are not so naïve enough to think that their blog will necessarily change politicians' minds – but

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>18</sup> There are of course exceptions to this. The most famous example of internet commentary and journalism having an effect on politics was when the then-mail news alert group *The Drudge Report*, broke the Monica Lewinsky scandal, despite the fact that *Newsweek* had decided a week earlier not to run the story. The incident is fully described in Warren Kinsella, *The War Room*, p. 253-255.

expressing these opinions at least registers dissent and hopes to create public discussion about the issue

As Dryzek notes, actions of social movements can over time create changes in both the political culture affecting power relations and in the political rhetoric, and thus create political change (see also Tesh 1993). As he explains;

"A final and somewhat different way in which power can be exercised through civil society is in terms of cultural change affecting power relations. Think, for example, of the extent to which feminism has changed power relationships both within the family and outside (and not just as a consequence of changes in family law). So even if civil society actions leave public policy untouched, they can have real social effects" (2000, 102-103).

The last sentence in the quote is particularly telling and illustrates well how forms of political participation can be purely expressive, and not have a policy dimension to it. The purpose of such an expressive form is to advance a group's interests in the public sphere with the hope of having an effect on public discourse. Thus purely expressive forms, just like policy forms, of political participation exist, and therefore a distinction between the two can be made.

This taxonomy is an improvement over the traditional/non-traditional participation dichotomy since it separates various forms of political participation along the lines of aims. This categorisation does not distinguish between forms of participation that fall within the purview of the state and others that do not, but instead looks at what each form of political participation aims to achieve.

Because political participation is multi-faceted, it also allows different individuals with different skill sets to be involved in the advancing of any given interest. However the common thread

running through all of these forms is that the participants involved are engaged in the political process and are advancing interests in the public sphere. They might be doing so in markedly different ways, but nonetheless there is a commitment to a process that debates and shares interests, and with a further aim to have their interests become law. Political participation has an educative dimension that develops communicative and deliberative skills. This means explaining how these forms of political participation are crafts, where an individual learns the practice as a craft that entails primarily but not exclusively, experiential learning. In essence, politics is primarily learned by practice until one feels that their actions in the public sphere have some influence on the debate at hand.

# The Three Forms of Political Participation As Crafts

The previous section outlined a taxonomy of different forms of political participation and outlined three different forms of active political participation, viz., supportive forms, expressive forms, and policy forms of political participation. As stated earlier, to be considered a form of political participation, an activity must both allow individuals and/or groups to at least assist in advancing interests in the public sphere and develop their skills. In this section I will examine how experiential learning occurs in these three forms of active political participation. Because the skills needed in order to succeed in these activities are learned through experience, these forms of political participation should be considered crafts as defined above. This experiential learning occurs along two dimensions, the reasonable/cognitive dimension and the public dimension.

The reasonable/cognitive dimension involves the individual thinking about his preferences and re-evaluating them in light of new information and arguments. Generally, the skills developed in this dimension are internal and reflective skills. In different areas of political participation, especially in deliberative forums, new information, arguments, and reasons will come about. New information, arguments, and reasons are key in forming an individual's opinion on a given issue, as an individual is forced to rethink her opinions when she receives new and critical information (Converse 1965).

However, the skills developed in the reasonable/cognitive dimension do not only entail the ability to revise one's preferences when the understanding of one's interests change. They also include the ability to recognize different styles of argument and persuasion and judge whether these styles are effective in making the case for any given viewpoint. This dimension of learning also involves practicing judgment. A participant will hear different arguments for different viewpoints, and they have to judge whether they are convincing enough to earn their support. Time and experience might cause the participant to realise that he made an error in judgment. Since individuals will try to avoid making errors in judgment, the participant in the future will be more careful when listening to the arguments in a debate and will try to be a little more prudential next time<sup>19</sup>. There are other reasonable/cognitive skills learned in political participation as well. In being confronted with new information and arguments, the individual learns how to distinguish between relevant and irrelevant information, and reconsiders his own

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>19</sup> The notion that judgment can be developed through practice can be traced to Hannah Arendt in the incomplete *The Life of The Mind*. Even though her understanding of judgment has been pieced together from earlier parts of the work, and she is primarily focused on moral judgment, Arendt implies that an individual learns judgment not from being taught in a classroom, but in everyday dealings with the outside world. See Stacy Smith, "Education for Judgment: An Arendtian Oxymoron?", in Mordechai Gordon, *Hannah Arendt and Education: Renewing Our Common World*, p. 75-90.

opinions in light of others. This is an activity, and to learn these skills is something that a person generally learns on one's own. This happens not only in receiving information but also in disseminating it as well. This learning usually happens when the individual or group fails to convince others of their interests. This failure makes individuals rethink the content of their interests, their supportive reasons, as well as the quality and veracity of their information.

The public dimension represents the other side of the coin vis-à-vis the reasonable/cognitive dimension. While the reasonable/cognitive dimension involves internal and reflective skills, the public dimension captures all the skills used to engage the public. These skills involve debate, discussion, and the presenting of arguments to others in the hope of convincing them of one's views. Not only does presenting these arguments involve skills in speech, rhetoric, and basic presentation skills, but they also involve writing effectively for an audience, and also designing public relations material that can effectively capture public attention. Learning in the public dimension is also experiential, where individuals have to reconsider the method of advancement in the public sphere. Learning here involves attempting methods, styles, and strategies to advance interests in the public sphere, observing their effectiveness, and then evaluating them and trying again.

There are various methods and styles that a group or individual can use to advance their interests in the public sphere, and some of them will be effective and others will not be. A political participant faces a learning curve in learning different styles, approaches, and strategies. In order to learn which strategies and methods are effective or not, a participant must try these styles in the public sphere and evaluate them in terms of their success or failure. After that, they try again

in light of what they learned from past experiences. In experiential learning, there is a prudential knowledge that one must acquire in order to know what method works in a given situation.

The argument here is not that these political activities are skills. All activities are skills – there is no question about that. With any activity that a person does, one practices it until one is adept at it. How skills differ from each other is how much time and effort is required to learn how to do them reasonably well. Moreover, it is possible that one person can perform any given activity better than someone else can. These are defining aspects of a skill. The argument made here is that these skills are experientially learned crafts. Either individuals develop their skills through direct instruction from a teacher, or a person develops them through their own experimentation and learning from their experiences. I believe that the latter is the most effective and accurate way of describing how individuals develop their political skills. In short, there is no "textbook" way of learning how to be an effective political participant. The individual or group must figure it out on her own, but can also occur under the guidance of more experienced political participants.

Now I will explain how various supportive forms of political participation are crafts. Generally speaking, supportive political participation falls within the purview of adversarial forms of democracy, such as elections and referendums. The range of experiential learning in supportive forms is narrower than it is with the expressive and policy forms of political participation. This is because often one who participates in supporting forms is usually receiving instruction from others, as in the case of administrative and clerical work, or are assisting and observing others engaging in debate. Nonetheless, there are other forms of supportive political participation –

such as the design of a media campaign – where there is far less instruction and a lot of creativity is demanded. However, the opportunities for error are much greater in these types of supportive political participation and can have disastrous effects for political campaigns, as we will see later.

As in other forms of political participation, an individual is distributing information when doing administrative and clerical work, and there are different methods and styles of writing letters and designing pamphlets and brochures that are better able to capture the attention of undecided citizens. Moreover, as anyone who has worked in the political communications team of a political campaign can attest to, the media campaign is just as much about getting the opposing side to go "off-message", or to defend themselves about their perceived weaknesses instead of their strengths as it is aimed to convince undecided citizens.

Some supportive forms of political participation require a degree of skill that is developed through trial and error. Some of these include writing effective letters, designing clear pamphlets and websites, or coming up with successful political media campaigns. As we know, there is a whole industry devoted to political marketing that has only recently come under scrutiny by political scientists (Lees-Marshment 2001a, 2001b). Moreover, there is a great learning curve in this field, as even experts in this industry are constantly making mistakes that prove costly for their political campaigns. For every Daisy commercial in the Lyndon Johnson presidential campaign in 1964 there is a commercial from the Canadian Progressive Conservatives making fun of Jean Chretien's facial paralysis in 1993, and both advertisements came from so-called "campaign experts". In this field, there is a substantial amount of experiential learning through

trial and error. Expertise in this field does not amount to a closer approximation to an absolute correct way of engaging in supportive forms of political participation. Instead, there is a bounded area where a diverse range of styles and methods lead to successful media campaigns

The experiential learning that occurs in policy and expressive forms of political participation is much more intense and rigorous than it is with supportive forms. This is because expressive and policy participants are directly involved in advancing interests in the public sphere, whereas supportive participants are only assisting in their advancement. Expressive and policy participants are on the front lines in the public sphere, working to convince undecided citizens and engaging in debate with others who disagree. With expressive forms of political participation such as writing letters to the editor or blogging, political participants create the arguments for or against an interest and debate them with others in the public sphere. The same is true for policy participants that are engaging with policy makers and elected representatives in order to change law and/or policy.

In both forms of political participation, these participants are speaking, working to create awareness, and engaging in debate in the public sphere. In terms of experiential learning along the rational/cognitive dimension, expressive and policy forms of political participation provide the arenas where individuals and groups are confronted with new information and new arguments that bolster or challenge their viewpoints. If this information challenges their arguments, then participants must deal with and answer to this new information, re-think their arguments, and perhaps alter them in order to take this new information into consideration. When confronted with opposing sides, policy and expressive participants must be able to come up with

the relevant arguments or information to counter the argument of opposing sides. And when it looks like their preferred option will not win, policy and expressive participants must know the rules of the decision-making procedure in order to effectively use strategic manipulation. To sum up, all of these actions require decision-making skills, and skills in strategy and reasoning in order to be successful.

This is what learning along the rational/cognitive dimension entails. These skills are learned experientially, since there are various ways that one can successfully argue for or against a viewpoint. Ultimately, the successful policy or expressive participant has to develop their own style and method of crafting arguments that is going to be successful. This learning occurs much more intensely than it would for supportive or passive participants, since expressive and policy participants are involved directly in the day-to-day advancement of these interests in the public sphere.

Learning along the public dimension in the expressive and policy forms of political participation, as it is in the cognitive/rational dimension, is more intense than with the supportive forms. However, the dynamic of experiential learning along the public dimension is similar to what is described above. As with the rational/cognitive dimension, the learning curve and pressure to be effective is much greater on these participants. If an interest has ineffective expressive or policy advocates – ones who are ineffective communicators – then the interest will not gain any public support. These expressive and policy arenas (and we can include the mass media as well, which would include the political communications team that engage in supportive work) are where participants put their deliberative and communicative skills to their test. They must come up with

the right arguments, provide the relevant information, and phrase their arguments in the right way if they are going to convince others of their views. If expressive and policy participants fail, then their views will not be accepted by the public. Because of these reasons, the pressure is much greater on these participants to perform well, and this creates an environment that encourages faster and more intense learning. The expressive and policy arenas are where the more skilled political participants come to practice their craft. If a novice participant is observing and working alongside a group of very skilled participants practicing their craft, it is more likely that she will learn more than another novice who is working with a group of less skilled participants.

#### Conclusion

This chapter elaborated the idea of politics as a craft. Stating that these activities are skills is stating the obvious, but with the previous section I have tried to establish that the skills involved in the practice of these forms of political participation are learned experientially. This is how politics is a craft. Political skills, including deliberative and communicative skills, are learned through trial and error, experimenting with different styles and methods, trying again in light of previous experiences, and aiming to come up with a unique way of advancing interests in the public sphere that might be effective. Dewey argued that experiential learning continues throughout one's life. Individuals are facing new problems and new realities, which means that the solutions of the past may not work as well in the future. The same is true in the political world as its landscape can change in the blink of an eye. As such, both life-long political participants and novices have to constantly re-examine their political skill and alter how they use them when necessary.

This chapter defined active political participation as a genuine attempt to help advance an interest in the public sphere. Active forms differ from passive forms of political participation, which involve mostly information gathering and reflective consideration of interests and preferences. While they are different, both types of actions are defined here as types of political participation, since these actions make up a constitutive part of the principle of equal consideration of interests. From there, I provided a taxonomy of different types of active political participation Three different forms of political participation are defined; 1) expressive forms of participation; 2) policy forms; and 3) supportive forms.

Despite this difference between passive and active political participation, they both allow participants to develop their political skills through experiential learning, and because of this, all political activities should be considered as crafts. Understanding political activities as crafts can help reduce the inequality of skill that exists between citizens, which can 1) reduce political mortification and empower citizens, and 2) improve the quality of political participation. This must accompany other proposed democratic reforms, such as the institutionalisation of deliberation, which empowers citizens by allowing them to learn about their own interests as well as the interests of others. This improves the quality of political participation because through the deliberative process, participants can better understand what they want and expect from the democratic process, both in terms of elected representatives and policy.

Earlier in the work, I argued that unempowerment threatens the principle of equal advancement and consideration of interests. Given that citizens these days more or less have equal political

resources, at least in terms of political rights, the lack of political power in modern democracies can be attributed to an inequality of skill. Conceiving political participation as a craft works to remedy this problem, and thus helps modern democracies come closer to meeting the principle of equal advancement and consideration of interests. Politics as a craft also allow us to step away from any top-down approach in developing the political skills of the citizenry, by offering educators the creative space in which to allow students of political activity to learn their own political strategies and techniques within a framework of previously tried and acceptable strategies.

Politics as a craft helps complete the picture for a democracy that wishes to fulfill the principle of equal advancement and consideration of interests. This principle demands that democracies strike a balance between adversarial and deliberative democracy, and that citizens be sufficiently empowered. Politics as a craft works to remedy the inequality of skills that can cause political mortification in an open and democratic way. There are two issues left to consider. Firstly, how does politics as a craft alter democratic culture? In order to answer this, a theory of citizenship that is consistent with politics as a craft has to be elaborated. The next chapter will provide this. Secondly, how can individuals develop their political skills through experiential learning? I suggest above that more political participation can develop political skills, but at this point, the argument is circular. A lack of skill among citizens negatively affects the quality of political participation, and causes people to feel unempowered and not participate. Saying simply that these people should participate more in order to develop their skills is not good enough. The final chapter will look at how individuals can learn these skills in primary and secondary school (adult education will also be looked at), through a program of experiential learning. A school

curriculum that allows students to develop their political skills through experiential learning will create citizens that feel that they have the adequate skills to make an effective contribution in the political arena. Moreover, it creates another avenue other than political participation that allows for the experiential learning of political craft.

#### **CHAPTER 5: EMPOWERED CITIZENS IN THE PUBLIC SPHERE**

Politics as a craft shows how citizens can learn and develop their political skills freely and openly. Citizens with well developed political, communicative, and deliberative skills will be more empowered than citizens with less developed skills. Also, a more skilled and empowered citizenry will improve the quality of political participation. This will happen because more interests will be heard, thus giving citizens the opportunity to learn more about their own interests and the interests of others through discussion and deliberation. Also, citizens will understand better what they want from the political process and vote or act with this better understanding in mind. Citizens might get the results they want insofar that they more closely correspond with a more refined understanding of their interests. In some sense, politics as a craft completes Christiano's theory of democracy. The principle of equal advancement and consideration of interests, as Christiano elaborates it, gives us a framework of democratic rights, and a solid justification for the institutionalisation of deliberative democracy. However, politics as a craft, especially with its requirement of a curriculum of political experiential learning in schools, completes his theory since it improves the political skills of all citizens in an open and democratic way and on a mass scale. This will empower citizens and prevent political mortification, which is caused by an inequality of skill.

This chapter will look at the impact that politics as a craft will make on democratizing the public sphere and examine some further questions that come out from implementing politics as a craft. Firstly, the question of measuring the successful learning of political skills will be examined. This chapter will argue that the presence of a democratic public sphere with empowered citizens, as Dewey understood it, should serve as the goal of politics as a craft. This means working to improve the quality of political participation. Part of this is seeing if more people are

participating, but it is not only that. Participants in the public sphere should not only be working to solve problems, ensure that interests are equally advanced and considered, and ensure that the public sphere does not become polluted with things that could disempower its participants. This means using one's skills, as was posited in Chapter 2, to identify any instances of informal power imbalances and critique them and overcome them.

Secondly, this chapter will look at whether politics as a craft and the resulting product of a democratic sphere completely advance political equality. Even though we ought to see dramatic improvements to status quo in terms of political equality, the goals that Dewey lays out, set very high standards in terms of equality, and it is possible that unequal results can come out of a process that considered interests equally. Christiano in later works argues that social and political institutions require a publicity condition for justice, specifically that citizens need to see justice being done as a product of its decision-making process. Part of making that commitment to justice would be to require that all political decisions that produce inequalities be publically justified. Doing so can serve a pedagogical value as well for the future decision-makers. Publically justified inequalities can help identify the cause, the nature, or the locus of what causes the inequality, and this can help frame the future discussions, and it causes decision-makers to acknowledge and protect each individual's capacity for forging and creating their conception of the good, which is a necessary requirement for an individual to consider and advance interests in the public sphere.

Thirdly, this chapter will outline some success stories where the development of experiential skills did create more empowered participants, successfully developed skills, and in some

examples gave students a strong enough sense of social justice to motivate them to participate in the political arena in the future. Ideally, politics as a craft can teach political skills and impart democratic values to students in a free, open, and democratic way and on a mass scale. If politics as a craft is successful, a new generation of students will arise who are more politically skilled and more willing to participate. Experiential learning can both develop skills and empower students, and thus create skilled citizens who are motivated to participate in the democratic process.

With regards to the standards that we should expect from citizens, a theory of citizenship that is compatible with politics as a craft will follow Helena Catt's standard of empowerment provided above. To reiterate, Catt's standard of empowerment holds that citizens are empowered when they feel they can enter into any discussion and contradict the opinions of anyone, no matter what their social or political position might be. While the capacity for political participation should increase among citizens, the rubric of politics as a craft should not expect to have everyone capable of practicing politics at the same skill level as professional politicians, strategists, or policy makers. Politics as a craft is aimed at empowering citizens by helping them develop their political skills. Catt's standard of empowerment answers the question of what participatory standards we should expect from citizens that is compatible with politics as a craft, and at the same time avoids the unrealistic goal of placing all citizens at the same level of political skill.

## Measuring Successful Experiential Learning: An Engaged Public Sphere

The previous chapter talked about how political skills are crafts and how they are learned, drawing heavily from the work of John Dewey. From there, a taxonomy of active political participation was developed, delineating between supportive forms of political participation, expressive forms, and policy forms. Moreover, it was argued that several forms of political participation have both expressive and policy elements, since they want to convince both the public at large of their views along with having an effect on public policy and/or legislation. To successfully convince members of the public and elected officials of one's views, the necessary skill sets, approaches, and discourses are needed.

How do we know that these skills are being successfully learned? How do we know that experiments in experimental learning are successful? The easy answer would be to say that an experiment is successful if it has successfully convinced someone of its views. However, there are problems with this kind of answer. Firstly, as was explained earlier in the work, consensus, even if it is between only two individuals, does not always come about through discussion through empowered participants. Agreement could come about due to imbalances of formal power, economic power, or imbalances of skills, where those who are more skilled will dominate the discussion over those who are not. This might be mitigated if those who are dominant are presenting all interests available for consideration. However, since there is no way of determining such a situation for certain, and no one can claim absolute knowledge in terms of knowing every interest, along with the public reasons for supporting them, all potential political participants should be sufficiently empowered – meeting Catt's standards that were elaborated earlier – to enter into any discussion and participate, or present dissenting opinions in other forums. As Christiano explains, "political equality will not be possible if some are not able to

come up with reasonably articulate views. The standard of articulation requires that citizens provide reasonably detailed schedules of trade-offs of aims" (Christiano 1997, 188).

Secondly, and even more simply, it seems counter-intuitive to hinge successfully convincing others on successful political participation. Often losing campaigns or social movements that are not part of the mainstream continue to try to engage the public even after they might suffer setbacks. If they were engaged in a public campaign, their opponents (if any exist) and the general public might have taken their arguments seriously into consideration when considering their opinions. Even while participating in the debate, their "losing argument" made a contribution to the political discourse, and the debate produced could serve as an educative tool for future participants later on as to why a certain position might be wrong.

Thus saying that only participants who have successfully convinced others seems too narrow of a definition of successful political participation. Moreover, using such a standard would not be consistent with the very goals of experiential learning, at least as explained by education theorists that came after Dewey. They focused instead on the meeting of subjective and personal goals and whether the tools are present or not. "Experiential learning... is not simply acquiring more information in a first-hand way. It involves expanding the ability to produce a result you truly want in life, recognizing that there are huge gaps between what we want and where things are now. It gives us...the tools for action" (Tate 1992, 135). Evans elaborates on the subjective quality of assessing effective experiential learning. "There may have been some help in acquiring it, but essentially experiential learning is a personal achievement. Hence the assessment of experiential learning can produce a personal inner recognition which is priceless and of great

psychological significance" (1992, 86). Moreover, Evans argues that the actual recognition of a person's contribution can help empower those that were previously disempowered. "When people who believe themselves to be hopeless as learners prove to themselves that they are rather good at learning, something of the deepest significance has taken place. That is the public recognition connected with the personal experiential learning which is so richly significant" (1992, 86).

With this, we get another layer to the schema of empowerment that is summarized above. We know that participants are empowered when they feel that they can enter into a discussion and contradict what is being said. This follows from Helena Catt, as stated earlier. However, becoming empowered and overcoming political mortification seems to go beyond the mere development of skills, but also requires recognition from an individual or group as offering something worthwhile, even if that recognition is a statement of disagreement. This recognition can come from any segment of the public sphere (not necessarily from "official" agents from formalized social and political institutions).

Ultimately, the measure of successful political participation ought to be linked to the principle of the equal advancement and consideration of interests. In other words, political participation should be considered successful if it improves the quality of political participation. How is this to be done? Returning to Dewey might provide an answer. He argued that the very nature of the discussions that occurred in the public sphere determined its very health. However, implicit in this claim is the notion that people participating in this discussion at all is preferred to no discussion whatsoever. People must participate if they are to develop intellectually and morally,

Dewey states, and if more people do participate, then we ought to expect society to develop in the same manner as a whole. "Without the chance to participate, individuals cannot grow: 'human nature is developed only when its elements take part in directing things which are common, things for the sake of which men and women form groups - families, industrial companies, governments, churches, scientific associations, and so on" (Campbell 1999, 4; Dewey, Middle Works 12: 199-200). As explained in Chapter 4, the conversations that Dewey wanted to see in the public sphere entail a constant re-examination of social and political norms and institutions. "Because of our ongoing social evolution, our conception of democracy must be continually explored" (Dewey, Middle Works 11, 182). As we saw above from educators who work with experiential learning, the very existence of an engaged public sphere and the fact that these conversations are occurring are far more important than the results achieved. The fact that nothing in society is accepted as convention or dogma and that people are willing to challenge them is the barometer for determining the quality of political participation. "Democracy is the faith that the process of experience is more important than any special result attained, so that special results achieved are of ultimate value only as they are used to enrich and order the ongoing process (Later Works 14: 228-229).

Therefore, part of knowing if the quality of political participation is improving is seeing if more people are participating. The reasons that Dewey gives, follow from John Stuart Mill rather closely, as was explained in the previous chapter. Political participation is necessary for individual self-development since it happens in concert with others, which Dewey believes is the only legitimate way for society to confront its problems. "Human nature is developed only when its elements take part in directing things which are common, things for the sake of which men

and women form groups – families, industrial companies, governments, churches, scientific associations, and so on" (Dewey, Middle Works 12: 199-200). The more people engage in "directing things in common" through various organizations, Dewey believed, then the richer the public discourse would be. More viewpoints would be brought to the discussion, thus letting them to be put under critical examination. Moreover, political institutions must foster this kind of discussion if they are to allow individuals to develop their skills to the fullest, which is the main purpose for democratic institutions according to Dewey (Middle Works 12: 186). So the ongoing participation of individuals is a partial indication of empowerment, and should be considered when determining whether a democracy is approximating the improvement on the equal consideration and advancement of interests.

However, seeing more people participate is not the only indicator of an improvement of the quality of political participation. Simply having more people participate does not meet Catt's standard of empowerment. If more people are participating but blindly accepting everything that is being presented to them without critically analysing anything that is being said, then it cannot be considered a consensus created by empowered individuals. The existence of deep disagreement about what should be done is evidence that some discussion should be occurring. We saw how more contemporary theorists such as Iris Marion Young placed great emphasis on identifying and challenging internal barriers and hegemonic discourses so to allow more voices to be heard. Although he never identified the same internal exclusions or imbalances of power that Young and other difference democrats have, Dewey nonetheless believed that part of the discussions that a liberal democratic public sphere must have is identifying any imbalances of power and equality that may exist and work to lessen them. As he explains, the discussion in a

liberal democratic society must seek "the causes of which inequalities and oppressions are but also the symptoms" (Dewey, Later Works 11: 287). As Crick further adds; "Democracy, as a process, aligns itself primarily with the means by which a public and public opinion comes into existence and maintains itself. This means is the sharing of discourse within an egalitarian public sphere" (2010. 63).

So not only does a healthy public sphere require more people participating, it also needs to discuss the problems that society is facing in an open way that includes all interests, examine where they might be in tension and discuss possible trade-offs, and consider them equally. As Dewey explains; "the method of democracy – insofar as it is that of organized intelligence – is to bring these conflicts out into the open where their special claims can be seen and appraised, where they can be discussed and judged in the light of more inclusive interests" (Later Works 11: 56). Thus the quality of political participation should be considered high when not only more people are participating, but when they are discussing the sorts of questions that empowered participants with developed skills participating in an egalitarian and inclusive public sphere should have. Thus the quality of political participation seems to hinge on what causes knowledge to be discovered through the Socratic method – asking the right questions in order to gain new insights. While Plato argued that the only conversation worth having is asking what is good, for Dewey the conversations that a democratic society should have ought to focus on identifying problems in society, as well as identifying the challenges to solving these problems and finding ways to overcome them.

Furthermore, empowered citizens with well-developed skills help create a public space that also fosters the continued development of skills of participants and also give some form of recognition to the contributions of those who participate, as was explained earlier. This means using one's skills, as was posited in Chapter 2, to identify any instances of informal power imbalances and critique them and overcome them. For Dewey at least, the problem of democratic publics is a problem of communication, of "improving the methods and conditions of debate, discussion and persuasion" (Crick 2010, 65). Commentators on Dewey such as Crick posit that the goal of improving the methods and conditions of the democratic public sphere is a goal unto itself, and this means removing any distortions from the public sphere, or what Habermas calls the "refeudalisation" of the public sphere where critical publicity is replaced by the manipulative publicity of public relations, advertising, and propaganda" (Habermas 1989, 195). However, in order for politics as a craft to have any chance of real success, it must go beyond simply solving communicative distortions but also challenging internal balances of power as well.

From Dewey, we get a sense of what successful experiments in political craft should look like. Successful participation ought to create a free and democratic public sphere that has more people participating. To put things simply, seeing an increase in participation, especially in deliberative forums where in-depth discussion occurs, given the nature of the discussions that Dewey had envisioned occurring in the public sphere, is some indication. However, increases in political participation should not be the lone barometer in determining the health of the public sphere. The nature of the discussion that is occurring in the public sphere is also important in determining whether political participation is assisting in bringing democracy close to fulfilling the principle

of the equal advancement and consideration of interests. The public sphere, as Dewey posits, should also include discussions about identifying problems in society, as well as identifying the challenges to solving these problems and finding ways to overcome them without any communicative distortions. Also, since Dewey and Mill before him placed such a great emphasis on the public sphere itself being an educative tool, political craft can also inprove the quality of political participation by facilitating the opportunities for learning within participatory forums, and by recognising the contributions of other participants as well. This will help empower participants and move them closer to meeting Catt's standard of empowerment. When participatory forums fail to meet these standards listed above, due to either imbalances of power, internal exclusions, or communicative distortions, then participants in the public sphere ought to then identify and critique them with a mind to subverting them, and move the public sphere closer to fulfilling the principle of the equal advancement and consideration of interests.

#### The Conceptual Issue of Political Equality

## The Difference of Skill in a Democratic World with Politics As a Craft

One question that needs to be answered is how much politics as a craft can advance political equality. As we saw from Christiano's schema, political equality is linked to the notion of the equal consideration and advancement of interests. The standard that Christiano wishes to see every citizen to able to reach is being able to "effectively advance their interest" in the public sphere. So far in this work, it has been argued that meeting this goal requires that citizens be sufficiently empowered to meet Catt's standard of empowerment.

Thus the aim is to ensure that citizens meet this minimum standard, and a program of political skill development should at the very least equip citizens to be able to advance their interests in

the public sphere. However, as has been stated earlier, people with well-developed political skills should also be able to identify if and when hegemonic discourses are disempowering people and preventing them from participating, or if internal exclusions are arising, and then work to challenge them in the public sphere. Thus, a program of skill development should also teach students to be aware of hegemonic discourses and internal exclusions that could come about, along with how they can disempower citizens if left unchallenged.

One issue that needs to be considered is the difference in skill between participants that necessarily will come about. Since the actions required to participate in politics are skills, it stands to reason that some people will be more adept than others at practicing these political skills. Even though politics as a craft would aim to have all students be able to practice their skills at a certain minimal standard of aptitude, the inevitable difference in skill that will exist between participants may indeed lead to structural exclusions that Young and others wrote about when talking about democratic politics as it stands now.

Can a democratic society that embraces politics as a craft, be subject to the kind of structural exclusions that can come about due to participants who have more skills dominating the discussion? Does politics as a craft make any kind of advancement on this front? The answer should be yes, if we were to make the argument from strictly a Deweyan perspective. In the Deweyan schema, the more skilled participants are, and if they learned and practice their skills within democratic spaces (in both the classroom and in the public sphere at large), then the more likely that all individuals and groups will be able to advance their claims equally and fairly in the public sphere, according to their own views and interpretations (Alway 1995). To put in more

Deweyan language, the further away education and discussion in the public sphere moves from conservative education (where everything is treated as unquestioned dogma) to democratic education (where critical examination of social norms and problems are paramount), then the more inclusive and equitable the public sphere will be, no matter what success participants will have in deploying those skills in convincing others of their views.

In the Dewey's schema of democratic education, students are to learn that nothing in society-be it political institutions, social norms, or whatever – ought to be safe from individual and even public scrutiny. To put it more simply, there should be no "sacred cows" in public discourse. This spirit of perennial critique that Dewey believes ought to be a constitutive element of the public sphere should in theory apply to the products and the content of the discourse in the democratic public sphere. This comes back to a conclusion that was made earlier, and is compatible with Dewey's statement cited earlier that a democratic discourse must always target the causes and symptoms of inequalities and oppressions (Later Works 11: 287), viz., that political skills must also be used to criticize and subvert hegemonic discourses and internal exclusions in order to make the public sphere more democratic and inclusive. This is especially true, as it would be fairly reasonable to surmise that Dewey's "inequalities and oppressions" can lead to feelings of political inadequacy among some citizens, which is the cause of political mortification as stated in Chapter 2.

If curriculum developers of democratic education make it a priority to teach the ability to identify and challenge structural exclusions, internal exclusions and imbalances of power, and hegemonic discourses to students, then it follows that these things will plague the public sphere

less often. If political participants turn their skills to these matters, then we ought to see less political mortification, thus making the difference of skills between citizens less of a factor. In other words, knowing how to criticize participants that are unfairly dominating the discussion ought to lead to some successful challenges, and thus making the public sphere more democratic. Certainly, it would be unreasonable to think that participants will never try to distort the communicative process through manipulation or use of resources not available to other participants. However, participants with better political skills and who have been taught to identify and challenge such behaviour will have more success in stopping this than those who do not. If the goal of achieving the equal advancement and consideration of interests is something that is worthwhile, then it would be better to have more citizens who make these commitments than less, because it will lead to more successful challenges of exclusions, and thus a more democratic sphere.

In this sense, politics as a craft does advance political equality, even if some participants are not successful in advancing their claims or challenging the dominance of others at times. Politics as a craft is a necessary part of advancing political equality, but it alone is not sufficient for remedying political inequality.

#### **Attaching a Commitment to Justice**

Both Christiano and Dewey seem to believe that equality of procedures will lead to some sort of political equality. This is certainly Dewey's view, however it would be unfair to pin that claim on Christiano's work. As summarized in Chapter 1, Christiano is rightly concerned about the contentiousness of equality of outcomes, and thus does not use it as a basis for equality. Instead he favours guaranteeing equality of procedures. However, in more recent works, Christiano has

called for democratic institutions to realize social justice as public equality, where social justice is not just being done, but also seen to be done (Christiano 2008, 46). What he might mean by this statement is that public equality is a performative ideal that democratic procedures aspire to. This must be the case given that equality of outcomes has to play some role in the publicity of equality, despite how difficult it is to come up with a standard to define equality of outcomes adequately.

A similar statement might be made about Dewey's statements about using the discussions in the public sphere to challenge both inequalities and oppressions along with their respective sources. Dewey may well acknowledge that while all inequalities may never be completely removed, as long as a democratic public sphere exists, and so long as access to that sphere exists, then the basis by which to undermine inequality exists. It seems that Dewey believed that mere participation in the public sphere would eventually lead to citizens solving the problems of what he calls social inequality and oppression. However, we have identified earlier the role that internal exclusions might play in seemingly egalitarian forms of citizen participation.

The solution thus far presented in this work is to require that citizens be empowered sufficiently through the development of political skills. While political participation in both deliberative and aggregative forms of democracy can also help political skills, as was pointed out in Chapter 3, it would be preferable that these skills were developed as much as possible in the education system, before individuals participate politically. As has been argued previously, promoting skill development can even help challenge internal exclusions as well, since those with better skills

will be able to better challenge, critique, and subvert any internal exclusions and hegemonic discourses that might come about.

But none of this solves the potential problem of outcomes that could disempower groups or individuals. More specifically, even people with better developed political skills participating in democratic institutions that aim to meet the principle of equal advancement and consideration of interests may yield some rather unequal results. This is a point that is made by David Estlund (2009). Case in point, though politics as a craft may produce better skilled political participants that are better able to challenge and provide solutions to structural inequalities, internal exclusions, or hegemonic discourses, it does not necessarily mean that they will do so. The only thing that has been established so far is that those with more developed skills will simply challenge these things more effectively than those with less developed skills.

Dealing with this issue means establishing a link between social justice and democratic practices. This seems necessary given Christiano's own statement about social justice needing to be seen to be done in democratic institutions. This means that along with attempting to achieve the principle of equal advancement and consideration of interests, participants ought to make some commitment to achieving social justice in a publically ascertainable way as well. Without resorting to putting a standard on equality of outcomes, inserting a proviso to democratic outcomes stating that any inequalities that are produced by democratic procedures ought to be publically justified is needed.

If decisions produced in the public sphere lead to inequalities, requiring them to be publicly justifiable is, by definition, meant to render the decisions subject to critical analysis by those affected by their decisions, and entails an acknowledgement by those producing said decisions that they have come up short and why they came up short. Endo (2012) takes issue with Christiano's link between justice and democracy is the principle of the equal advancement and consideration of interests (this claim is made more explicit in his 2008 book *The Constitution of* Equality). Instead he argues that autonomy is the principle that makes a stronger link between the two. However, he defines autonomy much differently than Christiano does, as summarised at the beginning of this thesis. "By autonomy, I refer to an ideal of individual self-government, whereby persons may form, pursue and revise their conceptions of the good in light of their experiences and evolving judgements in reference to them" (41). For Christiano, autonomy and self-government do not simply mean the ability for an individual to revise their conceptions of the good, but rather his or her ability to impose his will or desire on the world. The ability to change one's conception of the good, Christiano would say, is a basic necessity for a citizen to participate effectively in the public sphere. If political decisions render the citizens somehow unable to do this, then the quality of political participation would drop. Moreover, citizens somehow losing this capacity to reconsider and alter their conceptions of the good would leave them severely disempowered, and that is how the quality of political participation would suffer, and would impact on their ability to consider their interests.

Even Endo wishes to separate the concepts of the advancement and consideration of interests from citizens' ability to revise their conceptions of the good, it seems more reasonable to treat the latter as part of the former. Endo himself explains it well; "One might argue that even if

autonomous choices do not always advance one's interests, *not* getting one's autonomy respected always violates one's interests" (2012, 43). As Christiano himself notes, each participant in the public sphere requires honouring the distinctive authority of persons as being the authorities in the realm of value (Christiano 2008, 18-19). Part of honouring individuals in this way requires that any inequalities produced by the public sphere be publicly justified. If democratic decisions somehow take steps backwards in terms of political equality, a public justification for such decisions can help serve as a guide to future participants that hope to make improvements on these decisions and bring about more equality in the future.

Requiring that any inequalities produced by the public sphere be justified publically can even serve a pedagogical value as well to the future decision-makers. Publically justified inequalities can help identify the cause, the nature, or the locus of what causes the inequality, and this can help frame the future discussions. As Dewey acknowledges several times in his works, the democratic process in the solving process can be a rough and dialectical one. This means that democratizing the public sphere will at times not create equitable results. Dewey was not so foolish as to think that a democratized public sphere would solve all the factors that could cause empowerment. What such a public sphere with empowered and skilled participants can ensure is that disempowerment is far less likely to happen through political participation, and leaves the participants in the public sphere more capable of achieving equality.

# **Political Experiential Learning: Some Success Stories**

What politics as a craft can do is equip future generations of citizens with the skills to build more equitable and democratic institutions and public spaces, and in turn will move us closer to the

principle of the equal advancement and consideration of interests. Coupled with a commitment to social justice, this hopefully will move democracies closer to political equality. However, there are examples from the real world that we can point to where experiential learning of political skills has successfully developed students' political skills and taught them political values that can make them function like critical actors in a democratic public sphere as Dewey had envisioned.

The issue of teaching political values to students might seem controversial on the surface, but decisions like these are made all the time when educators, school trustees, school boards, and parent-teacher associations are developing. A fair bit of thought is given to the kinds of social values that they want their students to learn in school, so that these values are practiced in adulthood. We can go back and remember how in our childhood we learned about cooperation, fair play, and mutual respect, and other values in the schoolyard as well as in the family home. Amy Gutmann writes that the primary purpose of education in a democracy is to instil the democratic values that we wish to replicate in our society, while at the same time giving children the necessary freedom to critically re-evaluate these values and their practice in order to improve democratic society (1987, 49). Thus education systems, whether they are private or public, reflect and teach social values and practical skills to its students.

The previous section highlighted some important caveats about what we should expect from a democratic society that implements politics as a craft. Interests will be considered and advanced more equally, and political equality ought to be advanced more than what is happening currently. This section will outline some examples where the experiential learning of political skills has

been successful in helping students feel more empowered and have a more positive view of the democratic process – at least in the sense that students learn that democracy is about allowing everyone to present proposals that they think will make them better off, and having these proposals considered, debated, and decided upon through a fair decision-making process. Moreover, while some elements of democracy help us learn about the interests of others and ourselves, other elements settle differences when our interests conflict.

While educators, policy makers, and developers of school curriculums must decide that the development of political skills is important enough that such a program has to be implemented, the result will certainly be a generation of students that has a lot more political aptitude than their parents, and in turn, will be much empowered and more motivated to participate in politics. As Colby, Beaumont, and Corngold (2008, 122) explain; "political skills cannot be easily separated from political understanding and motivation. These three categories of goals interact dynamically, often in mutually reinforcing ways. Students' mastery of political skills supports their motivation to participate, and reciprocally, political participation often results in greater political skill."

This is what was meant partially when it was stated earlier that improving the quality of political participation and empowering citizens ought to increase the quantity of political participation. Motivated participants are far more likely to participate than those who are unmotivated, and a good education program that not only teaches students how to master political skills but also gets them excited about the political process. Recognition of a participant's efforts in the public sphere is to help them feel empowered, and this must always be kept in mind when discussing

empowerment (hence the qualifier at the beginning of this paragraph). But having students already motivated about political participation will help future citizens hit the ground running in terms of political participation.

Thus there are two claims that need to be examined. The first is whether experiential learning is more effective in teaching political skill to students than more didactic approaches, and the second is whether experiential learning can motivate students enough to make them feel empowered about participating in the democratic process. Let us examine these claims in turn.

By way of reminder, experiential learning of political skill occurs when students are to learn how to participate politically by doing it. They are not to receive dogmatic instruction from instructors, nor are they supposed to learn by rote or mimic the actions of someone else. Students must learn by trying their own methods and strategies to solve these problems. Experiential civic learning programs such as the work done by the group Democracy Matters (<a href="www.democracymatters.org">www.democracymatters.org</a>) involve self-evaluation and feedback from multiple sources along with experiential learning exercises. As it turns out, this method of evaluation is very rigorous and students learn quickly what they did right and/or wrong (Colby et al. 2008, 129).

The experience of students participating in Democracy Matters is part of the empirical evidence that shows that learning political skill through experiential means is much more effective than strict textbook learning. Moreover, as Levine (2000, 231) explains; "the data show that methods of teaching matter. The National Assessment of Educational Progress (NAEP) is a survey that asks students how they had been taught civics, and many described a scene from a nineteenth-

century schoolhouse, complete with textbooks, frequent quizzes, and short-answer exercises. (....) The more frequently they had to memorize facts from the textbook, the worse they performed on the NAEP. Quizzes also seemed to lower their performance on this national standardized test. On the other hand, participation in mock trials and elections seemed to be effective. Covering a variety of topics also helped, as did discussion of current events" (see also Niemi and Junn 1998, 97 and Delli Carpini and Keeter 1996, 117-121).

This means that experiential learning is more effective than the conservative, dogmatic approach that Dewey decried over a century ago. Under the rubric of experiential learning, tradition, dogmas, or creeds do not bind students. They learn from their self-forged experiences, and sharing their experiences with others. There is a role for instructors in this rubric, but it is not to indoctrinate students or facilitate the memorization of strategies and techniques that have worked in the past. In this sense, the teacher and the student are in a sort of a master-apprentice relationship, where the teacher provides the student with the space in order to try to learn on his own. At the same time, the teacher uses his previous experiences (since he might already know what will work or will not work in a given situation) to provide guidance to the student when he might be failing. Ultimately, the student is the master of her own course, since she has to figure out her own solutions to the problems that she has to face. The teacher and the student's peers can judge the effectiveness of her attempts to solve problems, but the teacher should not pass on directly his own knowledge in a doctrinaire way. In this environment of experiential learning, there is a greater climate of equality than there is with conservative education, and because of this, students learn more about democratic values since they are practicing democratic values when they learn political skills through experiential learning.

The second claim that needs to be examined is whether students can become empowered politically through the learning process. Again, there is some empirical evidence from some school programs to show that this is the case. The first is a learning experiment by Joseph Cammarano and Linda Fowler (1997), used in the United States where the students participated in a simulation pretending to be American Congressmen trying to balance a budget. The second is the Students Experiencing Government program in Iowa. The program includes Capitol Youth Day and the Capitol Project, where students visit the State Capitol and see politicians at work first hand, and the Iowa Student Political Awareness Club, which serves as a gateway of information for students about the political process and political issues (Culver 2005, 70-72). In both learning environments, students engaged in the political process first hand. With Cammarano and Fowler's policy simulation, the students had to do exactly what legislators have to do all the time. In the Iowa learning project, students got to meet legislators, see them work, and talk to them about their work, and then had to engage in "a mock legislative process where they draft legislation, meet in committees, and conduct a session of debate" (Culver 2005, 72).

In both examples, students learned about the nitty-gritty of democratic politics first hand. In the case of the Iowa students, Culver reports that the Students Experiencing Government program was the first political exposure that the students received, and that the efforts of the Iowa education program improved the access to candidates, access to information, and removed the confusion and intimidation surrounding the mechanics of democracy (2005, 71). Students generally had a positive experience in the Iowa initiatives, and came to see that the political process is something that matters in their lives and that they can make a difference if they so

desire. The following is a quote from one of the students that participated in the Students Experiencing Government program; "It was a learning experience I will never forget. I plan to register to vote as soon as I am eligible so I can get involved. I hope to use this as a building block in the future for my career" (Culver 2005, 72).

Cammarano and Fowler observed similar sentiments with the students that participated in simulated legislative debates and Congress committee meetings. Cammarano and Fowler had noted that Americans had far more negative views about Congress than the presidency or the Supreme Court, and hoped that a simulation of Congress would help students learn more about how Congress works (1997, 105, see also Hibbing and Theiss-Morse 1995, 147). However, as the students reflected on their experiences from the simulation in reflective essays, they all gained a greater appreciation of the political process. "These essays (based on the student's experience in the simulation) often expressed an impressive depth of understanding of contemporary legislative politics. Although it is difficult to generalize from all students, the essays displayed a considerable understanding of the complexities of our pluralistic political system and the challenges presented by modern democracy. Most students commented that they gained a greater understanding of the policy process and a greater appreciation for members of Congress" (Cammarano and Fowler 1997, 116). Ultimately, the students in the simulation understood that even with the difficulties of bringing conflicting views together to try to form a coherent policy, they themselves had an effect on the democratic process. "The end result is that students learn that political processes are as much a product of the interests involved as the process by which policy is made, and that their own activity or inactivity could have significant consequences on the output of the policy process" (Cammarano and Fowler 1997, 106).

In engaging in real world problems – the very same that elected officials deal with every day – Cammarano and Fowler noted that students became more sympathetic to the democratic process. As they state; "in the effort to find solutions to real issues that are amenable to a majority of individuals in the exercise, students learn to appreciate the inherent difficulties, not only with the exercise at hand, but also with the legislative process employed by Congress. This in turn leads them to be more understanding and empathetic towards political elites. By requiring active participation and encouraging students to take an interest in the project, simulations also promote a shift from teacher-based instruction to student self-instruction" (1997, 106). Cammarano and Fowler describe two groups of students in their simulation: one group that was very interested in politics from the outset and the other that did not have a very strong interest in politics. After the simulation, all students – no matter what their previous interest level in politics was – gained both a greater appreciation for democratic politics and felt empowered by the process (1997, 116).

The sense of empowerment that the students drew from the simulations can serve as a basis of public trust, since they learned that the democratic process can be made to work and serve the interests of its citizens. These students, once they become old enough to participate in politics, will have confidence in democratic institutions. This confidence will cause these future citizens to respect and trust the democratic process to be able to allow individuals and groups to fairly and clearly advance their interests and have them considered, even though the results of the democratic process may not necessarily make them better off. There is a strong link between public trust in social and political institutions and procedural fairness, in the sense that

individuals will have trust in these institutions if they believe that they have at least a modicum of procedural fairness, as some studies show (Pillai, Schriesheim, Williams 1999; Sunshine and Tyler 2003; Grimes 2006).

A third example looks at a study done by Nagda, Gurin, and Lopez (2010) that looked how students learned democratic values and social justice through experiential learning. They used curriculums based on previous experiential learning modules developed by David Kolb (1984) and Paolo Freire (1970). Specifically, the authors wanted to examine the effects of experiential learning modules on students' ability to deal with intergroup relations and group conflict. Students learned about inequality in society in the classroom, but the curriculum moved beyond simple classroom teaching into the outside world and included experiential activities, simulation games akin to Cammarano and Fowler's work, discussion groups focusing on current events, participating in cultural events, and participating in collective action projects (Nagda, Gurin, and Lopez 2010, 172-173).

The aim of these learning sessions was not only to teach students about how to deal with group conflict, but also for students to gain a "democratic apprenticeship" (Nieto 1995). Not only is the goal for students to learn about how democracy ought to function, but also the terrain in which democratic decision-making occurs, which is that of deep disagreement. The backdrop of disagreement is mentioned by Christiano as something that is always present in modern politics and that participants ought to face up to it. When participants accept that moral disagreement is a part of politics, they are able to deal with it in a more realistic way. But at the learning stage, however, students can learn about the reality of democratic politics so that they can deal with it

later on in life as political participants. This, the authors note, is what is missing in civic education currently. Nieto (1995, 207) explains it well; "Not only is the *process* of democracy missing, so is the critical *content* of democracy that would expose all its contradictory dimensions. If schools are to provide students with an apprenticeship for the possibility of participation in democracy, both need to be included."

The authors' analysis of the students' attitudes demonstrate a change that came about through active, experiential learning (Nagda, Gurin, and Lopez 2010, 183). Specifically, students developed a greater sense of social and institutional injustice, along with wanting to increase intergroup understanding, using dialogue to resolve conflict resolution, and that inequality is something that needs to be tackled (Ibid.). This is consistent with previous work from one of the authors (see Lopez et al. 1998). These findings might simply be dismissed by saying that it is not surprising that students gained a greater sense of inequality given the content of the curriculum. However, these findings go further than that and suggest that how the students learn matters just as much, and that the active form of experiential learning is superior to more didactic forms in teaching students about social injustices. As they explain; "The results indicate that active forms of learning in which students actually practice what they are learning are especially influential in fostering understanding of action in solving intergroup conflicts. Both active learning in the classroom and engaged learning outside enhances students' learning. While content is important, it has to be actively processed by the students' (Nagda, Gurin, and Lopez 2010, 187).

With this final study we see Dewey's vision in practice. This last study shows how democratic education – which entails experiential learning - has led to students developing the ability to

ascertain inequalities along with empowering them to challenge these inequalities. This is consistent with Dewey's goal of having democratic procedures not only expose what he called oppressions but also its causes. As stated earlier, experiential learning of political skills can not only give students the skills to advance and consider their interests in the public sphere, it should also give them the ability to identify and challenge any internal or external exclusions, or any causes of political mortification that might come about. However, beyond this claim, we have seen some cases where experiential learning goes beyond this and empowers students to make them feel that they can make a difference in democratic politics, and what are the obstacles that can prevent democratic procedures from functioning the way that they should.

Ideally, politics as a craft can teach political skills and impart democratic values to students in a free, open, and democratic way and on a mass scale. If politics as a craft is successful, a new generation of students will arise who are more politically skilled and more willing to participate. Experiential learning can both develop skills and empower students, and thus create skilled citizens who are motivated to participate in the democratic process. This is yet another advantage of politics as a craft. It aims to improve primarily the quality of political participation, but since it can motivate students to participate politically by equipping them with political skills, it can also increase the amount of political participation in a democracy.

As we will see in the next chapter, there have been several projects used by state governments, primary and secondary schools, and universities to teach students about politics. Some of them have begun in the last decade, while others date back to the beginning of the 20<sup>th</sup> century. What they all have in common is that they take the experiential approach in teaching students. The

focus is shifted away from learning from textbooks and studying for exams. Instead, students are asked to deal with real world political problems. This turns out to be the most effective way for students to develop their political skills. As we will see below, students have a very positive experience in this kind of learning atmosphere, and they tend to learn more than by learning by rote.

# CHAPTER 6: POLITICS AS A CRAFT IN THE WORLD: FROM HIGH SCHOOLS TO ADULT EDUCATION

So far this work has made the case for incorporating politics as a craft into our democratic culture, in order to allow for the equal advancement and consideration of interests. Implementing politics as a craft entails understanding that political skills are learned through trial and error. In terms of legislation and policy, politics as a craft requires that the public education system incorporate a curriculum of civics learning and development of political skills, which will give individuals the necessary skills to construct, maintain, and participate in a democratic public sphere that allows for the equal consideration and advancement of interests, but also identifies and challenges any obstacles to the above mentioned principle. In short, education curriculums ought to be oriented to helping students develop the necessary skills to empower them to participate effectively in the public sphere. This in turn will reduce political mortification, improve the quality of political participation, and in doing so, help remove some of the barriers that some would-be participants would face in terms of internal exclusions and dominant discourses.

This final chapter will answer the question; "So what will this all look like in the real world? How do we implement politics as a craft?". As explained earlier, learning simulations like the ones done by Cammarano and Fowler, where students engaged in mock Congress debates and committee meetings, are good exercises in experiential development of political skills, since the students have to engage with the same problems that politicians have to deal with every day. The students are by and large left to their devices to work on these problems with some moderation

provided by their teachers. These exercises also have students write reflective essays about their experiences and the challenges that they faced, along with other methods of self-evaluation.

These learning simulations are good examples of experiential learning exercises that can be incorporated into secondary school curriculums. However this chapter will look at other education methods that entail the experiential learning of political skills. Firstly, there are service learning exercises, which have students at the primary school and secondary school levels help out a volunteer organization in a co-operative education format.

Another reform is developing courses in deliberative democracy. In these courses, students learn about democratic values, how to deliberate and communicate about various political issues, and how to behave and interact with others. These deliberative democracy courses would draw from the previous discussion and speech courses that were taught in American universities in the early part of the 20<sup>th</sup> century. This chapter will examine some of the textbooks used by these discussion courses. These textbooks and courses were designed to teach students how to communicate effectively in a group setting, but looking at them through a modern lens, these textbooks look very much like courses in deliberative democracy, where students participate in group discussions and are evaluated on their performance. Moreover, these discussion textbooks also taught students about the attitudes that a participant should have in discussion as well as the importance of discussion in a democracy.

Another measure that can bring politics as a craft into the area of adult education is a revival of the Federal Forum Project, which was an ambitious adult education program initiated in the United States during the 1930s. The Federal Forum Project was a nation-wide program that funded discussion forums where people attended and discussed various political issues of the day under the guidance of a discussion leader. The forum movement emerged out of small discussion groups in union halls and church basements, as well as the lyceum and Chatauqua movements. The Forum Project, much like the discussion courses taught in universities in the 1930s, look very much like deliberative forums to modern eyes. However, their purpose was slightly different to that of the deliberative forum today. While deliberation will try to reach a decision on an issue, the purpose of the forums of the 1930s were educative. The forums were there to simply have participants learn and grapple with the issues being discussed.

All three of these measures would entrench politics as a craft into the education system. This chapter will summarise and analyse these measures and explain how they involve the experiential learning of political skills. These initiatives can work at all levels of education, from primary school to even adult education. What is interesting about the discussion courses and the Federal Forum Project is that they first began over one hundred years ago but fell into disuse once the Second World War began. Service learning is much newer (emerging in the early 1990s) and is still very much on the ascendancy. While this chapter is making recommendations for the future, it is also an exercise in retrieval. We will be looking back to the early part of the twentieth century, when Dewey's work was most influential. As we will see, the discussion courses and the Federal Forum Project were very much influenced by Dewey's works. Much like the beginning of the twenty-first century saw several scholars interested in improving public discourse and empowering citizens through deliberative democracy, the beginning of the twentieth century had scholars with very similar concerns, although they were concerned more

with developing the discussion skills of citizens. Once these skills were developed, they believed, then public discourse would improve. So far this work has tried to argue that both are needed if the quality of political participation is to improve.

#### **Politics As A Craft and Democratic Values**

As stated earlier, the primary purpose of education in a democracy is to instil in our children the democratic values that we wish to replicate in our society, while at the same time giving children the necessary freedom to re-evaluate critically these values and their practice in order to improve democratic society<sup>20</sup>. Democratic education must equip students with the capacity of critical analysis to challenge long-established norms, even if it turns out that those norms can stand up to scrutiny. Nonetheless, if a society makes a commitment about the desirability of democracy, it has to teach future generations that democracy is desirable. Callan (1997, 9) sums it up well; "The need to perpetuate fidelity to liberal democratic institutions and values from one generation to another, suggests that there are some inescapably shared educational aims."

As explained earlier, a key role of democratic education is to empower future generations by equipping them with the necessary skills to be effective participants in the political arena. This is more than just saying that education is key in determining future political participation, a claim that several empirical studies support (Wolfinger and Rosenstone 1980; Sniderman, Brody, and Kuklinski 1984; Nie, Junn, and Stehlik-Barry 1996). As Levinson (1999, 60) explains, the result

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>20</sup> It should be noted that there are liberals who object to mandating civic education or implementing service learning. Scorza (2008, 163-171) sums them up. They are; 1) liberal democracy functions perfectly well without the cultivation of moral or civic virtue, but on a separation of powers and other constitutional devices. See Stephen Holmes, *Passions and Constraints: On the Theory of Liberal Democracy*, p. 175; 2) civic education violates the moral freedom of individuals. See Judith Shklar, "An Education for America: Tocqueville, Hawthrone, Emerson" in *Redeeming American Political Thought*, Dennis Thompson and Stanley Hoffman, p. 78; 3) it is wrong to impose a program of civic education that is inherently liberal on traditional communities, even though they live in a liberal state. See L.T. Hobhouse, *Liberalism*, p. 25; 4) Liberal democracy can never develop a single standard of civic education that is acceptable to large segments of the population.

from democratic education is that "...children should: gain sufficient self-esteem and confidence to feel comfortable articulating their views in public and laying themselves and their views open to challenge – but also possess enough humility to take challenges to their positions seriously; learn to express themselves in terms others will understand, and to listen to others' responses; be imaginative, possessing the ability to step into other people's shoes and to see perspectives other than their own; be creative, observant, and sensitive to subtlety; learn to think critically and to use reason effectively and judiciously".

From this we get another purpose of democratic education, which is to instil in students the necessary values that can perpetuate liberal democratic institutions. Scholars who have written on this subject (Callan 1997, 3; Levinson 1999, 102) have gone so far to suggest that liberal politics is a politics of virtue, and that democratic education must teach these virtues in order for liberal democracy to thrive. Both Callan and Levinson, along with Gutmann (1995), argue that autonomy should be the primary virtue that democratic education should teach students, and as such should teach students the necessary skills in order to function as autonomous agents in the political arena. "Children must also learn to evaluate the arguments made in a democratic and political world, as well as to put forth such arguments themselves. In practice, this means that children need to develop many of the same skills as those listed in section 2.4 in relation to their development of autonomy, to wit: to learn to read and write, to understanding at least basic history, economics, civics, political science, mathematics, and natural science; to separate style from substance; and overall to think critically and carefully" (Levinson 1999, 102-103).

Levinson's list provided in section 2.4 is even longer, as if the one cited here is not daunting enough. If citizens must have a basic knowledge of history, economics, mathematics, and natural science to name just a few in order to be truly autonomous in the political arena, then few citizens will ever meet that standard of political participation. If this is the case, then Anthony Downs' criticisms of voting (perhaps the most basic form of political participation) are correct—the vast majority of citizens will never be able to meet the cost of gathering information to have a reasoned and informed opinion in such a diverse array of fields of knowledge.

In this thesis, the standard of citizenship is much easier to fulfill than making each citizens autonomous agents. We are not asking citizens to have some knowledge in a wide range of fields, as those who claim that liberal education should aim to make all citizens autonomous agents would have us believe. The principle of equal consideration and advancement of interests only requires that citizens choose between aims and provide an articulate, reasonable, and discriminating list of aims to elected representatives to translate into policy and law. Since citizen empowerment is something that needs to be fought against, it is also necessary to help students develop the skills necessary to maintain a democratic public sphere that gives recognition to those who attempt to participate effectively (thereby working to empower these participants), but also develop the skills to identify and challenge any internal exclusions or hegemonic discourses that could create political mortification among participants. Some might argue that these skills are also needed in other aspects of life as well (see Gutmann 1995, 557-579). That might be true, but this list of skills provided here are necessary for citizens to create a democratic public sphere as Dewey had envisioned. If more students better developed political skills, and learn that political inequality is a goal that needs to be confronted, then a democratic

society can move closer to realizing the principle of the equal consideration and advancement of interests – far closer than democracies have been able to attain so far. Thus politics as a craft holds that the education process must teach the required skills in order for them to perform the activities of citizenship in later life. By doing so, the education system should teach students about the vital role that citizenship plays in a democracy, and that democracy's primary principle is that it allows for the equal advancement and consideration of interests.

#### The Current State of Affairs of Teaching Citizenship

Even though the goals of liberal education as spelled out by politics as a craft differs from the goals of education as argued by Callann, Levinson, and Gutmann, there is agreement on two points. The first point is that democracy is something worthwhile and that the education system should teach students about its inherent value. This means that along with equipping students with the necessary skills that they will need to function well as citizens in later life, students should also learn about democratic values. One key value that must be learned is the challenge that political inequality poses for the equal advancement and consideration of interests and a well-functioning democratic public sphere. It also means that students should learn that democratic politics requires reciprocity and a modicum of mutual respect towards others if it is to work.

The second point of similarity leads from the first, which is that citizenship is a vital part of democracy, and that the inherent value of what I have been calling the craft of citizenship is something that needs to be taught and cultivated. The first part of this assertion is obvious, or at least it should be. Democracy requires some input from its citizens in order to function. However

the second part holds that individuals are not born citizens and they have to learn both civic values and democratic skills if they are to become well-functioning citizens in a democracy. Waring (2008, 163) puts it well; "There is a broad consensus that democratic citizens are developed and cultivated through education, as humans are not born with an innate understanding of or predisposition toward any one form of government" (see also Parker 1996, xi-xiii).

The point here is simple: citizenship is an important aspect of an individual's life and that the skills of citizenship need to be developed if students are to engage in meaningful and worthwhile political participation. Empirical evidence shows that adults who learn these skills at a young age are much more likely to participate than those who do not (Verba, Scholzman, and Brady 1995; see also Yates and Younis 1988; Glanville 1999). As cited earlier, the NAEP surveys indicate that students have a much easier time learning political skills experientially than in the traditional textbook manner (Levine 2000, 231; Niemi and Junn 1998, Tables 4-10, 4-11, 6-1). These findings are consistent with students' experience from the learning simulations which are summarized in the previous chapter (see also Hurtado, Engberg, Ponjuan, Landreman 2000; Colby, Beaumont, Corngold 2008).

Furthermore, there is also evidence that suggests that students who engage in letter-writing campaigns to elected officials – which is a far more modest form of experiential learning than the learning simulations we saw in the previous chapters – show a greater aptitude for political participation (Zukin 2006; Colby, Beaumont, Corngold 2008). Finally, and not surprisingly, research in social psychology shows that like any other skills, the amount of time spent

practicing political skills has a positive effect on how well the student practices that skill (Ericsson, Krampe, Tesch-Romer 1993; Ericsson and Charness 1994; Ericsson and Lehmann 1996).

All of this empirical research would make a strong case for having a robust civic education program based on experiential learning and focused on developing democratic skills. However, the reality is most liberal democracies – especially the older ones – show that the opposite is the case. The civics education in the United States, Canada, the United Kingdom, and Australia is almost negligent. Civics courses spend very little time on developing these skills, and there is next to no focus or guiding direction when these skills are taught (Kaltsounis 1994, 180). Furthermore, instead of focusing on developing political skills through experiential means, these courses teach civics through memorizing facts out of a textbook. Put simply, teaching citizenship skills is not taken seriously in these countries, even though the interesting experiments outlined in the previous chapters are excellent exceptions to the rule. Osborne (2001, 13) submits that the various Canadian education systems<sup>21</sup> have completely abandoned teaching citizenship and turned schools into "training grounds for the new global economy". In Australia, things appear to be a bit better. The only statement of curriculum intent for civic education, found in the Common and Agreed National Goals for Schooling in Australia, aims to "develop knowledge, skills, attitudes and values which will enable students to participate as active and informed citizens in our democratic Australian society within an international context" (Print, Kennedy, and Hughes 1999, 39). While teaching of civics is highly interactive and does not rely on

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>21</sup> In Canada, education is a provincial jurisdiction and does not have a national education system unlike the majority of countries around the world.

textbooks (Ibid., 49), there is not enough time devoted to civic education vis-à-vis other subjects (Ibid., 49; see also Phillips 1995; Print 1995).

Braungart and Braungart (1998, 117-118) complain that the United States "has no national citizenship goals, curriculum, standards, examinations, or ways to evaluate citizen education" (see also Saxe 1992; Niemi and Junn 1998, 142). Despite the evidence that the textbook approach is not effective in teaching political skills, it seems that American educators by and large insist on using this method, even though it is clear that students do not like it. Waring (2008, 161) reports that "...most elementary school children did not like social studies because they find it boring and useless, that it does not apply to their life, and that there is far too much dependence upon textbook use" (see also Zhao and Hoge 2005, 216-221). Also, along with the lack of focus and unengaging method of instruction, there is also very little time spent on teaching political skills (Coggins 2007).

All of these factors work to create generations of students that lack the necessary skills in order to participate effectively in politics. This means that fewer participants have well-developed political skills and will tend to dominate democratic decision-making processes. If more citizens were empowered to participate and had the necessary skills, then this situation will be less likely to happen. Neimi and Junn explain the problem well. "When we say that students have a 'textbook' knowledge of how government operates, what we mean is that they have a naïve view of it that glosses over the fact that democratic politics is all about disagreement and the attempt to settle quarrels peacefully, satisfactorily, and in an orderly manner. (...) The cynicism that adults develop about politics may stem, in part, from the Pollyannaish view of politics that is

fostered by the avoidance of references to partisan politics and other differences of opinion and to the rough and tumble ways in which those differences are resolved in political life" (1998, 150). This leaves only those students with an interest in politics developing these skills, and they become the ones who participate in politics, get their voices heard, and ultimately, have a role in shaping policy. Those who never have that interest have a "propensity to take democracy for granted or have misunderstandings about what it means to be a democratic citizen" (Waring 2008, 164). This is the basis of political mortification discussed earlier.

The next three reforms that will be discussed can give civics education a true purpose by equipping students with the necessary skills to fulfill the activities of citizenship when they become adults. They are a radical departure from the status quo in teaching citizenship, even though they go back to the early years of the twentieth century. The interesting thing about that period of time and now is that the concern about public engagement was the same as it is now, the difference being that then the focus was on equipping citizens with the necessary skills to participate, and now, thanks to the dominance of deliberative democracy, the focus is on improving citizens' understanding of their interests. I have tried to argue in this work that the two are interdependent. These three measures, which involve experiential learning, will go far to invigorate democracy.

## **Courses in Deliberative Democracy and Political Participation**

A good way we can develop the political skills of students in schools is to treat the practice of deliberation and other forms of political participation as subjects in schools where students learn skills through trial and error and are evaluated on their progress. The learning simulations

discussed in the previous chapter aim to do exactly this, and others have made the call to teach deliberative democracy in schools (Parker 2003; see Morrell 2005 and McDevitt and Kiousis 2006 for empirical observations of the salutary effect of deliberative education on democratic skills and attitudes). At the beginning of the twentieth century, much like now, there was a great concern among political commentators and educators about the problem of both a lack of political skills and knowledge. As Keith explains; "Participants' lack of knowledge was a wellknown problem [in the 1900s]. In fact, one of the functions of the lecture-type forum (an informative speech followed by questions) was to bring groups not ready for discussion, usually due to lack of information, or 'data', to a point where they had the knowledge with which to discuss an issue that concerned them" (2007, 135). On the other side of the coin, John Dewey, along with other noted speech scholars at the time, such as A. Craig Baird and Alfred Sheffield, were by the 1920s and 1930s concerned with developing and improving methods of instruction for discussion precisely because they knew that these skills were important for future political use. All of these instructors believed that discussion education had political implications (Keith 2007, 140; see also Sheffield 1920; Baird 1924).

The discussion courses and textbooks that were taught in American universities in the 1920s emerged from here. As we will see, these courses resemble courses in deliberative democracy, at least to the contemporary reader. However, these courses did not emerge because educators all of a sudden decided that teaching skills in discussion would be a good idea. Teaching speech, rhetoric, and debate goes back to the days of Cicero and Aristotle. At the end of the 19<sup>th</sup> century and in the early 20<sup>th</sup> century, debate clubs and forensics teams were very popular in U.S. universities, and Speech Departments taught debating and speaking skills to students. Debate –

as it is now – was a competition between universities, but their popularity then far exceeded that of today. As Keith explains; "Debates could be wildly popular with student audiences; they sometimes involved pep rallies and large audiences. In fact, admission might be charged" (2007, 64). This popularity is reminiscent of the attendance levels of college games of football and basketball in the United States.

However, these debating classes had its critics, including Teddy Roosevelt (Keith 2007, 67). They said that debating was purely cutthroat and competitive, and contributed nothing to improving the nature of civic debate. This is one example of one of these criticisms. "Thus was proved the value of collegiate debating, which enables the student to espouse all sides of every question with equal conviction. It reminds one of perpetual motion, but no less of the two-party system, which makes it incumbent on our legislators not to consider the facts and accomplish the desired result, but justify a platform before an electorate of loyal partisans" (*The New Republic*, 13 April 1915). Debating bred the worst kind of politician, they argued, the one who takes the more convenient and profitable argument and does not argue from their convictions or principles (Keith 2007, 69).

By the 1920s and 1930s, educators agreed that debate was not effective in teaching democratic values and skills, and that it was more a competitive sport than an educative experience for both participant and spectator (Elliott 1928, 18). Here is where Dewey's writings about group learning had particular resonance. As we know, Dewey favoured experiential learning as a method of problem-solving, as for him learning involved problem solving in a non-competitive environment (Dewey 1910). Learning should occur among a group of individuals that were

working together to find a solution to a common problem. This means that learning democratic skills and values was not going to happen in a debate, which is a conflict that can be strictly manufactured for the sake of entertainment. Instead, democratic education occurs in discussion.

This is why the focus of speech pedagogy switched from the debate to discussion in the 1920s. Those who worked the field thought that more discussion was needed to offset the amount of debate in the public sphere, especially in the universities. "Debate is about winning (whether in contest or parliamentary contexts) and discussion isn't. Debaters are competitive and conflictive, often alienating their opponents, while discussion is cooperative, drawing out conflicts and valuing different points of views" (Keith 2007, 132-33, see Thonssen 1939). While they recognized that discussion was important in bringing about consensus in finding solutions to common problems, they also understood that disagreement is a part of human life and discussion could help participants better grasp the nature of the disagreement. This is a quote from one of the textbooks; "Social progress is very largely a product of social conflict. This position will sound less paradoxical if we say that personal and institutional growth are determined very largely by the methods employed in resolving personal and social problems. Every problem we meet presents the possibilities of a constructive, even a creative, solution. Problems should be regarded as opportunities for clearer insight, better understanding, and sounder policy" (McBurney and Hance 1939a, 17). This quote is almost Hegelian in spirit, in the sense that McBurney and Hance are ultimately claiming that social disagreement would lead to progress, at least in the hope that a solution beneficial to all would be found<sup>22</sup>. However, other educators took a more realistic view that would sound more familiar to contemporary readers. Baird stated that

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>22</sup> Some have suggested that Dewey was heavily influenced by the Heglian dialectic. See Daniel M. Savage, *John Dewey's Liberalism: Individual, Community, and Self-Development* 

even though discussion aimed at consensus, there had to be a point where "democracy must get on" and a decision has to be made, which usually took the form of a vote (Baird 1924, 260; Keith 2007, 134).

These textbooks showed a great sensitivity to the deep disagreement about politics, and the authors believed that it was important to teach this to students. Nearly all of the opening chapters in these textbooks begin with a discussion of democracy and the role that debate and discussion plays in it. McBurney and Hance (1939a, 28) quote directly from Dewey's *The Public and Its Problems*; "the essential need is the improvement of the methods and conditions of debate, discussion, and persuasion. That is the need of the public" (Dewey 1927, 208). They further state, "democratic values are best conserved by a cooperative, reflective approach to personal and social problems. Perhaps it is not too ambitious to say that the principles and methods of discussion attempt to bring these personal and social problems under the surveillance of an approach comparable in most respects to the scientific method" (1939a, 37). Here is another quote from McBurney and Hance's other textbook *The Principles and Method of Discussion*; "Communication plays an important role in any society. If democracy is to exist in a society as complex as ours, it is imperative that there be abundant opportunity for free and open communication" (1939b, 21).

Auer and Ewbank (1941) make an even stronger case for the link between democracy and discussion. "Discussion and debate are not simply courses in a college curriculum. They are the essential tools of a democratic society. To train students in the intelligent and effective use of these tools is the aim of this book" (3). In an article in the *Quarterly Journal of Speech*, Auer

states that one of the purposes of these discussion courses is to "recognize the importance and need of intelligent public discussion in a democratic society" (Auer 1939, 536). Elliott (1928, 6) also talks about the necessity of well-developed spheres of communication along with communication skills in a democracy, but his pessimistic view foreshadows C. Wright Mills' writings. "(T)here can be little question that a democratic process is the best way to grow men and women. It is he who does the thinking, faces the problems, makes the plans, who alone achieves both the growth and happiness. Our present ideal and practice of leadership reserve these supreme values to the leaders. Life has become, for a large number of people, pure drudgery. Men become 'robots', machines for executing other people's desires". This describes the political mortification that politics as a craft is supposed to prevent.

As we can see from these quotes, the developers of these textbooks were not only concerned with developing communication skills, but they also wanted to ingrain a deep respect for democracy, as they believed that the fundamental democratic act was discussing and solving common problems. As a side note, this teaching of democratic values was never intended to be a program of civic republicanism. As Keith explains; "The republican view was that people of virtue and character would automatically know what to do – it was built into the liberal arts education that made them people of character. The discussionist view was that anybody and everybody is a rational problem-solver whose skills can easily be harnessed to democratic practice. The 'equality' democracy presupposes was relocated to a skill basic to humans but improved through education" (2007, 152). The goal for solving these problems was not to bring the right people of good character together, but to bring everyone together the right way (Ibid.). It is interesting to see how much these goals expressed in these textbooks are similar to

deliberative democracy. Gutmann and Thompson argued that the problem with political discourse in the 1990s was that there was not enough deliberation. Fishkin makes a similar claim when he says that his Deliberation Day proposal can help discover what they really want from their elected officials. These educators in the 1920s and 1930s make a very similar claim, viz., that perennial discussion of common problems is necessary not only for improvement of public policy, but also for the development of communicative and civic skills. However, the development of discussion courses goes beyond this basic Millian claim. The initial development of these skills occurs within the classroom, and the purpose of these courses is to develop their skills to the point where they can make effective contributions to public discourse immediately when they begin participating politically.

Along with teaching students about the value of democracy, these courses also had lessons in how they should treat each other in a discussion setting. They often make mention of the proper "discussion attitude" that a participant should have when discussing with others. "The best way to understand how these books taught the 'discussion attitude' requires the more contemporary vocabulary of relationship. According to these books, discussants, in the ideal case, enacted a particular relationship with each other. The relationship was basically one of cooperative, mutual interests in solving a problem" (Keith 2007, 173). Developing this attitude was important, because successful problem-solving requires the complete cooperation of every participant (Pellegrini and Stirling 1936, iv). Elliott explains this necessity thusly; "the fellowship out of which creative results emerge is that between persons concerned in the same areas of life, but who have varying attitudes, convictions, and experiences. Such a fellowship is an achievement worthwhile because it demands, first; mutual respect; second, an attempt to understand the other

person's point of view; and third, an effort to find a way out in which all can join whole heartedly" (1928, 138). McBurney and Bance's (1939a) book is more of a manual for participants and discussion leaders alike, unlike Elliott's, but it too places importance on "the understanding of people and the ability to create relationships among them conducive to the kind of enterprise we know discussion to be" (259). Ch. XVII of this book gives instruction on how to recognize and deal with people of various personalities, such as introverts and extroverts, optimists and pessimists, flatterers and rude people, the smug and the easily offended (1939a, 260-265). General principles that they ask participants to follow in order to encourage the "discussion attitude" are; 1) to assume good motives from everyone, 2) reward constructive behaviour, 3) provide explanations of the behaviour of others that other participants may not understand, 4) restate disruptive contributions for the sake of clarity, and 5) ask substantive questions that find out the reason why the disruptive behaviour happens (Ibid., 267-268). Developing a good attitude in discussion does not entail creating a fraternity, but rather an atmosphere of openness and mutual respect so the mutual learning of interests can happen more easily. Once again, we can see the influence of Dewey here, and this explains why speech professors began to favour discussion over debate. "What annoyed Dewey, and the textbook writers, was that unscrupulous and self-interested discussants, demagogues actually, could convince others that unworkable solutions were the best ones" (Keith 2007, 179).

As alluded to earlier, these textbooks aimed to develop the communication skills of discussion leaders as well as those of participants. These textbook writers believed that the discussion leader was extremely important in these discussions. Not only did he have to moderate the discussion, he also had to be a model for the rest of participants in terms of communication skills and

behavior. "The chairman will grow accustomed to sensing the attitudes of the group. A group or assembly, working earnestly on any question, shows approvals, disapprovals, or differences of opinion quite manifestly. The chairman's success depends upon his learning how to listen and how to watch the facial and other bodily expressions of the members of the group" (Elliott 1928, 71). In short, the moderator had to be the model for the rest of the participants in a number of ways, such as understanding the issues, discussing and communicating clearly and effectively, treating others with respect, and behaving well in the discussion.

The role of the discussion leader greatly concerned these scholars, so much so that there was a whole subset of textbooks and manuals devoted to the subject of how to lead a discussion. Two of these books included J. V. Garland's Discussion Methods, Explained and Illustrated and William Utterback's Group Thinking and Conference Leadership. Garland provides a long list of hints that forum leaders (forums will be discussed in the next section) should follow if the discussion is to be successful. Some of these tips include; "No forum leader should talk longer than forty minutes, (...), The leader can and should avoid answering questions directly, by turning the question back to the persons asking them or by referring them to other persons, (...), Leaders should be adept in changing tactics of discussion (if the discussion begins to drag on), (....), he should not take sides on the question, (...), he should not allow anyone to monopolize the talking", among others (Garland 1938, 341-343). Furthermore, Utterback (1946) outlined three roles of the chairman in the discussion; 1) to regulate the discussion, 2) to keep discussion focused on the matter under consideration, and 3) interpreting individual contributions for the benefit of the group as a whole (12-14, 17). Elliott (1928, 90-91) also gives tips to the chairman for what to do when the group has trouble dealing with a baffling and confused situation, such as

working to determine the central problem and discover the factors in relation to the problem, and recognizing and summarizing underlying agreements and disagreements.

These scholars understood that a highly skilled discussion leader might make it difficult for others to participate (Judson and Judson 1937, 72), but they thought that a disproportionate level of skill between the moderator and participant could be overcome by the moderator's scrupulous adherence to democratic principles. These textbook writers, much like some defenders of deliberative democracy today, believed that the public discussion is where the heart of true democracy lies. For example, Utterback defined democracy "as government by talk" (1951, 10). Discussion is where citizens saw how democracy truly should function and the place where they refined their techniques in practicing democracy. Moderators had to be neutral and be a democratic model for the discussion group. If they did not, as we will see with the federal forums, the participants were more than willing to complain and point it out.

This view of the moderator as a neutral, highly learned, and impartial model of democratic skill for the participants has its parallels with modern scholars' view of the moderator in a discussion (see Barber 1984, 271-272). One useful way to understand the role of moderator in discussion is to compare him to the instructor in models of experiential learning. This method of learning allows the student to learn by observing someone with more experience. She could learn how to be an effective political participant on her own, but she can learn faster if she had some help. The experienced political practitioner can provide a model of effective political participation to the student while at the same time giving her the opportunity to develop her own skills. This form of

instruction primarily allows students to develop their skills via experience and figure out their own styles and methods through trial and error.

Finally, these courses aimed to teach students the necessary skills to participate effectively in discussions as well as how to structure the discussion. Once again, they borrowed heavily from Dewey. Elliott quotes Dewey's How We Think extensively and says the book should be a guideline for how group discussions should operate. Group thinking involves "1) a felt difficulty; 2) its location and definition; 3) suggestion of possible solutions, 4) development by reasoning of the bearings of the suggestions; 5) further observation and experiment leading to its acceptance or rejection" (Elliott 1928, 36; Dewey 1910, 72). Keith points out that the early textbooks such as Pellegrini and Stirling's Argumentation and Public Discussion had to rely heavily on using examples to illustrate their points, simply because there was no common pedagogical vocabulary to teach discussion skills. "Fully two-thirds of (Pellegrini and Stirling's) book was readings and transcript-style examples of public discussions, so students actually had a fair-chance of finding out how discussion worked, while having little chance to understanding it completely" (2007, 158). Even though it made conceptual learning of discussion difficult, it did provide a large space for experimentation in developing these skills, since discussion skills were left strictly to imitation and trial and error.

McBurney and Bance's *Discussion in Human Affairs* (1939a), one of the later textbooks in discussion learning, represents the finest example of an attempt to develop a common language for discussion skills development. It is a significant advancement on previous textbooks since it discusses which skills should be developed and how they should be developed. This goes beyond

developing the right attitude towards the process and other participants. *Discussion in Human Affairs* teaches students how to speak clearly and effectively, and how to couch one's submissions in language that others might understand, along with teaching students about mutual respect and being reasonable in the discussion. If a similar textbook were around today, it could be considered a textbook on deliberative democracy. Some of the tips that they provide deal with the actual mechanics of speech, reflecting on the tradition of speech development that these discussion textbooks emerged from. Much like previous speech textbooks, they discuss effective methods of communication, and ask students to look at animation and sincerity, directness, vocal discrimination, bodily action, and audibility (195-197).

However, McBurney and Bance also discuss how to contribute in a way that is both effective and accessible to all. They ask participants to consider the common good when defending a position and to cooperate with others. "Try to discover what should be the group purpose in the situation at hand. Work honestly and faithfully to get this purpose understood and achieved. Be tolerant of all points of view" (1939a, 200). In addition, participants should assume their share of group responsibility and treat the discussion as important, in order to keep the discussion from becoming a dull and boring affair (Ibid.). They also encourage participants to throw their ideas out for discussion, even if they are not sure of their opinions. "Do not be afraid to express your ideas in discussion even if you are not perfectly sure of your ground. Throw the idea into the discussion for what it is worth. If it proves to be wrong or of little value, be perfectly willing to recognize and acknowledge that fact. Let the group know what you are thinking about. It is only in this way that real group thinking can take place" (Ibid., 201).

They also ask participants to be objective and not personalise the discussion. As they recommend, "by all means defend a position in which you honestly and seriously believe, but be certain that this belief has its basis in the merits of the position and not in the fact that you happened to be the one to introduce the idea" (McBurney and Bance 1939a, 202). Moreover, students are asked to "listen to understand" and pay careful attention to understand all the positions being presented. This attitude is consistent with the purpose of deliberation as Christiano understands it, which is to give individuals the chance to learn their own interests and those of others. Finally, they ask participants to present their opinions and judgments in an empirical, almost scientific way. "The good scientific report presents no more and no less than the legitimate truth-claim of the conclusions it sets forth. The contributor in discussion, we believe, will do well to emulate this kind of reporting in most respects" (Ibid., 205). This again borrows from Dewey, since he believed that social discussion should almost take the form of a scientific enquiry, where everyone has the desire to solve a common problem, and emotion and prejudice has no place in these discussions. No doubt that some scholars such as Young and Sanders would have raised their eyebrows at this statement. However, it should be noted that some scholars, such as Elliott (1928, 80), believed that some emotional statements, or what Sanders today would call testimony, had a role to play in these discussions. Nonetheless, they do provide a schema for how statements should be made in discussion. "The speaker gives others an account of the reflective processes which he went through in reaching his conclusion. In so far as it is necessary for understanding, he presents the facts and expert opinions, the definitions, analysis (including his purposes and values), hypotheses considered, and what his reasoning has been on these hypotheses" (McBurney and Bance 1939a, 206).

On one level, it might seem strange to advocate the use of textbooks in these courses. However, once we look at the exercises in these textbooks, it is clear that they are experiential and experimental in nature. Once again, Discussion in Human Affairs is a good example of this. While the other textbooks from this time period tended to provide advice to the reader about how to create a good atmosphere for discussion, McBurney and Hance's book provides concrete exercises for the students, most of which involve students discussing amongst themselves what they read about in the textbook, and even asking them to challenge what the textbook says. Here is an example of one of the exercises. "Discuss the following statements in class. Do you agree or disagree? Why? A. Conflict is inherent in human experience as in all nature. B. Freedom of choice within the limits of our responsibilities to others is the essence of democracy. C. The principal limitations on freedom are those imposed by license, authority, and ignorance and incompetence (1939a, 26). McBurney and Bance do not merely assert that conflict is inherent in human nature, they ask the students to discuss it amongst themselves and grapple with whether this statement is true or not. Here is another example of an exercise where McBurney and Bance are directly asking the student to challenge their assertions. "Read and discuss the techniques for problem-evasion below. Can you add to the list? How would you cope with them?" (237).

This textbook is not simply a manual for good discussion, even though it provides several helpful hints and things to avoid to the student. It is designed to provide a framework for students to try out discussion on their own, and ask them to reflect on the successes and failure and try again. The following exercise is a good example of this; "Divide the class into groups of two and conduct dialogues before the class, Let each pair choose its own subject. Criticize pattern, continuity, spontaneity, the form and method of contributing, attitudes and manner of speaking,

and general conservational ability. Continue this drill with people who have difficulty in contributing" (McBurney and Hance 1939a, 211). Other exercises have the students setting up their own discussion forums. "Prepare a five-minute talk on some problem of your own choice. Plan this as a contribution in discussion in terms of the suggestions given in this chapter. Organize the talk on the basis of the five steps in reflective thinking. Consider questions such as these in criticizing the contributions: Was the speech clear and understandable? Was the contribution satisfactorily organized? (...) Following each talk, ask some member of the class to state in one minute what he has understood the position to be. If the speaker has not been understood, let the class ask questions until such an understanding has been reached" (Ibid., 210).

We can see another factor of experiential learning at play, which is that of mutual evaluation. Having the students evaluate themselves creates a situation where all the students can develop their skills, learn about how they did, and not feel discouraged by their progress - which can often happen when a student is evaluated. Of course, these exercises also involve evaluation from the teacher as well (these are university courses after all), but they also ask students to comment on each other's work as well. This not only helps them recognize effective and good discussion practices, but also helps them develop their own reflective and cognitive skills by asking them to think about what constitutes good discussion techniques. The practice of using multiple sources of evaluation has continued with experiential learning exercises to this day, and empirical evidence suggests that students retain more information when evaluated this way (Colby, Beaumont, and Corngold 2008, 128-129). At the end of the book, the exercises predominantly ask students to organise their own discussions about a variety of topics using

various discussion formats, including mock legislative debates and forums (McBurney and Bance 1939a, 295). Very few of these exercises involve any writing at all, only 28 of the 150 exercises in *Discussion in Human Affairs* directly asks students to prepare essays. Nowhere in the book do we find any mention of tests or quizzes, nor are students asked to memorize facts. Instead, the goal of these textbooks is to have students develop their skills of discussion by actually practicing and trying out these skills amongst themselves under the guidance of an instructor.

There are some similarities between the discussion that these instructors taught and deliberative democracy. Both sides would agree that discussion of the issues is necessary for the improvement of public discourse. Also, they would agree that the essence of democracy is deliberating about our choices. The claim in this thesis is different, since it borrows from Christiano's claim that both adversarial forms of democracy such as voting and deliberative democracy is needed if democracy is to meet the principle of the equal advancement and consideration of interests. Moreover, even though they were surprisingly accepting of pluralism, they still believed that all discussion should aim at consensus. As we saw earlier in this thesis, Dryzek and Niemeyer have argued that deliberation has a useful role to play even when consensus is not possible.

These textbooks offer an effective method to teach political skills that meets the Dewey's criteria of democratic education. In the exercises in these textbooks, students learn about democratic values, the good attitudes that one should have in a discussion, as well as how to debate, communicate, and deliberate effectively. It would be relatively easy to adopt these exercises,

update them for the 21st century, and turn them into courses in deliberative democracy and adversarial democracy (since the development of these skills in both these fields are required). As Niemi and Junn explain, the main problems with civics courses today are twofold. First, "civics classes, to judge from what students were examined on, deal sparsely with contemporary events, problems, or controversies" (1998, 50). This is a startling observation, given that democratic political action precisely asks citizens to make judgments about current problems and controversies. These discussion courses aimed to give students the skills to provide these judgments, and that civic education today is failing woefully in this respect. Secondly, "students seem to have retained knowledge on aspects of civic information that were already familiar to them from other contexts or that they were meaningful to them in some direct way" (Niemi and Junn 1998, 50-51). This is why they recommend that new civics courses must be "based on the recognition that American government and politics is a controversial and contested territory. Indeed, the practice of democracy is often characterized by strong differences and contentious debate, and its teaching should reflect this reality" (Ibid., 150). The discussion courses of the 1930s confronted the differences head-on, even though they asked students to discuss these differences and not necessarily debate them. A great deal of these exercises asked students to discuss contemporary issues with the goal that these discussions would not only develop the students' discussion skills, but also reveal new information about the arguments and improve our understanding of the debate.

The result of this, even though the authors of these textbooks never said as much, is that the students get a better sense of how democratic politics truly works, which in turn can cause them to develop a better appreciation of it. These discussion courses certainly did not shy away from

contentious issues, but instead used them as course material. With a more realistic expectation and understanding of the nature of democratic politics, we ought to expect students to be ready to deal with the actual challenges of participating in the public sphere instead of entering into politics with a false view of how politics should function.

### **Adult Education: The Federal Forum Project**

Any reform of the education system must look at adult education. At times, adult education gets ignored, especially by policy makers, but it usually plays a strong role in modern societies, and the United States is no exception. Knowles argues that adult education refers to three things. Firstly, it refers to a process that develops adults' knowledge and skills. Secondly, adult education is a set of organized activities for adults, such as classes and courses, etc. Thirdly, it can refer to a movement, or a network of individuals and associations working toward common goals. Generally, adult education will have all three of these aspects working together at the same time and in concert with each other (Knowles 1962, iv; Keith 2007, 242). Debating in the 1930s noted that adult education often has two goals – practical education that develops skills and liberal education that teaches liberal and democratic values. We have seen both goals in the discussion textbooks described above. Moreover, both goals of education feed into each other, "as contributing in different ways to democratic life: better and smarter workers have more time to become fluent in public affairs and so participate" (Keith 2007, 242; Debatin 1938, 13ff).

The Federal Forum Project, which remains to this day the only effort by an American government to educate adults on a mass scale, certainly captured all of these aspects. The Project

was a system of public forums that focused on a single topic, with an expert on the topic speaking for less than an hour, and the rest of the time was devoted to audience members asking questions. The audience were allowed to ask any type of question that they liked, even challenging the assertions of the expert. The forum's purpose was to inform citizens about the pressing issues of the day, develop their understanding of the society that they lived in, and also give them the opportunity to develop their communicative skills. Moreover, the goal of these forums was to have citizens take ownership of the problems that their society faced. John Studebaker, the Commissioner of the Office of Education in the 1930s who created the Federal Forum Project, had outlined the goals of the forum thusly. "First, they would provide an opportunity for citizens to learn about our 'complicated social order' outside organised schooling; second, they would allow citizens to learn more than was possible with self-study, primarily because in forums they were exposed to the views of other citizens, and third, forums would defeat the powers of demagogues, since forums brought ideas into the light for the critical examination, which was fatal to propaganda and demagoguery" (Keith 2007, 278, see Studebaker 1935, 43-44). As we can see, the forums were intended to teach citizens about how democracy should work along with informing, educating, developing their discussion skills, and encouraging them to critically analyse ideas that were brought up for discussion.

Programs and networks of adult education always come about because there is a skill that is not sufficiently developed in the population. They usually spring up organically because political and/or economic demands require them. As Keith (2002, 242) explains; "certainly one of the earliest reasons for adult education would have been religious instruction. Before mandatory schooling ensured a high literacy rate, learning the Bible would have happened not only in

church but in study groups formed through church and community associations (...) Economic interests frequently motivated adult education in the 19<sup>th</sup> century; the explosive growth in scientific and practical knowledge went hand in hand with advances in manufacturing and agriculture".

Much like the discussion courses in universities emerged from speech courses in the early 20<sup>th</sup> century, public forums, which were institutionalised publicly with the Federal Forum Project also emerged from previous arenas of adult education. These arenas were responding to economic needs, but they also entailed discussion about social and political problems. In the United States in the 1830s, the lyceums were popular in urban areas. They brought citizens together to share knowledge about their trades, but also brought people of different classes and viewpoints to foster a better common understanding of their community. While the lyceums were aimed at developing strong moral characters in participants (this sounds much more like civic republicanism than the intention of the forums), they did embrace a strong element of Deweyan democracy, viz., that citizens ought to take control of the common problems of society and work together to try and solve them (Ray 2005, 15; also see Bode 1956 for a detailed history on lyceums). The lyceums came to a crashing end once the American Civil War broke out, even though the accompanying lecture series survived until the 1880s (Ray 2005, 44).

On the other hand, the Chautauquas (named after Lake Chautauqua in New York, where the first of these meetings were held) emerged in rural areas in the 1870s as a summer camp that included basic religious instruction along with literacy education (Gould 1961). Over time, however, they grew much larger. Their religious tone was severely muted by the 1920s, and became touring

festivals that included entertainers and musicians, public speakers, and teachers. They taught students and had reading lists and assignments that students could complete to earn diplomas after a four-year program of correspondence study. The Chautauquas were the main vehicle for the creation of the University of Chicago (Keith 2007, 219; Gould 1961), which aimed to bring the Chautauquas' program of study into the university setting, but this goal changed after one of the main figures of the founding of the University, William Rainey Harper, died in 1906. While the Chautauquas were giant summer fairs for Americans living outside of rural areas, Rollo Hyman argued at the time "that the most valuable part of the Chautauqua was not the entertainments, but the educational part, the forum" (1915, 11). In the 1920s, the Chautauquas tried to become training grounds for citizenship (Reiser 2003, 12), much like the discussion courses aimed to be, but in doing so, they divorced themselves from their religious heritage and fell in popularity (Ibid., 274-285).

The forums did not emerge from the lyceums and the Chautauquas exactly, but they can derive some of their heritage from them. In the case of the lyceums and the Chautauquas, the development of communicative and deliberative skills was a byproduct of their main goals. The forums on the other hand were developed strictly to serve the political purpose of informing citizens and developing their communicative skills, as well as to serve as an arena for public discussion. As stated earlier, a forum had "a group of people attended in the evening, listened to a speaker for less than an hour, and then had some time to ask questions. Speakers were often college professors or journalists, and spoke about matters of public interest" (Keith 2007, 213). There was no such thing as a "one night only" forum. The forums were held in a series and were connected thematically, and participants were expected to subscribe for the entire series.

Moreover, the topics in the forum were always social and/or political. This was not the case with the lyceums or Chauatauquas, since they were aimed at primarily developing trades and literacy skills, respectively.

The first forum was the Cooper Union Forum, which was founded in 1859 to educate the working class about politics and social theory, followed by the Ford Hall Forum in Boston in 1908 (Keith 2007, 225; Lurie 1930,26-48). These forums grew in popularity tremendously – the Ford Hall Forum received congratulatory notes from Calvin Coolidge, Clarence Darrow, and John Dewey himself. Forums were also held on the airwayes, as nearly every major radio station at the time had a forum series. NBC aired America's Town Meeting of the Air, while CBS had The Columbia Public Affairs Institute, The Columbia Workshop, and An Invitation for Learning (Knowles 1962, 123). The forums on the radio were done with a studio audience providing questions, as the technology to take phone calls on the air did not yet exist. Also, several forums sprang up around the United States that were funded by the Carnegie Corporation of New York (CCNY) and the American Association of Adult Education (AAAE), which was the funding arm of the CCNY (Keith 2007, 257-259). The CCNY's goal was "to promote the advancement and diffusion of knowledge and understanding among the people of the United States by aiding technical schools, institutes of higher learning, libraries, (and) scientific research" (Cartwright 1935, 11). The AAAE funded several projects that promoted adult education, and the lion's share of them were forums. Since the format of these forums was not standardised yet, most of the forums were experiments to see if they could find the right formula for successful adult education. "The AAAE funded an enormous range of projects. In its first ten years, it spent just under three million dollars on adult education projects, about two million of which went to

'experiments', i.e. programs that might become self-sustaining, or models for others, if they succeeded" (Keith 2007, 261).

John Studebaker, the superintendent for Des Moines during the 1920s, received several CCNY grants to set up a forum series in the city. These forums proved successful throughout the 1920s and 1930s, and President Roosevelt appointed Studebaker as the Commissioner for the Office of Education in 1934, on the recommendation of Harry Wallace, a friend of Studebaker who was working for him as a discussion leader in the Iowa forums. Once appointed as Commissioner, Studebaker took his template for organizing forums in Des Moines to a national level with the Federal Forum Project, which was funded by the Federal Emergency Recovery Act (one of Roosevelt's several infrastructure programs to help the U.S. pull itself out of the Depression). Keith explains how these forums were organised; "so the elementary schools would be the basic forum location, for the 'neighbourhood forums', and in the high schools 'city-wide' forums; there were 18 of these. In the middle schools were 'central forums'; and in the high schools 'city-wide' forums; there were eight of these altogether. (...) In fact, most participants lived pretty close to the forums they attended' (2007, 279; Studebaker 1935, 61).

When the Federal Forum Project started, Studebaker created "demonstration centres" of forums all across the country, in order to generate interest. Even though the Federal Forum Project aimed at educating adults, the demonstration centres were linked to high schools with an eye to generating interest among the youth, where the discussions held in the demonstration centres integrated with existing high school curricula. Studebaker generally allowed any community to create forums and demonstration centres if they wanted them, but they had to meet the following

criteria; "1) forums would have to guarantee freedom of speech; 2) boards of education had to be the policy makers; 3) the superintendent would act as the administrator; 4) the space for forum meetings would have to be free of charge; 5) forums would have to be open to the public at no cost" (Keith 2007, 296). Studebaker hired forum leaders on a full-time basis, since he believed that full-time public employees would be neutral. These leaders were usually academics who were well versed in topics about the economy and international affairs – the two most popular areas of discussion in the forums.

Studebaker's contribution to adult civic education is significant for two reasons. Firstly, he created the only nation-wide adult civic education system using federal funds in United States history. The forums, since they were designed to encourage critical thinking as well as discussion, enabling participants to develop political skills. This makes Studebaker's forums an attractive reform for implementing politics as a craft in the field of political education today. Secondly, he was an extremely articulate defender of the civic forums, their purpose and aims, and how they contributed to the health of democracy. From Studebaker's statements, we get an understanding of why the forums existed and how they made its participants, society, and American democracy itself better off. Not surprisingly, the structure and spirit of the Federal Forums were heavily influenced by Dewey. They stressed that experiential learning of these skills was necessary for citizens to collectively come up with solutions to solve the problems that society faced. The aim of politics as a craft has a much simpler and more humble goal in line with Christiano. Political and communicative skills are to be developed in order for individuals and groups to better articulate, deliberate, and understand each other's interests. Also, these skills are required in order to provide a clear, reasonable, and articulate list of prioritised aims to

elected officials in order to be translated into policy and/or law. If all of this leads to the solving of society's problems through collective input, then so much the better, but politics as a craft does not have such a lofty goal.

The Project was a relative success in attracting people with different education levels in large numbers. "For the year 1937-38, the total attendance at 33 forums spread across 30 states was 1,109,235 people" (Keith 2007, 303). Even though they were relatively successful, Studebaker was concerned about getting more people to attend the forums, especially as attendance dropped off in 1938 and 1939. Studebaker had reported in 1937 that the advertising of the forums was an issue, as several people had never heard about them (Studebaker and Williams 1937, 69). However, as with the lyceums, war put an end to the Federal Forum Project. In 1940, as the Roosevelt administration focused more and more on World War II, the Office of Education was shifted into the new Federal Security Agency, and interests in adult civic education evaporated (Keith 2007, 264).

Studebaker turned to the forums, as stated earlier, because he saw them as an opportunity for citizens to develop their communicative and critical analysis skills in order to better understand and tackle the issues of the day. When he first started the forums in Des Moines, he hoped that they would both educate citizens about the complexities of society's problems and also help them come to terms with the difficulties of having to navigate through different and contradictory opinions and beliefs in order to find solutions to societal problems. Studebaker thought that the forums would mitigate against "propaganda" and "demagoguery" (1935, 45). He was developing the forums during the Great Depression when, unlike now, democracy was most

certainly not the only game in town. Events on the European continent at the time certainly showed that. He feared that the Depression would cause people to believe that efficiency and massive intrusion in the economy were what was needed, which meant a turn to socialism and/or dictatorship. Studebaker believed that the rise of fascism and communism was due to a failure of adult education. "In Europe, nation after nation has turned to dictatorship – Fascist or Communistic. Why? Because their people, like ours, are faced with complex problems...bewilderingly difficult to the voter" (Studebaker 1935, 9; Keith 2007, 266). Without developing political and communicative skills to the point where citizens could face society's challenges on their own, they could well turn over control over their lives to a demagogue. Experiential democratic education was the only way to develop and maintain a democracy. There was no authoritarian education system that could produce democratic citizens (Keith 2007, 266).

The only way to do that was to have a truly democratic education system. For adults, the forums represented the best way to develop the necessary skills to become a well-functioning and effective democratic participant. The forums involve members of the community listening to an expert on a given issue, asking questions, getting informed, and then discussing amongst themselves how to tackle these issues. Citizens had to talk to each other, because the issues are so complex that they require collective input to solve them, and free and unhindered discussion further entrenched democracy in society. For Studebaker, democracy was truly government by talk (Keith 2007, 268).

Studebaker believed that the forums had to be both educative and deliberative. They provided participants with information and new arguments to consider when thinking about what to do

about the issues being discussed. Moreover, by having a series of discussions with an expert in the field, a forum participant can learn effectively how to communicate, question, and criticise statements made by others. The forums occurred in a series, and participants were asked to attend all of the forums in a season. By having participants interact with experts and each other on a continued basis, participants would develop their deliberative and communicative skills by constantly practicing them. Through the development of communication and critical analysis, the forums would help entrench democracy by developing citizens who are capable and willing to try to solve the problems that they were facing instead of handing over the responsibility to dictators *carte blanche*.

Also, Studebaker wanted to ensure that the forums functioned in a democratic way along with developing democratic skills. For him, the forums were supposed to be an impartial "search for the truth" (Keith 2007, 300). As he explains; the forums represent "no better training in tolerance, in open-mindedness and in critical thinking, frequently under considerable tension, can be provided for the mass of busy citizens than in the city-wide forums where they witness the cold objective logic with which partisan positions can be proved" (Studebaker 1935, 59). The forums would have no place for debate simply for the sake of disagreement, nor would forum leaders tolerate partisan posturing or rhetoric. The forums, Studebaker believed, had great epistemic capacity for making insights about what should be done, so long as every participant, including the forum leader, remained committed to impartiality and *thinking about* finding solutions to problems that are in the public interest. I say "thinking about" because the forums did not aim to reach consensus about what to do about job losses or the rise of fascism in Europe for example (two issues that were discussed in Studebaker's Des Moines forums). As stated in

one of the prefaces read out by the forum leaders before the forum started; "These forums are not action groups; there will be no attempt to pass resolutions nor to organize for social action. This you will do in the various organizations, groups and parties to which you belong. If we all take our respective actions in these groups with more intelligence and greater understanding, these forums will have served their great purpose in Democracy" (Keith 2007, 300). The forums were not meant to generate consensus on these issues, but to provide participants the opportunity to learn more, think and talk about these issues, and thus improve the quality of public opinion. From this we can see how deliberative democrats, especially those that believe that deliberation serves a purpose in the absence of consensus, will find forums attractive as potential deliberative arenas.

Studebaker wanted to ensure neutrality and impartiality in the forums. This became an issue once the Federal Forum Project was launched and public funds were being used. Critics charged that forum leaders, paid from the public purse, could never be neutral, since they could become apologists for government policy. Studebaker answered the charge thusly. "forum leaders recognize that they are public educators, that they are supported in their positions by citizens and taxpayers of all shades of opinion, and that they should therefore fairly represent the claims of their various constituencies" (Studebaker 1935, 71). This should resonate with deliberative democrats today, since Studebaker is echoing Habermas' statement that public reason should be accountable to the diversity of claims and interpretations in the public sphere (Keith 2007, 285), even though Studebaker was more likely to use the term "public discussion" instead of "public reason". At the beginning of each forum, leaders told participants that their "purpose is to open the subject to discussion; to outline as fairly and impartially as possible the major issues involved

in our problem" and that "I am not an oracle, that I do not pose as a final authority. I am not here to tell you what to think, rather to join with you in an organized process of cooperative thinking" (Keith 2007, 300).

Participants were told early on that the forum was an arena for discussion, while the experts were there to provide information and to moderate. He would at times give his opinion, but would clearly state that his opinion is not definitive. "These conclusions I hold are subject to change in the light of new evidence. If from time to time I express my personal views it will be in the spirit of the phrase 'as I see it'" (Keith 2007, 300). This statement foreshadows what deliberative democrats have said should be the ideal attitude for participants in a deliberative arena. Both deliberation and the forums stress openness to change one's opinions in the light of a better argument. The forum leader was an expert, but he was also an experienced learner. He, like all the participants, was working to learn more about the problems being discussed, but he differed from them only in that he had more information and more experience in discussing and reflecting about these issues. Judging from these quotes from the forum's preface, it is clear that Studebaker intended the forum leader to be a model for the other participants to follow in terms of how to behave and speak at these forums and to model impartiality, neutrality, and civility. Since this statement was read aloud in every forum, participants were to expect this behaviour from the forum leader, and that this would create a culture of impartiality, neutrality, and civility in the forums. Studebaker thought that this would be enough to keep leaders from stepping out of line during discussions. "As citizens, they quickly recognize and protest against any biased and partisan attitude of the leader, whether consciously or unconsciously used by him to bend opinion in the direction of his own personal belief of prejudices" (Studebaker 1935, 67-68).

Even though the war effort spelled the end of the Federal Forum Project, it still represents the most ambitious attempt in American history to educate adults in political skills and political issues. Forums sprung up all over the United States, from major urban centres such as Atlanta and Milwaukee to less populated rural areas. This is important to note, since the lyceums and the Chautauquas were urban and rural phenomena, respectively. The forums were nominally interracial, even though full integration was not possible in the Southern states due to segregation laws at the time. To counter this, parallel black forums sprang up in Georgia, following Studebaker's methods (Keith 2007, 307; Tillman 1939, 33). The forums are very compatible with deliberative democracy as defended in this thesis. Deliberation, among other things, is supposed to provide individuals and groups with the opportunity to understand better their own interests as well as those of others. This is necessary, because our individual and collective understanding of interests is incomplete and imperfect, and thus in constant need of revision. The forums provided participants with this opportunity. If they wanted to know more about an issue, the forum leader could provide more information about it. Moreover, the forum let participants know what others were thinking, and would cause them to evaluate and analyse their own opinions vis-à-vis others. This give and take could reveal what preferences were not feasible or not acceptable to a majority of people.

While the forums had a lot of deliberative value, they were designed primarily to educate. The forums would teach adults about various issues through open and free discussion. This discussion would encourage the repeated use of critical analysis and reflection, which would cause participants to develop these skills further. As argued throughout this thesis, improving the

quality of political participation entails citizens developing a better understanding of what they want, and this requires strongly developed deliberative and reflective skills. Moreover, the forums had participants discuss issues with each other and with the forum leader, and once again, the repeated practice of speaking skills, this time under the moderation of forum leader, also helps to develop these skills. The forum is clearly a place for the experiential learning of skills necessary for the improvement of the quality of political participation. Moreover, the forum is also a model of the democratic values that should be cultivated in order to entrench politics as a craft into our democratic culture.

On top of this, the Federal Forum Project aimed to develop a strong ethic about how democratic discussions should function. While it is almost certainly the case that there are participants in these forums that have highly developed political skills and a good knowledge of the issue, it is clear that the atmosphere in these forums is meant to allow everyone to participate and have a positive experience. The discussion is not allowed to get to a point where one person or group dominates the conversation, thus ensuring that the discussion is free of internal exclusions.

## **Service Learning**

Service learning has become more entrenched in secondary schools in Canada, the United States (Niemi, Hepburn, and Chapman 2000; Perry and Katula 2001; Morgan and Streb 2001), and the United Kingdom, and is also seen in some universities in the United States and the United Kingdom (Annette 1999; 2003). Moreover, most Canadian high school students have to complete a set number of volunteer hours in order to graduate. As Hepburn (1997, 136) explains, service learning is "a combination of in-school learning and out-of-school work designed to enhance democratic education and assist the community". Service learning is a component of

school curricula that has students go out into the community, volunteer for community organizations, and to report back on their experiences in class.

Service learning is designed to teach students about the values of civic volunteerism and asks them to confront real-world problems by assisting volunteer groups. The main values that service learning stress are civic volunteerism and community-building. Ideally, students should learn that the volunteering and civic participation are important and necessary actions for an adult to engage in. This in turn helps the student develop a sense of community and helps them to think about what the common good is. As Lisman (1998, 26) explains; "promoting a spirit of volunteerism is often the pathway or route for drawing young people into community involvement. Community service is often the age appropriate way for young people to become involved in their communities" (see also Wuthnow 1991; Coles 1993). He cites statements in the Crick Report and statements by then-Home Secretary David Blunkett as evidence of this (Blunkett 2001, 19; Crick 2002, 113-115). "The Crick Report saw citizenship education as comprising three separate but interrelated strands: social and moral responsibility, political literacy and community involvement" (Annette 2005, 329). The goal for service learning here is for students to develop a strong sense of community and civic duty, and help them see that active civic participation is important.

The American version of service learning aims to help develop students' moral development. As Giles and Eyler (1998, 66) note; "students [who participate in service learning] are more likely to see themselves as connected to their community, to value service, to endorse systemic approaches to social problems, to believe that communities can solve their problems, and to have

greater racial tolerance when involved in service learning (Giles and Eyler, 1994; Markus, Howard, and King, 1993; Kendrick, 1996; Myers-Lipton 1996). The goal on both sides of the Atlantic is to improve civic engagement, and to mold students into the citizens that take civic action seriously and believe that it is necessary for building their community. Thus service learning will make students more socially responsible and more willing to take ownership of the challenges that their community faces (Exley 1996).

Service learning stresses moral development and civic volunteerism, which in turn will increase the quantity of not only political participation but also in non-profit sectors. Politics as a craft focuses on empowering citizens by improving the quality of political participation through the development of political, communicative, and deliberative skills. The goal of politics as a craft is not necessarily to produce citizens of strong civic virtue that will participate in order to strengthen and make their community better. Dewey saw the purpose of political participation in a slightly different way. Citizens participate in order to solve common problems, and doing so develops their skills. In terms of politics as a craft, participation develops these skills, but the purpose of participation is to advance and better understand our interests along with ensuring that

Service learning is already a function of experiential learning. As Lisman (1998, 28) explains, service learning programs have students "seek out service experiences that bear some relationship to the subjects being studied in the classroom". As mentioned earlier, students have to work with volunteer organizations and learn about the issues and problems that these

organizations deal with by working for these organizations on a day-to-day basis. This is a form of experiential learning, since it involves practical learning experience. Lisman further elaborates that "through the service experience, students often can discover early in the program whether this vocation meets their ends" (1998, 28).

But service learning is not without its critics. Kirlin argues that the effectiveness of service learning is hampered by not focusing more on developing civic skills (2002, 571). She points to the several studies that show participants in extracurricular clubs, which involve experiential learning, better develop their political skills than they would in service learning programs and were more likely to be engaged in politics in later life (Conrad and Hedin 1989; Glanville 1999; Hepburn 2000). Service learning, even though it constitutes a form of experiential learning, focuses on students learning civic volunteerism. But this is a mistake according to Kirlin. As she explains; "democratic society inherently demands collective decision making. Thus, young adults must practice the skills necessary for civic engagement; cognitive understanding of democracy is not sufficient. Adolescent participation in organisations provides the opportunity for hands-on development of foundational civic skills such as working in groups, organising others to accomplish tasks, communicating, and working out differences of substance or process on the way to accomplishing a goal" (2002, 573).

In her mind, service learning falls short of this goal. "The most significant step is rethinking the front end of service and volunteer programs so that students have as much latitude as possible to learn and practice civic skills through the process of designing and organizing their activities

themselves. This does not mean disengaging the service experience from the classroom content. Rather, it means facilitating students' discovery of what problems exist, whom they need to contact to address the issues, and what types of projects they will undertake" (Ibid.).

However, there are other experiential learning curriculums that focus on developing skills and more specifically, aim to teach students about social inequality, disempowerment, and social justice. Some of them have been elaborated above in the previous chapter, but there are several examples that can be culled from all over the world. Below is just a summary of a few.

In Australia, the ruMAD? (Are You Making A Difference) program began in 2001, empowers students to "enact social change and make a difference within their schools and communities. Predicated on the belief that everyone is able to improve and help change the communities in which they live, the program provides participants with opportunities for experiential civic engagement" (Zyngier 2009, 234). Immediately we can see from the very mandate of ruMAD? that it is designed to empower students to make a positive change in the world that they live in. However, this is a rather bald statement that could mean anything. One person's positive change is another's negative one. Yet if we look further in ruMAD?'s mandate, we see objectives that are rather close to the goals of politics as a craft. "ruMAD? is underpinned by four main educational objectives; 1) to engage young people in issues of social justice; 2) to engage young people with a high level of authenticity; 3) to promote student-led classrooms, thereby challenging teacher practice, and 4) to create real community change" (Westheimer and Kahne, 2004).

RuMAD?'s goal is not only to promote social justice, but also to provide students with "opportunities for transformative citizenship or thick democracy going beyond responsible citizenship or thin democracy" (Carr 2008, Gandin & Apple, 2005). While this statement would be very compatible with the participatory democracy elaborated by C.B. Macpherson decades ago, there is still a lot of overlap with the notion of politics as a craft. RuMAD? aims to teach students about social justice (the previous chapter talked about how some commitment to social justice is necessary), and works to teach them not only how to make a positive change through political action and community action but also empowers them to think that they can do something positive.

One ruMAD? project that was a particular success was undertaken by primary school students in the Australian township of Whitfield. Their goal was to clean up Jessie's Creek, which runs behind the school. They quickly realized that hand weeding was not going to work, so they began to look at how they could "influence other people and organisations to partner with them in making a difference to Jessie's Creek" (Zyngier 2008, 235), specifically by planting trees and hedges to prevent flooding and assistance to clean the creek up. Ultimately, they created a public awareness campaign and through presentations and letters, the students were able to attract funding from various sources, including the Victorian Government (Ibid.) RuMAD? is a good example of an experiential learning program both empowering students and allowing them to develop their own political skills to the point that they created a successful political campaign that attracted funding for the environmental project.

Finally, we have a series of programs and dialogues that are pushing higher education institutes to align them closer to civil society and away from the recent marketization tendencies found in universities. These curricular and pedagogical features are aimed to enable higher education institutes to become "co-creators of social chance by working side-by-side with communities and civil society organizations" (Bivens and Taylor 2010, 21). These programs are designed specifically to give students a better appreciation of the problems that certain groups within civil society are facing as well as encouraging more participation both in the political and social spheres.

Embedded in these programs is the aim to help students develop their skills to a point that they can participate effectively, along with teaching the values of social change and social justice to the students so that they can make positive change. The first example is the LTT (Learning and Teaching for Transformation) Program and the Institute for Development Studies in Brighton, UK The LTT Program's goal is to create "more participatory and democratically empowering forms of education" (Bivens and Taylor 2010, 24). Their goal is to develop programs and curriculums that will turn the classroom into a forum where students can develop their skills to create social change. As Bivens and Taylor explain; "many participants (in the LTT) root their work in participatory methodologies, perceiving participation to have the potential to reduce poverty and social injustice by strengthening citizen rights and voice, influencing policy making, enhancing local governance, and improving the accountability and responsiveness of institutions" (Ibid.). The authors talk about democratic educational spaces, meaning that the techniques that they favour are similar to the ones proposed by John Dewey, and that their programs and curriculums are designed to develop the skills of their students to the point that

they can participate effectively. "Rather than lectures, there is space for active learning and collaboration in which curricular knowledge is intentionally tested against or combined with the lived knowledge and experience of the class" (Bivens and Taylor 2010, 30). On top of this, another stated goal of LTT is empowering students to "shape the (learning) environment to suit their needs and those of their classmates. In a sense, the classroom becomes a microcosm of ideal democratic practice" (Ibid.).

## **Conclusion**

This chapter has looked at three reforms that can entrench politics as a craft into the education system. Courses in deliberative democracy at both the secondary and university levels can revive the discussion courses that were taught in American universities in the 1920s and 1930s. Given that deliberation plays such an important role in a democracy that aims to fulfill the principle of the equal advancement and consideration of interests, it is critical that individuals learn early on how to deliberate. Courses in deliberative democracy that focus on the experiential learning of the skills that are used in deliberation can help students participate effectively once they enter the public sphere. Also, a large scale adult education project such as the Federal Forum Project in the 1920s, if it were to be implemented again, can help develop these skills among the adult population. Moreover forums, by giving participants the opportunity to be informed about the issues and ask questions of the moderators, help participants develop their rational, cognitive, and reflective skills. Even though the forums certainly have qualities that resemble deliberative forums, they were primarily designed to teach people how to think about the solutions they want to the issues of the day. Finally, the various service learning programs that are already implemented in various school boards can be amended so that they focus on the development of political skills and promote the values that are consistent with a democracy that aims to allow for the equal advancement and consideration of interests. These three measures can help the students of today become the citizens of tomorrow – empowered citizens who can take their rightful place in the democratic process and make an effective and dynamic contribution.

## **CONCLUSION**

Most of the world today accepts that democracy is the best form of government. The task of this work is to find ways to make democracy work better. As stated above, democratic institutions are always evolving, as are all social and political institutions, but as a society we should do what we can to make democracy function in the best way possible. This work borrowed heavily from both Thomas Christiano and John Dewey, and in some sense this work brings the work of the two together, and can be seen as an extension of Christiano's theory of democracy that is expounded in *The Rule of Many*. The guiding principle of democracy, he argues, is the equal advancement and consideration of interests. In order for democracy to function better, it should aim to further develop this principle as much as possible. Christiano argues that this principle requires that a democracy have both aggregative forms of democracy. Deliberation is necessary because citizens need to come to a better understanding of their interests, and this understanding is in constant need of improvement. Deliberation provides an arena for citizens to defend and explain their interests to others and learn about the interests of others. Adversarial forms of democracy are needed to equitably resolve differences of opinion when consensus cannot be found.

If a democracy can fulfill the principle of the equal advancement and consideration of interests, then the political participation in that democracy will be high. The quality of political participation can be frustrated by a lack of empowerment among the citizens. The type of disempowerment that is of greatest concern in this thesis is political mortification, which is caused by a lack of political skill. Having more citizens with better developed political skills can not only facilitate the equal advancement and consideration of interests, it can also be put to use

to identify, challenge, and critique any internal exclusions and hegemonic discourses that could also cause disempowerment.

This work then turns around and looks at deliberative democracy and what solutions it can offer to problem of political mortification. Deliberation can empower citizens by providing them with arenas and forums to learn about each other's interests and can perform well at times at developing the political skills of participants, when a focus is placed on such a goal. However, this does not always happen, as some evidence shows. Moreover, deliberative theory holds that deliberation functions better when participants are sufficiently empowered before entering into proceedings rather than expecting that the participation in the forums will do enough to empower them.

If this is the case, then a democracy has to work to develop the political skills of its citizens in a free and democratic manner and on a mass scale. Conceiving political participation as a craft can do that. Acts of political participation are a craft. It is a craft because it is learned experientially, where an individual learns political skill through trial and error, and is evaluated in light of their successes or failures, and altered in light of those successes and failures. Students cannot learn political skill through what Dewey called conservative education, because such a method is doomed to failure as empirical studies show.

Politics as a craft can make three positive changes to our democratic culture. First, it can develop political skills in a free and open way, and on a mass scale. This can help resolve the difference of skill and empower the future generation of citizens, which means that the quality of political participation can be improved in a generation. Second, it can help students in seeing themselves as stakeholders in the policy or legislative status quo. By seeing themselves as stakeholders in the democratic process, students will come to understand that it affects their lives in some way, and will feel empowered enough to participate. Third, politics as a craft can help students develop an appreciation for politicians and democratic politics alike, and also learn to exercise democratic values. If citizens have a much less negative view of democratic politics than what citizens hold today, then the democratic process will not be seen as such an alien force to citizens. The democratic process will instead be something that belongs to the citizenry and is there to work for them – which most would agree is how democracy is supposed to function.

Furthermore, while politics as a craft will empower citizens by developing their skills, and by extension the public sphere will have high quality political participation and allow for the equal advancement and consideration of interest, it does remain possible that it could produce unequal results. This might be the case even though the expectation is that it will happen less often, at least as how Dewey sees it. This requires that participants in this public sphere make some sort of commitment to social justice, and imposing the condition that any inequalities that are producing by democratic decision-making processes ought to be justified publicly. Publically justified inequalities can help identify the cause, the nature, or the locus of what causes the inequality, and this can help frame the future discussions, and it causes decision-makers to

acknowledge and protect each individual's capacity for forging and creating their conception of the good. This could allow future participants to resolve the inequality.

Finally, this work concludes by looking at some reforms that can be made to the education system that are compatible with politics as a craft. There are several experiential learning simulations, which include the Iowa civic education initiatives, Kids Voting, and Cammarano and Fowler's simulation, along with several others that can be incorporated at the secondary level of education. Then, there are service learning exercises, which have students at the primary school and secondary school levels help out in a volunteer organization in a co-operative education format. Service learning exercises are aimed at developing civic duty, civic volunteerism, and strengthening the community. Politics as a craft is not aimed at developing these things, but only works to develop students' political skills. Nonetheless, service learning involves experiential learning, which makes it an attrative reform, but it needs to be recalibrated to be consistent with the aims of politics as a craft.

Another reform is developing courses in deliberative democracy. In these courses, students learn about democratic values, how to deliberate and communicate about various political issues, and how to behave and interact with others. These deliberative democracy courses would draw from the previous discussion and speech courses that were taught in American universities in the early part of the 20th century. These textbooks and courses were designed to teach students how to communicate effectively in a group setting. Moreover, these discussion textbooks also taught students about the attitudes that a participant should have in discussion as well as the importance

of discussion in a democracy. These textbooks can easily be updated to teach students how to deliberate and prepare them for political participation in their adulthood.

Another measure that can bring politics as a craft into the area of adult education is a revival of the Federal Forum Project, which was an ambitious adult education project initiated in the United States during the 1930s. The Federal Forum Project was a nation-wide program that funded discussion forums where people attended and discussed various political issues of the day under the guidance of a discussion leader. The Forum Project, much like the discussion courses taught in universities in the 1930s, looks very much like deliberative forums to modern eyes. However, their purpose was slightly different to that of the deliberative forum today. While deliberation will try to reach a decision on an issue, the purpose of the forums of the 1930s were educative. The forums were there simply to have participants learn and grapple with the issues being discussed. The forums are exercises in experiential learning because they give participants the opportunity to practice their communicative and reflective skills. All three of these measures would implement politics as a craft in our democracy, and invigorate it by developing the political skills of its citizens on a mass scale.

The basic argument of this thesis is that if democracy is going to work the way it should, then citizens must have the skills in order to participate effectively in politics. These skills cannot be imparted to citizens in a top-down way. It must be developed through a free and open process that is fundamentally democratic. When more citizens develop their political skills to the point where they feel that they can make an effective contribution to political participation, then we

will see democracy function more closely as it was intended to function; a government of the people, for the people, and by the people.

## **Bibliography**

About Us - Kids Voting USA. 2006. <a href="http://www.kidsvotingusa.org/page9592.cfm">http://www.kidsvotingusa.org/page9592.cfm</a> (accessed July 16, 2009).

Ackerman, Bruce. We the People: Foundations. Cambridge, Mass.: Harvard University Press, 1991.

Ackerman, Bruce, and James S. Fishkin. *Deliberation Day*. New Haven: Yale University Press, 2004.

Aldrich, John H. "Rational Choice and Turnout." *American Journal of Political Science* 37 (1993): 246–278.

Almond, Gabriel A., Verba, Sidney. *The Civic Culture*. Boston, MA: Little, Brown and Company, 1965.

Alway, Joan. Critical Theory and Political Possibilities: Conceptions of Emancipatory Politics in the works of Horkheimer, Adorno, Marcuse, and Habermas. Westport, Conn.: Greenwood Press, 1995.

Annette, John. "Character, Civic Renewal and Service Learning For Democratic Citizenship in Higher Education." *British Journal of Educational Studies* 53 (2005): 326-340.

- —."Citizenship Studies, Service Learning, And Higher Education." In *Education for Values: Morals, Ethics and Citizenship in Contemporary Teaching*, by Roy Gardner, Jo Cairns and Denis Lawton, 109-127. London: Kogan Page, 1999.
- —. "Community, Politics, and Citizenship Education." In *Education for Democratic Citizenship: Issues of Theory and Practice*, by Andrew Lockyer, Bernard R. Crick and John Annette, 139-149. London: Ashgate, 2003.

Arendt, Hannah. The Human Condition. Chicago: University of Chicago Press, 1958.

—. The Life of the Mind. New York: Mariner Books, 1978.

Ansolabehere, Stephen and Shanto Iyengar. *Going Negative: How Political Ads Shrink the Electorate*. New York: Free Press, 1995.

Aristotle. *The Politics*. Translated by Carnes Lord. Chicago: University of Chicago Press, 1980.

Arnstein, Sherry R. "A Ladder of Citizen Participation", Journal of the American Institute of Planners 35 (1969): 216-224.

Arvey, Richard D. et al. "Mainstream Science on Intelligence." *New York Times*, December 14, 1994.

Ashcraft, Richard. Revolutionary Politics and Locke's Two Treatises of Government. Princeton: Princeton University Press, 1986.

Auer, J. Jeffrey. "Tools of Social Inquiry." Quarterly Journal of Speech 35 (1939): 533-539.

Auer, J. Jeffrey, and Henry Ewbank. *Discussion and Debate: Tools of a Democracy*. New York: F.S.Crofts and Co, 1941.

Baird, A. Craig. "Argumentations as Humanistic Subject." *Quarterly Journal of Speech* 10 (1924): 260.

Banks, James A. "Foreword." In *Educating the Democratic Mind*, by Walter C. Parker, xi-xiii. Albany, NY: State University of New York Press, 1996.

Barber, Benjamin. Strong Democracy: Participatory Politics for a New Age. Berkeley: University of California Press, 1984.

Barnes, Samuel, and Max Kaase. *Political Action: Mass Participation in Five Western Societies*. California: Sage, 1979.

Barry, Brian. The Liberal Theory of Justice. Oxford: Oxford University Press, 1973.

- —. Justice As Impartiality. Oxford: Oxford University Press, 1995.
- —. *Why Social Justice Matters*. London: Polity Press, 2005.

Bauer, Walter. "On the Relevance of Bildung for Democracy." *Educational Philosophy and Theory* 35 (2003): 211-225.

Benhabib, Seyla. "Toward a Deliberative Model of Democratic Legitimacy." In *Democracy and Difference: Contesting the Boundaries of the Political*, by Seyla Benhabib, 67-95. Princeton, NJ: Princeton University Press, 1996.

Berelson, Bernard R., Paul F. Lazarsfeld, and William N. McPhee. *Voting: A Study of Opinion Formation in a Presidential Campaign*. Chicago: Chicago University Press, 1954.

Berger, Thomas. Village Journey: The Report of the Alaska Native Review Commission. New York: Hill and Wang, 1985.

Bessette, Joseph M. "Deliberative Democracy: The Majoritarian Principle in Republican Government." In *How Democratic Is the Constitution?*, by Robert A. Goldwin and William A. Shambra, 102-116. Washington, DC: American Enterprise Institute, 1980.

—. The Mild Voice of Reason: Deliberative Democracy and American National Government. Chicago: University of Chicago Press, 1994.

Bivens, Peter and Peter Taylor, "Learning Democracy through Dialogue: Re-imagining the Potential of Higher Education Institutes to Promote Social Change" in Elizabeth Pinnington and Daniel Schugurensky, eds., *Learning Citizenship by Practicing Democracy: International Initiatives and Perspective*. Newcastle: Cambridge Scholars Publishing, 2010.

Blais, Andre. *To Vote or Not To Vote? The Merits and Limits of Rational Choice Theory*. Pittsburgh: University of Pittsburgh Press, 2000.

Blunkett, David. *Politics and Progress: Renewing Democracy and Civil Society*. London: Politico's Publishing, 2001.

Bobbio, Norberto. Liberalism and Democracy. Milan: Verso Publishing, 1990.

Bode, Carl. *The American Lyceum: Town Meeting of the Mind.* New York: Oxford University Press, 1956.

Bohman, James A. "Deliberative Democracy and Effective Social Freedom: Capabilities, Resources, and Opportunities," In *Deliberative Democracy*, by Jon Elster, 321-348. New York: Cambridge University Press, 1998.

Bohman, James A. and Henry S. Richardson, "Liberalism, Deliberative Democracy, and 'Reasons That All Can Accept", *Journal of Political Philosophy* 17 (2009), 253-274.

Bollen, Kenneth A. "Political Democracy: Conceptual and Measurement Traps." In *On Measuring Democracy: Its Consequences and Concomitants*, by Alex Inkeles, 3-21. New Brunswick, NJ: Transaction Publishers, 1991.

Braungart, Richard G., and Margaret M. Braungart. "Citizenship and Citizenship Education in the United States in the 1990s." In *Citizenship and Citizenship Education in a Changing World*, by Orit Ichilov, 98-129. London: The Woburn Press, 1998.

Brookfield, Michael. "Learning Democratic Reason: The Adult Education Project of Jürgen Habermas." *Teachers College Record* 107 (2005): 1127–1168.

Browning, Rufus P., Dale Rogers Marshall, and David H. Tabb. *Protest Is Not Enough: The Struggle of Blacks and Hispanics for Equality in Urban Politics*. Berkeley: University of California Press, 1984.

Budge, Ian. The New Challenge of Direct Democracy. London: Polity Press, 1996.

Büyükdüvenc, Sabr. "John Dewey's Impact on Turkish Education." *Studies in Philosophy and Education* 13 (1994): 393-400.

Calhoun, Craig. "Populist Politics, Communication Media and Large Scale Societal Integration." *Sociological Theory* 6 (1988): 219-241.

Callan, Eamonn. *Creating Citizens: Political Education and Liberal Democracy*. Oxford: Oxford University Press, 1997.

Cammarano, Joseph, and Linda L. Fowler. "Enhancing Citizenship through Active Learning: Simulations on the Policy Process." In *Education for Citizenship: Ideas and Innovations in Political Learning*, by Grant Reeker and Joseph Cammarano. Lanham, MA: Rowman & Littlefield Publishers, 1997.

Campbell, James. "Dewey and Democracy", in Casey Haskins and David I. Seiple, eds., *Dewey Reconfigured: Essays on Deweyan Prgamatism*. Albany: State University of New York Press, 1999.

Cartwright, Morse A. *Ten Years of Adult Education*. New York: American Association of Adult Education, 1935.

Carr, Paul. "Educators and education for democracy: Moving beyond "thin" democracy." *Interamerican Journal for Education for Democracy* 1 (2008).

Catt, Helena. Democracy In Practice. London: Routledge, 1999.

Chambers, Simone. "Behind Closed Doors: Publicity, Secrecy, and Quality of Deliberation." *Journal of Political Philosophy*, 2004: 389-410.

Christiano, Thomas. *The Rule of the Many: Fundamental Issues in Democratic Theory* . Boulder, CO: Westview Press, 1996.

—. The Constitution of Equality. Oxford: Oxford University Press, 2008.

Coggins, Patrick C. Evaluating the impact of FCAT upon civic and historical understanding in Florida: An analysis of the extent to which elementary teachers have reduced the amount of time devoted to social studies instruction. Technical report, Deland, FL: Stetson University, Multicultural Education Institute, 2007.

Cohen, Joshua. "Autonomy and Democracy: Reflections on Rousseau." *Philosophy and Public Affairs* 15 (1986a): 275-297.

- —. "An Epistemic Conception of Democracy." Ethics 97 (1986b): 26-38.
- —. "Deliberation and Democratic Legitimacy." In *The Good Polity*, by Alan Hamlin and Philip Pettit, 18-27. New York: Basil Blackwell, 1989.
- —. "Deliberation and Democratic Legitimacy." In *Deliberative Democracy: Essays on Reason and Politics*, by James Bohman, Rehg and William, 67-91. Cambridge, Mass.: MIT Press, 1997.

Cole, George Douglas Howard. Guild Socialism Revisited. London: Leonard Parsons, 1920.

—. The World of Labour. London: G. Bell & Sons, 1913.

Colby, Beaumont Anne, Elizabeth, and Josh Corngold. *Educating For Democracy: Preparing Undergraduates for Responsible Political Engagement.* San Francisco: Jossey-Bass, 2008.

Coles, Robert. The Call Of Service: A Witness To Idealism. Boston: Houghton Mifflin, 1993.

Conrad, Dan, and Diane Hedin. *High School Community Service: A Review of Research and Program.* Madison, WI: National Center on Effective Secondary Schools, 1989.

Converse, Philip E. "The Nature of Belief Systems in Mass Publics." In *Ideology and Discontent*, by David Apter, 206-261. New York: Free Press, 1964.

Coppedge, Michael, and Wolfgang H. Reinicke. "Measuring Polyarchy." In *On Measuring Democracy: Its Consequences and Concomitants*, by Alex Inkeles, 47-69. New Brunswick, NJ: Transaction Publishers, 1991.

Crick, Bernard. *Democracy*. Oxford: Oxford University Press, 2002.

Crick, Nathan. *Democracy & Rhetoric: John Dewey on the Arts of Becoming*. Columbia, SC: University of South Carolina Press, 2010.

Cronin, Thomas E. *Direct Democracy: The Politics Of Initiative, Referendum, And Recall.* Cambridge, Mass.: Harvard University Press, 1989.

Crotty, William "Political Participation: Mapping the Terrain" in *Political Participation in American Democracy*, William Crotty, ed. New York: Greenwood Press, 1991.

Culver, Chester J. "How Government Can Enhance Civic Engagement: A Perspective from the State." In *Communicating Politics: Engaging the Public in Democratic Life*, by Mitchell S. McKinney, Lynda Lee Kaid and Dianne G. Bystrom, 69-79. New York: Peter Lang, 2005.

Cunningham, Frank. Theories of Democracy: A Critical Introduction. London: Routledge, 2002.

Dahl, Robert A. A Preface to Democratic Theory. Chicago: University of Chicago Press, 1956.

Dahl, Robert A. "Procedural Democracy." In *Philosophy, Politics, and Society, 5th Series*, by James Fishkin and Peter Laslett, 97-133. New Haven: Yale University Press, 1979.

- —. Dilemmas of Pluralist Democracy: Autonomy vs. Control. New Haven: Yale University Press, 1982.
- —. Democracy And Its Critics. New Haven: Yale University Press, 1989.
- —. On Democracy. New Haven: Yale University Press, 1998.

Dahl, Robert A., and Edward Tufte. *Size and Democracy*. Stanford: Stanford University Press, 1973.

Dalton, Russell J., and Martin Wattenberg. *Parties Without Partisans*. New York: Oxford University Press, 2001.

Dalton, Russell J. "Citizenship Norms and the Expansion of Political Participation", *Political Studies* 56 (2008): 76-98.

Darwall, Stephen L. "Equal Representation." In *Nomos XXV: Liberal Democracy*, by J. Roland Pennock and John W. Chapman, 51-69. New York: New York University Press, 1983.

Debatin, Frank M. *The Administration of Adult Education*. New York: American Book Company, 1938.

Delli Carpini, Michael X., and Scott Keeter. What Americans Know About Politics and Why It Matters. New Haven: Yake University Press, 1996.

DeLuca, Tom. The Two Faces of Political Apathy. Philadelphia: Temple University Press, 1995.

Dewey, John. How We Think. Boston: D.C. Heath & Co., 1910.

- —. The Public and Its Problems. Denver: A. Swallow, 1927.
- —. Freedom and Culture. New York: G. P. Putnam, 1939.
- —. Democracy and Education. New York: Macmillan Publishing, 1944.
- —. The Middle Works of John Dewey, Volume 11, 1899 1924: 1918-1919, Essays on China, Japan, and the War, Boydston, Jo Ann, ed., Carbondale: Southern Illinois University Press, 1988.
- —. The Middle Works of John Dewey, Volume 12, 1899 1924: 1920, Reconstruction in Philosophy and Essays, Boydston, Jo Ann, ed., Carbondale: Southern Illinois University Press, 1988.
- —. The Later Works of John Dewey, Volume 14, 1925-1953: Essays, Reviews, and Miscellany Boydston, Jo Ann, ed., Carbondale: Southern Illinois University Press, 1988.
- —."My Pedagogical Creed." In *The curriculum studies reader*, by David J. Flinders and Stephen J. Thornton, 17-25. London: Routledge, 2004.

Dombrowski, Daniel A. Rawls and Religion: The Case for Political Liberalism. Albany: SUNY Press, 2001.

Dowding, Keith. "Is It Rational to Vote? Five Types of Answers and a Suggestion." *British Journal of Politics and International Relations* 7 (2005): 442-459.

Downs, Anthony. An Economic Theory of Democracy. New York: Harper and Brothers, 1957.

Dryzek, John S. *Discursive Democracy: Politics, Policy, and Political Science.* New York: Cambridge University Press, 1990.

—.Deliberative Democracy and Beyond: Liberals, Critics, Contestations. Oxford: Oxford University Press, 2000.

Dryzek, John S., and Christian List. "Social Choice Theory and Deliberative Democracy: A Reconciliation." *British Journal of Political Science* 33 (2003): 1-28.

Dworkin, Ronald. "What is Equality? I. Equality of Welfare." *Philosophy and Public Affairs* 10 (1981a): 228-240.

—. "What is Equality? II. Equality of Resources." *Philosophy and Public Affairs* 10 (1981b): 283-345.

Elections Canada. "Voter Turnout at Federal Elections and Referendums, 1867-2006." *Elections Canada Website*. January 31, 2007.

http://www.elections.ca/content.asp?section=pas&document=turnout&lang=e&textonly=false (accessed January 15, 2009).

Elliott, Harrison S. *The Process of Group Thinking*. New York: The Inquiry, 1928.

Elster, Jon. "Strategic uses of argument", in Kenneth Arrow et al. eds, *Barriers to the Negotiated Resolution of Conflict*, New York: Norton 1995, pp.236-57.

Endo, Chikako. "What the Publicity Condition Means for Justice", *Politics* 32 (2012): 39-45.

Ericsson, K. Anders; Ralf Krampe & Clemens Tesch-Römer. "The Role of Deliberate Practice in the Acquisition of Expert Performance." *Psychological Review* 100 (1993): 363-406.

Ericsson, K. Anders, & Neil Charness. "Expert Performance: Its Structure and Acquisition." *American Psychologist* 49 (1994): 725-747.

Ericsson, K. Anders, & Andreas C. Lehmann "Expert and Exceptional Performance: Evidence on Maximal Adaptations on Task Constraints." *Annual Review of Psychology* 47 (1996): 273-305.

Estlund, David. "Democratic Authority: Towards a Philosophical Framework." *Deliberating About Deliberative Democracy*. Austin, Tex., 2000.

- —. "Democracy and the Real Speech Situation." In *Deliberative Democracy And Its Discontents*, by Samantha Besson and Jose Luis Marti, 75-91. London: Ashgate, 2006.
- —. "Debate: On Christiano's The Constitution of Equality", *The Journal of Political Philosophy* 17, (2009): 241–252.

Euben, J. Peter. *Corrupting Youth: Political Education, Democratic Culture, and Political Theory.* Princeton, NJ: Princeton University Press, 1997.

Evans, Norman. "Experiential Learning: Its Assessment and Accreditation", in Mulligan, John and Colin Griffin, eds. Empowerment Through Experiential Learning: Explorations of Good Practice. London: Kogan Page, 1992.

Exley, Robert J. "Commitment to Community: Service Learning at Miami-Dade Community College." *New Directions for Community College* 93 (1996): 35-41.

Feld, Scott, and Bernard Grofman. "Rousseau's General Will: A Condorcetian Perspective." *American Political Science Review* 82 (1988): 567-576.

Filer, John E., Lawrence W. Kenny, and Rebecca B. Morton. "Redistribution, Income, and Voting." *American Journal of Political Science* 69 (1993): 920-925.

Fischer, Frank. "Citizen Participation and the Democratization of Political Expertise: From Theoretical Inquiry to Practical Cases", *Policy Sciences* 26 (1993): 165-187.

Fishkin, James S. *The Voice of The People: Public Opinion and Democracy*. New Haven: Yale University Press, 1995.

Franklin, Mark N. Voter Turnout and The Dynamics of Electoral Competition in Established Democracies Since 1945. Cambridge, UK: Cambridge University Press, 2004.

Friere, Paolo. Pedagogy of the Oppressed. New York, Continuum, 2005.

Fung, Archon. "Survey Article: Recipes for Public Spheres: Eight Institutional Design Choices and Their Consequences." *Journal of Political Philosophy* 11 (2003): 338-367.

—. "Deliberation Before the Revolution: Toward an Ethic of Deliberative Democracy in an Unjust World." *Political Theory* 33 (2005): 397-419.

Fung, Archon and Erik Olin Wright, "Deepening Democracy: Innovations in Empowered Participatory Governance", *Politics and Society* 29 (2001), 5-41.

Gandin, Luis A. and Michel W. Apple. "Thin versus thick democracy in education: Porto Alegre and the creation of alternaties to neo-liberalism." *International Studies in Sociology of Education* 12, (2005): 999-1116.

Garforth, Francis W. Educative Democracy. Oxford: Oxford University Press, 1980.

Garland, Jasper V. Discussion Methods, Explained and Illustrated. New York: H.W. Wilson, 1938.

Gaus, Gerald. "Reason, Justification, and Consensus: Why Democracy Can't Have It All." In *Deliberative Democracy*, by James Bohman and William Rehg, 205-242. Cambridge, Mass.: MIT Press, 1997.

Gerber, A.S., D. P. Green, and M. Green. "Partisan Mail and Voter Turnout: Results From Randomized Field Experiments", *Electoral Studies* 22 (2003), 563-579.

—."A Service Learning Research Agenda." *New Directions For Teaching and Learning* 73 (1998): 65-72.

Giles, Dwight E., and Janet Eyler. "The Impact of a College Community Service Laboratory on Students." *Journal of Adolescence* 17 (1994): 327-339.

Gimmler, Antje, "Deliberative Democracy, the Public Sphere, and the Internet", *Philosophy and Social Criticism* 27 (2001), 21-39.

Glanville, Jennifer L. "Political Socialization or Selection? Adolescent Extracurricular Participation and Political Activity in Early Adulthood." *Social Science Quarterly* 80 (1999): 279-290.

Goodin, Robert E. Motivating Political Morality. Oxford: Blackwell Publishing, 1992.

- —. Reflective Democracy. Oxford: Oxford University Press, 2003.
- —. "Talking Politics: Perils and Promise." *European Journal for Political Research*, 2006: 235-261.
- —. Innovating Democracy: Democratic Theory and Practice After The Deliberative Turn. Oxford: Oxford University Press, 2008.

Goodin, Robert E., and John S. Dryzek. "Deliberative Impacts: The Macro-political Uptake of Mini-publics." *Politics and Society* 34 (2006): 219-244.

Goodin, Robert E., and Simon J. Niemeyer. "When Does Deliberation Begin? Internal Reflection versus Public Discussion in Deliberative Democracy." *Political Studies* 51 (2003): 627-649.

Gould, Carol. Rethinking Democracy: Freedom and Social Cooperation in Politics, Economy and Society. New York: Cambridge University Press, 1988.

Gould, Joseph E. *The Chautauqua Movement: An Episode in the Continuing American Revolution.* New York: University of New York Press, 1961.

Graham, Keith. The Battle of Democracy. London: St. Martin's Press, 1986.

Gray, John. *Liberalism*. Milton Keynes: Open University Press, 1986.

Gutmann, Amy. "Civic Education and Social Diversity." Ethics 105 (1995): 557-579.

- —. "Democracy." In *A Companion to Contemporary Political Philosophy*, by Robert E. Goodin and Philip Pettit. London: Blackwell Publishing, 1993.
- —. Democratic Education. Princeton, NJ: Princeton University Press, 1987.

Gutmann, Amy, and Dennis Thompson. *Democracy and Disagreement*. Cambridge, Mass.: Belknap Press, 1996.

Habermas, Jurgen. *Moral Consciousness and Communicative Action*. Translated by Christian Lenhart and Shierry Weber Nicholson. Cambridge, Mass.: MIT Press, 1980.

- —. Between Facts and Norms: Contributions to a Discourse Theory of Law and Democracy. Cambridge, Mass.: MIT Press, 1996.
- —. The Structural Transformation of the Public Sphere: An Inquiry Into a Category of Bourgeois Society. Cambridge, Mass.: MIT Press, 1989.

Hayward, Clarrisa, "Doxa and Deliberation." Critical Review of International Social and Political Philosophy 7 (2004) 1-24.

Held, David. Models of Democracy, 2nd Edition. Stanford: Stanford University Press, 1996.

Hepburn, Mary A. "Service Learning in Civic Education: A Concept with Long, Sturdy Roots." *Theory into Practice* 36 (1997): 136-142.

Hepburn, Mary A. "Service Learning and Civic Education in the Schools: What Does Recent Research Tell Us?" In *Education for Civic Engagement in Democracy*, by Sheilah Mann and John J. Patrick. Bloomington, IN: ERIC Clearinghouse for Social Studies, 2000.

Heron, John. "The Politics of Facilitation: Balancing Facilitator Authority and Learner Autonomy." In *Empowerment Through Experiential Learning: Explorations of Good Practice*, by John Mulligan and Colin Griffin. Bristol, PA: Kogan Page, 1992.

Hibbing, John, and Elizabeth Theiss-Morse. *Congress as Public Enemy: Public Attitudes Toward American Political Institutions*. Cambridge, UK: Cambridge University Press, 1995.

—. Stealth Democracy. Americans' Beliefs About How Government Should Work. Cambridge, UK: Cambridge University Press, 2002.

Hicks, Darrin. "The Promise(s) of Deliberative Democracy", *Rhetoric and Public Affairs* 5 (2002), 223-260.

Hooghe, Marc. "The Rebuke of Thersites: Deliberative Democracy Under Conditions of Inequality", *Acta Politica* 4, (1999) 287–301.

Horowitz, Gad, and Asher Horowitz. Everywhere They Are in Chains: Political Theory from Rousseau to Marx. Toronto: Nelson Canada, 1988.

Hurtado, S., M.E. Engberg, L. Ponjuan, and L. Landreman. "Students' Precollege Preparation for Participation in a Diverse Democracy." *Research in Higher Education* 43 (2000): 163-186.

Inglehart, Ronald. *The Silent Revolution: Changing Values and Political Styles Among Western Publics*. Princeton, NJ: Princeton University Press, 1977.

Inglehart, Ronald, and Gabriela Catterberg. "Trends in Political Action: The Developmental Trend and the Post-Honeymoon Decline." *International Journal of Comparative Sociology* 43 (2002): 300-316.

James, Rita M, "Status and Competence of Jurors", *The American Journal of Sociology* 64 (1959), 563-570.

Johnston, Ron, and Charles Pattie. "Is There a Crisis of Democracy in Great Britain? Turnout and Marginality at General Elections Reconsidered." *Political Science Association, 50th Annual Conference.* London, 2000.

Jones, Peter. "Political Equality and Majority Rule." In *The Nature of Political Theory*, by David Miller and Sidney Siedentop, 155-182. Oxford: Oxford University Press, 1983.

Judson, Lyman, and Ellen Judson. *Modern Group Discussion, Public and Private*. New York: Rinehart & Co., 1937.

Kalven, Harry. The Negro and the First Amendment. Chicago: University of Chicago Press, 1966.

Karpowitz, Christopher F., Chad Raphael, and Allen S. Hammond, "Deliberative Democracy and Inequality: Two Cheers for Enclave Deliberation among the Disempowered", *Politics and Society* 37 (2009), 576-615.

Katz, Richard S. Democracy and Elections. New York: Oxford University Press, 1997.

Kaltsounis, Theodore. "Democracy's Challenge as the Foundation for Social Studies." *Theory and Research in Social Education* 22 (1994): 176-193.

Keiser, Richard A. Subordination or Empowerment? African-American Leadership and the Struggle for Urban Political Power. New York: Oxford University Press, 1997.

Keith, William M. Democracy as Discussion: Civic Education and the American Forum Movement. Lanham, MD: Lexington Books, 2007.

Kendrick, J. Richard, Jr. "Outcomes of Service-Learning in an Introduction to Sociology Course." *Michigan Journal of Community Service Learning* 3 (1996): 72-81.

Kinsella, Warren. The War Room. Toronto: The Dundurn Press, 2007.

Kirlin, Mary K.. "Civic Skill Building: The Missing Component in Service Learning?" *PS: Political Science and Politics*, 2002.

Knight, Jack and James Johnson. "What Sort of Equality Does Deliberative Democracy Require?" In *Deliberative Democracy*, by James Bohman and William Rehg, 279-321. Cambridge, Mass.: MIT Press, 1997.

Knowles, Malcolm. *The Adult Education Movement in the United States*. New York: Holt, Reinhart, and Winston, 1962.

Kolb, David A. Experiential Learning: experience as the source of learning and development. New York, Prentice Hall, 1984.

Krampen, Gunter. "Political Participation in an Action-Theory Model of Personality: Theory and Empirical Evidence", Political Psychology 12 (1991): 1-25.

Laqueur, Walter. Fascism: Past, Present, Future. Oxford: Oxford University Press, 1997.

Lau, Richard, Lee Sigelman, and Ivy Brown Rovne, "The Effects of Negative Political Campaign: A Meta-Analytic Reassessment", *The Journal of Politics* 69 (2007), 1172-1209.

Laver, Michael, and Norman Schofield. *Multiparty Government: The Politics of Coalition in Europe*. Oxford: Oxford University Press, 1990.

Lees-Marshment, Jennifer. *Political Marketing and British Political Parties: The Party's Just Begun.* Manchester: Manchester University Press, 2001a.

—. "The Marriage of Politics and Marketing." *Political Studies* 49 (2001b): 692-713.

Lenaghan, Jo. "Involving the Public in Rationing Decisions: The Experience of Citizens' Juries." *Health Policy* 49 (1999): 45-61.

Levine, Peter. *The New Progressive Era: Toward a Fair and Deliberative Democracy*. Lanham: Rowman and Littlefield Publishers, 2000.

Levinson, Meira. The Demands of Liberal Education. Oxford: Oxford University Press, 1999.

Lewy, Guenter. *The Cause That Failed: Communism in American Political Life*. Oxford: Oxford University Press, 1997.

Lipset, Seymour Lipset. *Political Man: The Social Bases of Politics, 2nd Edition.* Baltimore: Johns Hopkins University, 1981.

Linz, Juan J., and Alfred Stepan. *Problems of Democratic Transition and Consolidation: Southern Europe, South America, and Post-Communist Europe.* Baltimore: Johns Hopkins University Press, 1996.

Lisman, C. David. *Toward A Civil Society: Civic Literacy and Service Learning*. Westport, Conn.: Bergin and Garvey, 1998.

List, Christian, and Robert E. Goodin. "Epistemic Democracy: Generalizing the Condorcet Jury Theorem." *Journal of Political Philosophy* 9 (2001): 277-306.

Locke, John. *Second Treatise of Government*. Edited by C. B. Macpherson. Indianapolis: Hackett Publishing, 1980.

Lopez, Gretchen E., Gurin, Patricia and Nagda, Biren A. "Education and Understanding Structural Causes for Group Inequalities", *Journal of Political Psychology* 19 (1998): 305–329.

Luban, David. "The Publicity of Law and the Regulatory State." *Journal of Political Philosophy* 10 (2002): 296-316.

Lukes, Steven. Power: A Radical View. London: Palgrave McMillian, 2004.

Lurie, Reuben. The Challenge of the Forum. Boston: Richard Badger, 1930.

Macedo, Stephen, et al. *Democracy at Risk: How Political Choices Undermine Citizen Participation and What We Can Do About It.* Washington, DC: The Brookings Institute, 2005.

Macpherson, C. B. *The Political Theory of Possessive Individualism: Hobbes to Locke*. Oxford: Oxford University Press, 1962.

- —. *The Real World of Democracy*. Toronto: CBC Publications, 1965.
- —. The Life and Times of Liberal Democracy. Oxford: Oxford University Press, 1977.

Manin, Bernard. "On Legitimacy and Political Deliberation." *Political Theory* 15 (1987): 338-368.

Mansbridge, Jane. Beyond Adversary Democracy. New York: Basic Books, 1980.

—. "Everyday Talk in the Deliberative System." In *Deliberative Politics: Essays on Democracy and Disagreement*, by Stephen Macedo, 211-243. Oxford: Oxford University Press, 1999.

Marcuse, Herbert. One Dimensional Man: Studies in the Ideology of Advanced Industrial Society. Boston: Beacon Press, 1964.

Markus, Gregory B., Jeffrey P. F. Howard, and David C. King. "Integrating Community Service and Classroom Instruction Enhances Learning: Results From an Experiment." *Educational Evaluation and Policy Analysis* 15, no. 4 (1993): 410-419.

Marshall, Peter. *Demanding The Impossible: A History of Anarchism*. London: HarperCollins, 1992.

Matsusaka, John G., and Filip Palda. "The Downsian Voter Meets the Ecological Fallacy." *Public Choice* 77 (1993): 855–878.

McAdam, Doug, Sidney Tarrow, Charles Tilly. *Dynamics of Contention*. Cambridge, UK: Cambridge University Press, 2001.

McBurney, James H., and Kenneth G. Hance. *Discussion in Human Affairs*. New York: Harper & Brothers, 1939a.

McBurney, James, and Kenneth G. Hance. *The Principles and Methods of Discussion*. New York: Harper & Brothers, 1939b.

McBride, Cillian, "Deliberative Democracy and the Politics of Recognition", *Political Studies* 53 (2005), 497-515.

McDevitt, Michael, and Spiro Kiousis. "Deliberative Learning: An Evaluative Approach To Interactive Civic Education." *Communication Education* 55 (2006): 247-264.

McDonnell, Lorraine M. and M. Stephen McDonnell, "Practical Deliberation in Local School Districts: A South Carolina Experiment", Center of the Study of Evaluation, University of California Los Angeles (<a href="http://www.cse.ucla.edu/products/reports/TECH520.pdf">http://www.cse.ucla.edu/products/reports/TECH520.pdf</a>), 2000.

McDonnell, Lorraine M. and M. Stephen McDonnell, "Deliberation with a Purpose: Reconnecting Communities and Schools" in Rosenberg, Shawn W., ed., *Deliberation, Participation, and Democracy*, London: Palgrave McMillan, 2007.

McPherson, Michael. "Mill's Moral Theory and the Problem of Preference Change." *Ethics* 92 (1982): 252-273.

Mendelberg, Tali, "The Deliberative Citizen: Theory and Evidence" in Delli Carpini, Michael, Leonie Huddy, and Robert Y. Shapiro, eds. *Research in Micropolitics. Vol. 6*, Elsever Press, 2002.

Michels, Robert. Political Parties: A Sociological Study of the Oligarchical Tendencies of Modern Democracy. Glencoe, Ill.: Free Press, 1915.

Mill, James. An Essay on Government. New York: Liberal Arts Press, 1955.

Mill, John Stuart. "On Liberty." In *Utlitarianism, On Liberty, Considerations on Representative Government*, by John Stuart Mill, edited by Geraint Williams, 69-162. London: J. M. Dent, 1993.

Mills, Charles Wright. The New Men of Power. New York: Harcourt, Brace, 1948.

- —. *The Power Elite*. London: Oxford University Press, 1956.
- —. White Collar: The American Middle Classes. New York: Oxford University Press, 1951.
- —. "The Conservative Mood." In *Power, Politics, and People*, by Irving Louis Horowitz. New York: Oxford University Press, 1967.

Miller, David. "Deliberative Democracy and Social Choice." Political Studies 40 (1992): 54-67.

—. Social Justice. Oxford: Oxford University Press, 1976.

Milner, Henry. Civic Literacy: How Informed Citizens Make Democracy Work. Hanover: University Press of New England, 2002.

Moritz, Theresa. *The World's Most Dangerous Woman: A New Biography of Emma Goldman*. Vancouver: Subway Books, 2001.

Morrell, Michael E. "Deliberation, Democratic Decision-Making and Internal Political Efficacy." *Political Behaviour* 27 (2005): 49-69.

Mutz, Diana C. *Hearing The Other Side: Deliberative versus Participatory Democracy.* Cambridge, UK: Cambridge University Press, 2006.

Myers-Lipton, Scott J. "Effect of a Comprehensive Service Program on College Students' Level of Modern Racism." *Michigan Journal of Community Service Learning* 3 (1996): 44-54.

Nagda, Biren A., Patricia Gurin and Gretchen Lopez. "Transformative Pedagogy for Democracy and Social Justice", *Race Ethnicity and Education* 6 (2003):165-191.

Neisser, Ulric, et al. "Intelligence: Knowns and unknowns." *American Psychologist* 51 (1996): 77-101.

Netlau, Max. A Short History of Anarchism. London: Freedom Press, 1996.

Nevitte, Neil. *The Decline of Deference: Canadian Value Change in Cross-National Reference*. Peterborough, Ont.: Broadview Press, 1996.

Newman, Peter C. *The Secret Mulroney Tapes: Unguarded Confessions of a Prime Minister.* Toronto: Random House Canada, 2005.

Newman, Anne. "All Together Now?: Some Egalatarian Concerns About Deliberation and Education Policy-Making", Theory and Research in Education 7 (2009): 95-87.

Nie, Norman, Jane Junn, Kenneth Stehlik-Barry. *Education and Democratic Citizenship in America*. Chicago: University of Chicago Press, 1996.

Niemi, Richard G. "Costs of Voting and Nonvoting." *Public Choice* 27 (1976): 115-119.

Niemi, Richard G., and Jane Junn. *Civic Education: What Makes Students Learn.* New Haven: Yale University Press, 1998.

Nie, Norman H., Jane Junn, and Kenneth Stehlik-Barry. *Education and Democratic Citizenship in America*. Chicago: University of Chicago Press, 1996.

Nieto, Sonia. "From Brown Heroes and Holidays to Assimilationist Agendas: Reconsidering the Critiques of Multicultural Education" in C. E. Sleeter &P. L. McLaren, eds. *Multicultural Education, Critical Pedagogy, and the Politics of Difference*, Albany, NY, SUNY Press, 1995.

Norris, Pippa. Critical Citizens: Support for Democratic Government. New York: Oxford University Press, 1999.

- —. "Apathetic Landslide: The 2001 British General Election." In *Britain Votes 2001*, by Pippa Norris. Oxford: Oxford University Press, 2001.
- —. Democratic Phoenix: Reinventing Political Activism. Cambridge, UK: Cambridge University Press, 2002.

Nye, Joseph S., David C. King, and Philip D. Zelikow. *Why People Don't Trust Government*. Cambridge: Harvard University Press, 1997.

Gary Orren, "Fall from Grace: The Public's Loss of Faith in Government" in Nye, Joseph S., David C. King, and Philip D. Zelikow. *Why People Don't Trust Government*. Cambridge: Harvard University Press, 1997.

Osborne, Ken. "Public Schooling and Citizenship Education in Canada." In *Educating Citizens for Pluralistic Society*, by Rosa Bruno-Jofre and Natalia Aponiuk, 11-49. Calgary: Canadian Ethnic Studies, 2001.

Parekh, Bikhu. "The Cultural Particularity of Liberal Democracy." In *Prospects for Democracy: North, South, East, West*, by David Held. Cambridge: Polity Press, 1993.

Parkes, Tessa, Marilyn Taylor, and Marc Wilkinson. "From Protest to Partnership? Voluntary and Community Organisations in the Democratic Process." In *Democracy and Participation: Popular Protest and New Social Movements*, by Malcolm J. Todd and Gary Taylor. London: Merlin Free Press, 2003.

Parkinson, John. Deliberating In the Real World: Problems of Legitimacy in Deliberative Democracy. Oxford: Oxford University Press, 2006.

Pateman, Carole. *Participation and Democratic Theory*. Cambridge, UK: Cambridge University Press, 1970.

Pellegrini, Angelo, and Brents Stirling. *Argumentation and Public Discussion*. New York: Knopf, 1936.

Perry, Geraint. "Constructive and Reconstructive Political Education." Oxford Review of Education 25 (1999): 23-38.

Phillips, Anne. *The Politics of Presence*. Oxford: Oxford University Press, 1998.

Phillips, Harry. "The Ideas of Citizenship: Perceptions of Western Australian Youth." In *Civics and Citizenship Education: Issues from Practice and Theory*, by Murray Print, 19-24. Canberra: Australian Curriculum Studies Association, 1995.

Pillai, Rajnandini, Chester A. Schriesheim, and Eric S. Williams. "Fairness Perceptions and Trust as Mediators for Transformational and Transactional Leadership: A Two-Sample Study." *Journal of Management* 25 (1999): 897-933.

Plato. Gorgias. Translated by Walter Hamilton. New York: Penguin Books, 1960.

Plattner, Marc F. "From Liberalism to Liberal Democracy." *Journal of Democracy* 10, no. 3 (1999): 121-134.

Popper, Karl, *The Open Society and Its Enemies*. London: Routledge, 1962.

Print, Murray. *Political Understanding and Attitudes of Secondary Students*. Canberra: Australian Government Publishing Service of Australia, 1995.

Print, Murray, Kerry Kennedy, and John Hughes. "Reconstructing Civic and Citizenship Education in Australia." In *Civic Education Across Countries: Twenty-Four National Case Studies from the IEA Civic Education Project*, by Judith Torney-Purta, John Schwille and Jo-Ann Amadeo, 37-61. Delft, Netherlands: The International Association for the Evaluation of Educational Achievement, 1999.

Przekowski, Adam. "Minimalist Conception of Democracy: A Defense" in Democracy's Value, Shapiro, Ian and Casiano Hacker-Cordon, eds., 23-56. Cambridge, UK: Cambridge University Press, 1999.

Puddington, Arch. Freedom in the World 2006: Middle East Progress Amid Global Gains. 2006. http://www.freedomhouse.org.

Putnam, Robert D. Bowling Alone: The Collapse and Revival of American Community. New York: Simon and Schuster, 2000.

Rainsborough, Thomas. "The Putney Debates: The Debate on the Franchise (1674)." In *Divine Right and Democracy*, by David Wootton, 285-317. Harmondsworth, GB: Penguin Books, 1986.

Rawls, John. Political Liberalism. New York: Columbia University Press, 1993.

Riger, Stephanie. "Challenges of Success: Stages of Growth in Feminist Organizations." *Feminist Studies* 20 (1994): 275-300.

Ray, Angela. *The Lyceum and Public Culture in the Nineteenth-Century United States*. East Lansing, MI: Michigan State University Press, 2005.

Rieser, Andrew C. The Chautauqua Movement. New York: Columbia University Press, 2003.

Riker, William H. Liberalism Against Populism: A Confrontation Between the Theory of Democracy and the Theory of Social Choice. San Francisco: W. H. Freeman and Company, 1982.

Riker, William H., and Peter C. Ordershook. "A Theory of the Calculus of Voting." *American Political Science Review* 62 (1968): 25-43.

Rosenberg, Shawn W "Rethinking democratic deliberation: The limits and potential of citizen participation." *Polity 39* (2007).

Rousseau, Jean-Jacques. Emile. Translated by Barbara Foxley. London: J. M. Dent, 1993.

—. "The Social Contract." In *Basic Political Writings*, by Jean-Jacques Rousseau, translated by Donald Cress, 141-203. Indianapolis: Hackett Publishing, 1987.

Rowe, Gene and Lynn J. Frewer, "A Typology of Public Engagement Mechanisms", Science Technology & Human Values 20 (2005): 251-290.

Ryfe, David M. "Does Deliberative Democracy Work?", *Annual Review of Political Science* 8 (2005), 49-71.

Ryan, Alan. John Dewey and the High Tide of American Liberalism. New York: Norton, 1995.

Sanders, Elizabeth. "On the Costs, Utlities, and Simple Joys of Voting." *Journal of Politics* 42 (1980): 854-863.

Sanders, Lynn. "Against Deliberation." *Political Theory* 25 (1997): 347-367.

Savage, Daniel M. *John Dewey's Liberalism: Individual, Community, and Self-Development.* Carbondale, IL: Southern Illinois University Press, 2002.

Saward, Michael. "Authorisation and Authenticity: Representation and the Unelected". *The Journal of Political Philosophy* 17, No. 1 (2009), 1-22.

Saxe, D.W. "Framing a Theory for Social Studies Foundations." *Review of Educational Research* 62 (1992): 259-277.

Scanlon, T. M. "Contractualism and Utilitarianism." In *Utilitarianism and Beyond*, by Amartya Sen and Bernard Williams, 103-128. Cambridge, UK: Cambridge University Press, 1982.

Schauer, Frederick. "Free Speech and the Argument From Democracy." In *Nomos XXV: Liberal Democracy*, by J. Roland Pennock and John W. Chapman, 241-257. New York: New York University Press, 1983.

Schram, Arthur J. H. C. Voter Behaviour in Economic Perspective. Berlin: Springer-Verlag, 1991.

Schumpeter, Joseph A. Capitalism, Socialism, and Democracy. New York: Harper and Brothers, 1947.

Schwartz, Thomas. "Your Vote Counts on Account of the Way It is Counted." *Public Choice* 54 (1987): 101-21.

Scott, James C. Domination and the Arts of Resistance: Hidden Transcripts. New Haven: Yale University Press, 1993.

Scorza, Jason A. Strong Liberalism: Habits of Mind for Democratic Citizenship. Medford, Mass.: Tutfs University Press, 2008.

Selnick, Philip. TVA and the Grass Roots. Berkeley: University of California Press, 1949.

Shapiro, Ian. Democracy's Place. Ithica: Cornell University Press, 1996.

—. Democratic Justice. New Haven: Yale University Press, 1999a.

Sheffield, Alfred D. Joining Public Discussion: A Study of Effective Speechmaking for Members of Labor Unions, Conferences, Forums and Other Discussion Groups. New York: H. Doran, 1920.

Shenk, David. Data Smog: Surviving the Information Glut. New York: HarperOne, 1997.

Shklar, Judith. "An Education for America: Tocqueville, Hawthrone, Emerson." In *Redeeming American Political Thought*, by Dennis Thompson and Stanley Hoffmann, 65-79. Chicago: University of Chicago Press, 1998.

Singer, Peter. Democracy and Disobedience. Oxford: Oxford University Press, 1974.

Sleeper, Ralph. "John Dewey and the Metaphysics of American Democracy." In *John Dewey: Political Theory and Social Practice*, by J. E. Tiles, 22-46. London: Taylor & Francis, 1992.

Smith, Daniel A., and Caroline J. Tolbert. "The Initiative to Party: Partisanship and Ballot Initiatives in California." *Party Politics* 7 (2001): 739-757.

Smith, Stacy. "Education for Judgment: An Arendtian Oxymoron?" In *Hannah Arendt and Education: Renewing our Common World*, by Mordechai Gordon, 67-93. Boulder, CA: Westview Press, 2001.

Sniderman, Paul M., Richard A. Brody, and James A. Kuklinski. "Policy Reasoning and Political Values: The Problem of Racial Equality." *American Journal of Political Science* 28 (1984): 75-94.

Strodtbeck, Fred. L., Rita M. James and Charles Hawkins, "Social Status in Jury Deliberations", *American Sociological Review* 22 (1957): 713-719.

Studebaker, John. The American Way. New York: McGraw-Hill, 1935.

Studebaker, John W., and Chester S. Williams. *Choosing Our Way*. United States Department of the Interior: Office of Education Bulletin, Misc. No. 1, 1937.

Sunstein, Cass. "Beyond the Republican Revival." Yale Law Journal 97 (1988): 1539-90.

Sunshine, Jason and Tom R. Tyler. "The Role of Procedural Justice and Legitimacy in Shaping Public Support for Policing", *Law & Society Review* 37 (2003): 513-548.

Talisse, Robert B. Democracy After Liberalism. New York: Routledge, 2005.

Tanner, Laurel N. *Dewey's Laboratory School: Lessons For Today*. New York: Teachers College Press, 1997.

Tate, Pamela. "Empowerment Through Experiential Learning", in Mulligan, John and Colin Griffin, eds. Empowerment Through Experiential Learning: Explorations of Good Practice. London: Kogan Page, 1992.

Taylor, Charles. "What's Wrong With Negative Liberty." In *Liberty*, by David Miller. Oxford: Oxford University Press, 1991.

Tesh, Sylvia N. (1993) "New Social Movements and New Ideas", presented at the American Political Science Association Conference, Washington, DC, 2-5 September.

The New Republic. April 13, 1915.

Thonssen, Lester. "The Social Values of Discussion and Debate." *Quarterly Journal of Speech* 25 (1939): 113-117.

Tiles, John E. Dewey. London: Routledge, 1988.

Tillman, Nathaniel P. *The Statewide Forum Project: An Experiment in Civic Education Among Negroes in Georgia*. Atlanta: National Youth Administration of Georgia, Negro Affairs, 1939. Truman, D. B. *The Governmental Process*. New York: Alfred Knopf, 1951.

Tilly, Charles, Social Movements, 1768-2004. Paradigm Publishers: London, 2004

Tully, Richard. *A Discourse on Property: John Locke and his Adversaries*. Cambridge, UK: Cambridge University Press, 1980.

Uhr, John. Deliberative Democracy in Australia. Melbourne: Cambridge University Press, 1998.

Utterback, William E. *Group Thinking and Conference Leadership: Techniques of Discussion.* New York: Rinehart & Co., 1941.

Verba, Sidney, Kay Lehman Schlozman, & Henry Brady. *Voice and Equality: Civic Voluntarism in American Politics*. Cambridge, MA: Harvard University Press, 1995.

Waldron, Michael. "Mill and the Value of Moral Distress." *Political Studies* 35 (1987): 410–23.

Waring, Scott M. "Teaching Democracy to Digital Natives." In *The Electronic Republic? The Impact of Technology on Education for Citizenship*, by Phillip J. Van Fossen and Michael J. Berson, 161-172. West Lafayette, Indiana: Purdue University Press, 2008.

Westheimer, J. and J. Kahne. "Educating the 'Good' Citizen: Political Choices and Pedagogical Goals", *Political Science and Politics* 38 (2004).

Williams, Melissa S. Voice, Trust, and Memory: Marginalized Groups and the Failings of Liberal Representations. Princeton, NJ: Princeton University Press, 1995.

Wintour, Patrick. "Hoon calls for compulsory voting." The Guardian, July 4, 2005.

Wong, David. "Coping With Moral Conflict and Ambiguity." Ethics 102 (1992): 763-784.

Wood, Ellen Meiksens. "Locke Against Democracy: Consent, Representation and Suffrage in the Two Treatises." *History of Political Thought* 13, no. 4 (1992): 657-689.

Wolfinger, Raymond E., and Steven J. Rosentone. *Who Votes?* . New Haven: Yake University Press, 1980.

Wuthnow, Robert. Acts of Compassion: Caring For Others and Helping Ourselves. Princeton, NJ: Princeton University Press, 1991.

Yankelovich, Daniel. Coming To Public Judgment: Making Democracy Work in a Complex World. Syracuse: Syracuse University Press, 1991.

Yates, Miranda and James Youniss. "Community Service and Political Identity Development in Adolescence", *Journal of Social Issues* 54 (1998): 495-512.

Young, Iris Marion. *Justice and the Politics of Difference*. Princeton: Princeton University Press, 1991.

—."Justice, Inclusion, and Deliberative Democracy." In *Deliberative Politics: Essays on Democracy and Disagreement*, by Stephen Macedo, 151-159. Oxford: Oxford University Press, 1999.

—."Activist Challenges to Deliberation." *Political Theory* 29 (2001): 670-690.

Zhao, Yali , and John D. Hoge. "What Elementary Students Know and Say about Social Studies." *The Social Studies* 96 (2005): 216-221.

Zivi, Karen. "Cultivating Character: John Stuart Mill and the Subject of Rights." *American Journal of Political Science* 50 (2006): 49-61.

Zuckerman, Michael. *Peaceable Kingdoms: New England Towns in the Eighteenth Century.* New York: Alfred A. Knopf, 1970.

Zukin, Cliff, Scott Keeter, Molly Andolina, Krista Jenkins, and Michael X. Delli Carpini. *A New Engagement? Political Participation, Civic Life, and the Changing American Citizen*. Oxford: Oxford University Press, 2006.

Zyngier, David. "Education, Democracy and Social Justice: The Australian Experience – Doing Thick Democracy in the Classroom" in Learning Democracy by Doing: Alternative Practices in Citizenship Learning and Participatory Democracy, Katherine Daly, Daniel Schugurensky, Krista Lopes, eds. Transformative Learning Centre, University of Toronto Press, 2009.